TAKING 2015 PRECAUTIONS PROPERTY & Fire Safety Report Annual Security & Fire Safety Report for the Knoxville Campus





TABLE OF CONTENTS

MESSAGE FROM CHIEF OF POLICE TROY LANE	1
UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE POLICE DEPARTMENT OVERVIEW	1
Mission Statement	
Contact Information	
Officers and Training	
Accreditation	
Authority, Jurisdiction, and Working Relationships with State and	
Local Law Enforcement Agencies	3
Local baw Enforcement rigencies	
REPORTING A CRIME, EMERGENCY OR SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY	5
Emergencies	
Non-Emergencies	
University of Tennessee Mobile App with Rave Guardian	
Confidentiality	
Pastoral and Professional Counselors	
Reporting Sexual Misconduct and Relationship Violence	
Retaliation	
TCMING I	
TIMELY WARNINGS (SAFETY NOTICES)	10
EMERGENCY RESPONSE AND EVACUATION PROCEDURES	11
Emergency Response	11
Evacuation	
How to Report an Emergency	13
Emergency Notification System	
Confirming the Existence of a Significant Emergency or	
Dangerous Situation	13
UTAlert	
Determining the Appropriate Segment(s) of the Campus	
Initiating the Emergency Notification System and Determining	
the Contents of an Emergency Notification	15
Emergency Notification Methods	
0)	
MISSING STUDENT NOTIFICATION PROCEDURES	18
How to Report a Missing Student	18
Identification of Emergency Contacts	
Investigation of a Missing Student Report	
SEXUAL MISCONDUCT AND RELATIONSHIP VIOLENCE	20
SECURITY AND ACCESS TO CAMPUS FACILITIES	20
Security Cameras	
Panic Alarms	
Security Analyses	

Residence Halls	20
Sorority and Fraternity Housing	22
Other University Facilities	
SECURITY CONSIDERATIONS USED IN THE MAINTENANCE OF	
CAMPUS FACILITIES	23
EVENING AND SPECIAL TRANSPORTATION	23
CRIME PREVENTION AND SECURITY AWARENESS PROGRAMS	
UTPD	
Center for Health Education and Wellness	
University Housing	28
Programs to Prevent Dating Violence, Domestic Violence,	
Sexual Assault, and Stalking	28
ALCOMOL AND WARGAL DRIVES	
ALCOHOL AND ILLEGAL DRUGS	
Drug Free Campus and Workplace Policy	
Alcohol	
Illegal Drugs	
Standards of Conduct for Students	
Code of Conduct for Employees	
Drug and Alcohol Abuse Prevention Health Risks	
Health Risks	33
WEAPONS	34
Tennessee Criminal Law	
University Policies	
- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	_
TENNESSEE SEX OFFENDER REGISTRY	34
DISCLOSURE TO VICTIMS OF CRIMES OF VIOLENCE OR	
NON-FORCIBLE SEX OFFENSES	35
THE ANNUAL DISCLOSURE OF CRIME STATISTICS	35
DEFINITIONS OF TERMS USED IN THIS REPORT	36
ANIALI FIDE CAFETY DEDODT	40
ANNUAL FIRE SAFETY REPORT	
Fire Log and Reporting Non-Emergency Fires	
Fire Statistics	
Fire Safety Systems	
Policies and Rules for Appliances, Smoking and Open Flames Smoking	
Open FlamesPortable Electric Appliances	
1 of table Electric Appharices	41

False Rep	orts and Interference with Fire Safety Systems	41
Evacuatio	n Procedures for Student Housing in Case of a Fire	42
Procedure	es that Students and Staff Should Follow in Case of a Fire	42
Evacuatio	n and Fire Drill Procedures for Individuals with Disabilities	43
Fire Safety	y Education and Training Programs for Students and Staff	44
	Future Improvement in Fire Safety	
	rority Village	
	aternity Housing	
	sidence Halls	
UNIVERSITY O	F TENNESSEE, KNOXVILLE NON-DISCRIMINATION EEO/AA	
		46
0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		
APPENDIX A:	CRIME STATISTICS	47
APPENDIX B:	FIRES IN ON-CAMPUS STUDENT HOUSING FACILITIES	54
APPENDIX C:	FIRE SAFETY SYSTEMS IN ON-CAMPUS STUDENT	
	HOUSING FACILITIES	60
APPENDIX D:	CRIME PREVENTION AND SECURITY AWARENESS	
	PROGRAMS CONDUCTED BY UNIVERSITY HOUSING IN	I 2013 65
APPENDIX E:	RESOURCES	110
APPENDIX F:	POLICY ON SEXUAL MISCONDUCT, RELATIONSHIP	
	VIOLENCE, AND STALKING	111

ANNUAL SECURITY REPORT

MESSAGE FROM CHIEF OF POLICE TROY LANE

On behalf of the University of Tennessee Police Department, welcome to our great university. We hope you will find the information in this report informative and helpful and that your experience will be safe and rewarding. While we enjoy one of the lowest crime rates amongst major universities, no campus is immune to crime. Though it is our department's mission to minimize crime and the opportunity for it to occur, safety is a shared responsibility. We ask you to be an active member in your personal safety and that of the community, which begins by considering the following:

- Report crime and situations that seem suspicious to our department immediately.
- Don't leave property unattended/unsecured. Theft is the most common crime reported, and unattended items are an easy target.
- Always lock your residence & car. Don't leave valuables, including electronics units visible.
- Avoid walking alone at night.

University of Tennessee Police Department Overview

The University of Tennessee Police Department (UTPD) provides basic police services to the campus of Tennessee's largest university, the University of Tennessee, Knoxville. UTPD's main objective is to provide a safe campus for students, staff, faculty, and visitors. UTPD officers perform a variety of tasks that include investigation of criminal activity, apprehension of criminals, accident and fire response, traffic enforcement, and security for special events. Through its Community Relations Unit (CRU), UTPD offers services such as property engraving and educational programs to increase the safety of members of the UT community and their belongings. The CRU also offers campus safety statistical information, as well as posters, brochures, and seminars on a variety of safety topics.

UTPD reports to the Senior Associate Vice Chancellor for Finance and Administration, 523 Andy Holt Tower, Knoxville, TN 37996, 865-974-3061.

Mission Statement

The mission of the University of Tennessee Police Department is to provide professional police services, while working with faculty, staff and students to reduce criminal opportunity and community anxiety. Our department is committed to treating all people fairly while supporting an environment where diverse social, cultural, and academic values are allowed to develop. We embrace the core values of professionalism, respect, integrity, dedication, and excellence.

Contact Information

UTPD may be contacted at:

UT Police Department 1101 Cumberland Ave. Knoxville, TN 37996

E-mail: **utpolice@utk.edu**Telephone: **865-974-3111**

Emergency: 911

UTPD maintains a website and two social media accounts, which provide safety and security information to the University community:

Website: utpolice.utk.edu
Facebook: facebook.com/utkpd
twitter: twitter.com/utpolice

Officers and Training

UTPD employs 53 state certified police officers on the Knoxville campus. Police Officers receive 420 hours of basic police training through a Tennessee Peace Officer Standards and Training-certified (POST) training academy, within their first six months of employment. Upon completion of the basic academy, officers are assigned to field training officers and must complete 320 hours of additional field training.

UTPD officers complete a minimum of 80 hours of in-service training each year. Additional training may include such topics as:

Cultural DiversityOfficer Stress TrainingLegal UpdatesRacial ProfilingFire SafetyRape CrisisCrime PreventionInvestigationsBasic First Aid

Crime Scene Protection Firearms Aerosol Control Options Evidence Handling Crisis Intervention Training Active Shooter Response

Mental Health Drug Recognition Expert Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (CPR)

Child Abuse Forensic Anthropology

UTPD operations also are supported by:

- non-sworn officers, called Community Service Officers (CSOs), who serve as additional patrol units; perform vehicle unlocks and vehicle boosts for students, faculty and staff; and assist with traffic control, building unlocks, and other duties as assigned;
- a supplemental staff of non-sworn officers, called Campus Protection Specialists (CSPs), who serve as additional protection during special events (for example, sporting events, construction areas, concerts, etc.);
- a Central Alarm/Communications Division, which is staffed by trained and certified dispatchers who answer calls for service, dispatch officers and other emergency services to incidents, and monitor security cameras, intrusion, fire and environmental alarms; and
 - non-commissioned administrative staff managing areas in records, payroll, accounting, accreditation and Clery compliance.

Accreditation

In August 2009, UTPD earned Advanced Law Enforcement Accreditation from the Commission on Accreditation for Law Enforcement Agencies (CALEA). In July 2012 and again in 2015, UTPD

was awarded re-accreditation through CALEA. Representatives from CALEA assessed UTPD's policies, procedures, management, operations, and support services. They specifically examined the department's ability to prevent and respond to crime, deliver services, build a rapport with the campus community, cooperate with other law enforcement agencies, and continue in its efforts to improve its practices and procedures. As of August 2015, UTPD is one of two university police agencies in the state to hold national accreditation.

CALEA accreditation means that UTPD has met national and international standards for law enforcement policies and procedures. These policies strengthen the department's level of accountability to the community. The accreditation promotes best practices for administrative decision-making. To be accredited, UTPD successfully demonstrated the following:

- A comprehensive set of formal goals and directives;
- A solid structure for providing information and analysis to the chief of police and the management team;
- An emergency preparedness program in place;
- Developing or improving the agency's relations with the community;
- Adherence to stringent standards that promote strong lines of accountability, both within the agency and with the community, and reduce liability and risk exposure to the agency; and
- Facilitation of the agency's pursuit of professional excellence.

On January 13, 2010, UTPD received accreditation through the International Association of Campus Law Enforcement Administrators (IACLEA). UTPD was the first agency in the state to be dually accredited through IACLEA and CALEA, which is a testament to UTPD's commitment to excellence and professionalism.

Authority, Jurisdiction, and Working Relationships with State and Local Law Enforcement Agencies

UTPD's state certified officers are duly commissioned by the State of Tennessee. As such, UTPD officers have full police powers in the City of Knoxville, Knox County, and on any other property contiguous to property of the University of Tennessee, Knoxville. As duly commissioned officers, UTPD carry service weapons and have arrest authority. In general, each UTPD officer shall, in all cases, use only the minimum amount of force that is consistent with the accomplishment of his/her mission, and shall exhaust every other reasonable means of apprehension of defense before considering the use of a firearm.

CSOs and CSPs are not commissioned by the State of Tennessee, do not carry service weapons, and do not have arrest authority.

UTPD patrols the University campus and its surrounding areas 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. These patrols include vehicle patrols, as well as motorcycle, bicycle, and foot patrols when weather permits or need arises. UTPD patrols also include frequent building and facility checks for suspicious activity or those in need of assistance. UTPD also provides security for athletic events and other functions hosted in campus facilities.

UTPD is computer linked to city, state and federal criminal justice agencies, which provide access to information concerning criminal records, wanted persons, stolen property, and vehicles. All crimes reported to UTPD are investigated and, when appropriate, are referred for prosecution through the District Attorney General. Criminal matters involving university students may also be referred to the appropriate university administrative office (e.g., Office of Student Conduct and Community Standards) for disciplinary action.

UTPD maintains a close working relationship with the Knoxville Police Department (KPD). A written agreement between UTPD and KPD regarding the exercise of jurisdiction has been adopted. UTPD and KPD officers communicate regularly at the scene of incidents that occur in and around the campus area. UTPD investigators work closely with KPD investigators when incidents arise that require joint investigative efforts, resources, crime related reports, and exchanges of information. KPD has primary investigative responsibility when the following crimes occur on university property:

- Violations of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization Act of 1989,
 T.C.A. §§ 39-12-201, et seq.;
- Aggravated assault and vehicular assault, as defined in T.C.A. §§ 39-13-102 and -106;
- Criminal homicide, first-degree murder, second-degree murder, voluntary manslaughter, criminally negligent homicide, vehicular homicide, and viable fetus as victim, as defined in T.C.A. §§ 39-13-201, -202, -210, -211, -212, -213, and -214;
- Kidnapping, aggravated kidnapping, and especially aggravated kidnapping, as defined in T.C.A. §§ 39-13-303, -304, and -305;
- Aggravated robbery and especially aggravated robbery, as defined in T.C.A. §§ 39-13-402 and -403;
- Aggravated rape, rape, aggravated sexual battery, sexual battery, statutory rape, and limited spousal exclusion, as defined in T.C.A. §§ 39-13-501 through -507.
 However, T.C.A. § 49-7-129 requires that higher education law enforcement agencies lead rape investigations;
- Arson, aggravated arson, and related crimes, as defined in T.C.A. §§ 39-14-301 through -306; and
- Especially aggravated burglary, as defined in T.C.A. § 39-14-404.

Serious crimes and other incidents that are deemed by UTPD to be of interest to state and/or local agencies are reported to those agencies. All crimes that occur on campus are reported by UTPD on a monthly basis to the Tennessee Bureau of Investigation (TBI) and to the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) headquarters for publication in the annual *Uniform Crime Report*.

UTPD also maintains working relationships with the Knox County Sheriff's Office, TBI, and the FBI. However, UTPD does not have a written agreement with those law enforcement agencies.

The Clery Act requires the university to include in this report a statement of policy concerning the monitoring and recording through local police agencies of criminal activity in which students engaged at off-campus locations of student organizations officially recognized by the institution, including student organizations with off-campus housing facilities. The University does not officially recognize student organizations; rather, the University only registers student

organizations. With respect to criminal activity in which students engage at off-campus locations of registered student organizations, UTPD officers can and do assist with responding to and investigating student-related incidents that occur in close proximity to campus, consistent with UTPD's written agreement with KPD. If KPD or the Knox County Sheriff's Office is contacted about criminal activity occurring off campus involving University students, KPD or the Knox County Sheriff's Office may notify UTPD. However, there is no official KPD or the Knox County Sheriff's Office policy requiring such notification. Students in those cases may be subject to arrest and university discipline.

REPORTING A CRIME, EMERGENCY, OR SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY

UTPD strongly encourages students, employees, and visitors to promptly and accurately report criminal incidents, suspicious activity, and other public safety related emergencies and incidents to UTPD, another appropriate law enforcement agency, or to designated university officials. This includes situations in which the victim of such crime either elects or is unable to report an incident. Promptly reporting criminal incidents, suspicious activity, and other emergencies and incidents to UTPD or other designated university officials assists the university in issuing UTAlerts or Safety Notices, as required by the Clery Act, and including the incident in the university's annual crime statistics.

UTPD cannot overemphasize the importance of prompt and accurate reporting of criminal incidents. If a criminal incident is not reported promptly, evidence can be destroyed and/or the potential to apprehend a suspect can be lost. Without accurate reports, leads could be missed and the investigation could proceed in the wrong direction. If you witness a crime, promptly report it to UTPD and be prepared to answer questions as accurately as you can. The subsequent investigation can only be as thorough as the information received. If you are the victim of a crime, or you have seen or received information of criminal activity, please contact UTPD immediately.

Emergencies

Call 911 to report criminal incidents, suspicious activity, or other incidents that are emergencies, whether on campus or off campus. The University operates a telephone system that provides expanded emergency service to the University community. All 911 calls placed on campus telephones are routed to the Knoxville E911 emergency center. The call is dispatched to UTPD and/or the City of Knoxville Police Department for response. On campus emergency calls may be placed directly to 911 or to UTPD (4-3111 from a campus phone or 865-974-3111 from an off campus phone or cell phone).

Blue light emergency telephones are located across campus and the 16th Street corridor in the Fort Sanders neighborhood. A map indicating a location of the emergency blue phones is published each year by the university's **Parking and Transit Services** (http://parking.utk.edu) department. Calls placed from blue light emergency telephones transmit directly into the E911 Communications center on an emergency line. The emergency line is high priority and dispatchers will answer immediately. The E911 Dispatcher will transfer or contact a UTPD Central Alarm Officer via radio or phone and relay the location and brief summary of incident for response. The location of the blue light emergency telephone from which the call has been placed is made available to the E911 Dispatcher when the call comes in. The UTPD Central Alarm officer will dispatch an officer(s) to the location of the blue light emergency telephone.

Bluephones located in high traffic areas are equipped with 24/7 communication with the University's current contract transportation provider. "The T" transit system provides University students, staff, faculty, and visitors a convenient and efficient campus wide transportation service. Service is fare-free for all passengers.

All campus elevators have emergency phones that transmit to the UTPD Central Alarm designated phone. A UTPD Central Alarm officer answering that designated phone will have the phone number, building name, and elevator number (depending on the building) available through the caller ID system. A UTPD officer will always be dispatched unless the person states that the button was pushed by accident and there is no reason to indicate there is a problem. The Knoxville Fire Department (KFD) will be dispatched to open the elevator when the repair service response time will exceed what the UTPD Central Alarm officer determines is a reasonable amount of time. If the elevator service company or facility services are unable to give an estimated time of arrival to the UTPD Central Alarm officer, he/she will wait five minutes and make contact again. KFD will be dispatched if a reasonable response time is not provided on the second contact. Non-emergency calls during working hours require contact with the university's Facilities Services (http://fs.utk.edu) department. After hours, non-emergency calls require contact with on-call elevator technicians from an elevator company.

The Knoxville campus has various departments that utilize panic alarms. The panic alarms provide information directly to UTPD Central Alarm and UTPD officers respond appropriately to the activations.

Non-Emergencies

To report criminal incidents, suspicious activity, or other incidents that are not emergencies, individuals may contact UTPD by:

- Calling 4-3114 (from a campus phone) or 865-974-3114 (from an off campus phone or cell phone) (UTPD operates on a 24-hour basis and a police dispatcher is always available to take information);
- Sending UTPD an e-mail at utpolice@utk.edu; or
- Reporting in person at 1101 Cumberland Avenue, Knoxville, TN.

As an alternative to reporting a criminal incident to UTPD, an individual may report criminal incidents, suspicious activity, or other incidents that are not emergencies to the following university offices:

Dean of Students	865-974-3179	413 Student Services Building
Title IX Coordinator	865-974-2498	1840 Melrose Avenue
Asst. Vice Chancellor for Student Life	865-974-7449	515 Andy Holt Tower
Executive Director, University Housing	865-974-2571	405 Student Services Building

Director, Office of Student Conduct and Community Standards	865-974-3171	409 Student Services Building
Director, Center for Health Education and Wellness	865-974-5725	201E Student Health Center
Sr. Associate Vice Chancellor for Finance and Administration	865-974-3061	405B Andy Holt Tower
Director, Human Resources	865-974-2889	230 UT Conference Center Building
Sr. Associate Athletics Director	865-974-9190	1551 Lake Loudoun Blvd
Director, Ag. Extension	865-974-7245	212D Morgan Hall
Director, Center for International Education	865-974-2173	1620 Melrose Avenue

To report criminal incidents, suspicious activity, or other incidents that are not emergencies that occur off campus in Knox County, individuals also may contact:

City of Knoxville Police Department (within the City of Knoxville): 800 Howard Baker, Jr. Avenue Knoxville, TN 37915 865-215-4010

Knox County Sheriff (outside the City of Knoxville but within Knox County) 400 Main Street, Suite L165 Knoxville, TN 37902 865-215-2444

To report criminal incidents, suspicious activity, or other incidents that are not emergencies that occur off campus outside of Knox County, individuals also may contact the law enforcement agency that has jurisdiction over the location where the incident occurred. Individuals may contact UTPD for assistance in contacting another jurisdiction's law enforcement agency.

Reports of Clery Act crimes filed through a Campus Security Authority (CSA), as defined by the Clery Act, provided to UTPD will be included in the university's annual crime statistics published in the Annual Security Report. All statistics enclosed in the Annual Security Report are anonymous. CSA reports have the option to include the victim's name or initials for tracking purposes and to ensure the victim is offered the proper services. However, if you wish to remain anonymous, your personal information does not have to be disclosed. CSA reports of sexual

misconduct and relationship violence (as those terms are defined in the university's policy on sexual misconduct, relationship violence, and stalking, a copy of which can be found in **Appendix F**) to UTPD will also be made available to the university's Title IX Coordinator. Reporting a Clery Act crime allows UTPD to keep an accurate record of specific criminal incidents and the ability to alert the campus community of potential danger.

The University of Tennessee Mobile App with Rave Guardian

Improvements to the UT Alert emergency messaging system have provided the campus community with new features to help enhance safety and improve two-way communication with the UT Police Department.

All faculty, staff, and students should download the UT app to receive the Guardian app, which will appear on the main screen. Community members who have already downloaded the app and are current on updates should be able to see the Guardian app on the first screen.

Users will be prompted to set up their Guardian account and create a safety profile. Faculty, staff, and students must use their UT email address to access the UT-specific interactive features.

Features in the Guardian app include:

Send UTPD a Tip: Users may send an anonymous tip to UTPD from the red "Emergency" button on the Guardian app's first screen and then the green "Send a Tip" button on the next screen. A text message screen and keyboard will appear to allow the user to type an anonymous message and send photos. UTPD will respond promptly to the message through the app. It is not necessary to identify yourself in order to share a tip or message.

Call for Immediate Help: Faculty, staff, and students can request immediate assistance by tapping the red "Emergency" button on the bottom of the Guardian app's first screen.

The top "Call" button places an emergency call to UTPD, which will send help anywhere on campus. The bottom red "911" button will call the closest 911 center.

Users must enable location when creating their safety profile so the full emergency call features are available. Users are also strongly encouraged to add any information about special needs and medical conditions to their profile to make it available to police and medical responders in the event of a serious emergency.

New Feature Helps Vols Look Out for Each Other: Users can set a safety timer to create a connection when traveling between destinations or to unfamiliar settings. By choosing from a network of "guardians," a close friend or nearby family member can be notified when the user does not check in within a set amount of time. UTPD may also be selected as a guardian for when you are on campus.

Add a Mobile Number for UT Alert Text Messages: To receive information that UTPD sends directly to faculty, staff and students by text message during a serious emergency, users should add a mobile number to their UT Alert account. Users will need a NetID and password.

UT Alert messages are sent only during serious emergencies when situations require people to act immediately or to be aware of an imminent threat to their safety. The system is also utilized to alert the campus community about severe weather, campus operating delays and closures or problems with facilities and grounds affecting a large number of people.

Rave Guardian is available for download from the Apple or Android App Store.

Confidentiality

UTPD encourages anyone who is the victim of or witness to any crime to promptly report the incident to UTPD or another law enforcement agency. However, UTPD cannot ensure that a report will remain confidential because police reports relating to closed cases generally are subject to inspection by any citizen of Tennessee under the Tennessee Public Records Act.

The University's annual crime statistics do not include any personally identifiable information relating to a victim, suspect, or witness.

The university's policy on sexual misconduct, relationship violence and stalking, a copy of which can be found in Appendix F, provides information on the University's policy for handling a situation in which a person reports an incident of sexual misconduct or relationship violence to the University but wishes to maintain confidentiality or requests that no investigation into a particular incident be conducted or disciplinary action taken. That policy also provides information on confidential resources that serve as alternatives to reporting an incident of sexual misconduct (e.g., sexual assault) or relationship violence (e.g., domestic violence, dating violence, stalking) to the University.

For victims of sexual assault, there are steps to preserve evidence and maintain anonymity. A victim of a sexual assault may go to a local hospital or the Sexual Assault Center of East Tennessee and request a forensic sexual assault examination. If the victim chooses not to report the incident to law enforcement at the time of the medical examination, the medical provider will provide the examination materials to local law enforcement with a unique identifying number that will also be provided to the victim. The law enforcement agency with jurisdiction will store the examination materials for up to three (3) years. If in that time the victim decides to make a police report, they may report to the law enforcement agency with jurisdiction and refer to the unique identifying number so that the examination materials may be matched up with the victim's law enforcement report for evidentiary purposes. Once a police report has been filed, the incident can no longer be anonymous.

Pastoral and Professional Counselors

In accordance with the Clery Act, professional counselors are not considered campus security authorities (i.e., they are not obligated to report crimes to UTPD). The term "professional

counselor" means a University employee whose official responsibilities include providing mental health counseling to members of the University's community and who is functioning within the scope of his/her license or certification. The University does not have procedures for encouraging professional counselors, if and when they deem appropriate, to notify persons whom they are counseling of the voluntary, anonymous reporting options to ensure that an incident is included in the University's annual disclosure of crime statistics.

The University does not employ pastoral counselors. Pastoral counselors not employed by the university are not obligated to report crimes to UTPD. In addition, the university does not have procedures that encourage pastoral counselors to inform persons they are counseling of the University's procedures to report crimes on a voluntary, anonymous basis for inclusion in the University's annual disclosure of crime statistics.

Reporting Sexual Misconduct and Relationship Violence

Additional information concerning options for reporting sexual misconduct (e.g., sexual assault) and relationship violence (e.g., domestic violence, dating violence, stalking) can be found in the university's policy on sexual misconduct, relationship violence, and stalking, a copy of which can be found in **Appendix F**. The policy also provides information on confidential resources that are alternatives to reporting an incident to the University.

Retaliation

No University officer, employee, or agent shall retaliate, intimidate, threaten, coerce, seek retribution, or otherwise discriminate against any person for exercising their rights or responsibilities under any provision of the Clery Act. The university's policy on sexual misconduct, relationship violence and stalking, prohibits retaliation relating to the opposition to, reporting of, or participation in a University investigation, hearing, proceeding, or other measure relating to sexual misconduct or relationship violence. **University of Tennessee Human Resources Policy HR0580** (http://policy.tennessee.edu/hr_policy/hr0580/) protects employees from retaliatory discharge if in good faith they report or attempt to report illegal activities.

TIMELY WARNINGS (SAFETY NOTICES)

A timely warning, in the form of Safety Notice, will be disseminated utilizing method(s) likely to reach members of the affected campus community when the reported incident is a Clery Act crime which: (1) is reported in good faith to UTPD directly or reported to UTPD indirectly through a university campus security authority or a local law enforcement authority; (2) occurs on the university's Clery geography (i.e., on campus, in or on a non-campus building or property in use or controlled by the university, or on public property immediately adjacent to the university); and (3) is a serious or continuing threat to University students and employees, or their property.

A Safety Notice will be issued in a manner which: (1) is timely (i.e., as soon as the pertinent information is available); (2) does not disclose the name or other identifying information about the victim, as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 13925(a)(20); and (3) will aid in the prevention of similar crimes. A Safety Notice will contain sufficient information about the incident to enable persons to protect themselves or their property and aid in the prevention of similar crimes. Such information generally will include: (1) a brief description of the incident; (2) the general location,

date, and time of the incident; (3) a description of the suspect, if a sufficient amount of detail is known about the suspect, which may include a composite drawing or photograph of the suspect; (4) a description of injuries or the use of force, if relevant; (5) a description of the incident's possible connection to other incidents; (6) suggested measures that university students and employees can take to help protect themselves or their property; and (7) contact information for UTPD and other instructions for the campus community. Safety Notices will not include information that, in the judgment of the Chief of UTPD or his/her designee, would compromise law enforcement efforts.

The decision whether to issue a Safety Notice is made by the Chief of UTPD or his/her designee on a case-by-case basis in light of all of the facts known concerning the crime, such as the nature of the crime and whether university students and employees are at risk of becoming victims of a similar crime. The apprehension of the alleged perpetrator typically removes the risk to university students and employees. UTPD typically does not issue a Safety Notice for an incident for which a report was filed with UTPD more than five days after the alleged incident.

The Clery Act does not require the university to issue a Safety Notice for: (1) a Clery Act crime that occurs outside of the university Clery Geography; or (2) for a crime that is not a Clery Act crime, even if that crime occurs on the university's Clery Geography. However, the Chief of UTPD or his/her designee may, in his/her discretion, issue a Safety Notice for a crime for which the Clery Act does not require the university to issue a Safety Notice.

Safety Notices typically are written by the Chief of Police or his/her designee and sent to the Office of Communications and Marketing for approval and distribution to all UTK netid accounts (e.g., students, faculty, and staff) through the Office of Information Technology. Safety Notices also may be distributed through the university's Clery website http://clery.utk.edu/safety-notices/ and UTPD's social media accounts (e.g., Facebook, www.facebook.com/UTKPD, and Twitter, twitter.com/utpolice). If an incident occurs on property owned or controlled by the university, a Safety Notice may be distributed through a flyer on buildings adjacent to the incident area, to individuals located in the incident area, or to the entire campus community.

If there is an immediate threat to the health or safety of students or employees occurring on campus, the University will follow its **Emergency Response and Evacuation Procedures**. No Safety Notice based on the same circumstance will be issued. However, follow-up information will be disseminated to the campus community as needed.

EMERGENCY RESPONSE AND EVACUATION PROCEDURES

The Clery Act requires the University to have and disclose the following emergency response and evacuation procedures, which the University will follow in response to a significant emergency or dangerous situation involving an immediate threat to the health or safety of students or employees occurring on the campus.

Emergency Response

The University's Emergency Management Plan (EMP) is updated annually and available on Sharepoint for viewing for anyone with at UT NetID and password at https://tiny.utk.edu/CampusEMP. The EMP provides information on how the University will

prepare and organize to respond to emergencies. The EMP provides detailed guidance on roles and responsibilities for emergency response personnel and guidance for colleges' and departments' continuity and emergency action planning. The EMP is administered by the university's **Office of Emergency Management** following the principles of the National Incident Management System.

The EMP establishes a three year exercise cycle to test and evaluate the EMP and to improve the skills of the university personnel assigned emergency management responsibilities. The training includes an annual exercise that is designed to progress from training and workshops to a table top exercise and culminate in a full scale exercise in the third year. Multiple additional training and exercises are conducted in addition to the campus exercises to include participation with local, state, and federal agencies efforts. A description of exercise activity conducted in 2014 is available at http://utk.edu/go/dk. The descriptions include a description of the exercise activity, the date the test was held, the duration of the test, and whether the test was announced or unannounced.

In addition to making the EMP available on Sharepoint, campus specific information and procedures are also published at http://safety.utk.edu and in an emergency preparedness training module available on Blackboard at https://bblearn.utk.edu/webapps/portal/frameset.jsp. The Office of Emergency Management, UTPD, Environmental Health and Safety, and Office of Communication and Marketing regularly conduct awareness efforts to encourage campus community members to review safety related information. Efforts are heavily emphasized at the beginning of the fall semester for safety day and also during national emergency preparedness week. University buildings are equipped with emergency posters that indicate best shelter locations, assembly areas, and an emergency coordinator point of contact.

UTPD officers and various campus administrators have received training on incident command and responding to critical incidents on campus. The university works in conjunction with a variety of local, state, and federal agencies to respond to any type of incident impacting our campus.

Evacuation

Evacuation drills are conducted regularly in university buildings on a schedule based on the occupancy and functionality of the building. The purpose of the evacuation drill is to prepare building occupants for an organized evacuation in case of fire or other emergency. Drills are used as practice and to familiarize students, faculty, and staff with exit locations and assembly areas and educate them on emergency procedures. Documentation of university building evacuation/fire drills is maintained by Environmental Health and Safety, Student Life and University Housing is maintained in accordance with the procedure (GS 43) for Records Retention for Safety, Health and Environmental Protection procedure, which can be found in the Safety Manual (http://web.utk.edu/~ehss/safety%20manual/smanualaph2kj.html). Key performance measures are established, evaluated, and feedback is provided to the building occupants. A record of drills conducted in 2014 is available upon request from Environmental Health and Safety.

The university maintains a plan for a campus-wide evacuation, which includes multiple methods of transporting the campus population, depending on the nature of the emergency, to a safe off campus location. Directions will be provided via the campus' emergency notification system. Neyland Stadium gate 21 and staff lot 25 across from the Allen Jones Intercollegiate Aquatics Center have been

designated as evacuation bus stop locations for the campus transit system.

Sheltering inside a building is often the safest action depending on the emergency, such as tornado, hazardous materials release, or active shooter. The campus community may be told to seek shelter via a **UTAlert** message at which time they should proceed to the best available shelter in the building they are in. Shelter locations are designated on signage in the building and detailed instructions are available at http://safety.utk.edu. Individuals should know the basic characteristics of good shelter so they can respond properly when informed of an emergency. More information on what to do during an emergency is available at http://safety.utk.edu.

The following is basic shelter guidance:

- If you are inside when directed to seek shelter, find the best available shelter in that building. If you are outdoors, proceed to the closest building as quickly as possible. Continue to monitor campus communications and do not exit unless directed by competent authority.
- For sheltering from severe weather or other threats to the building's integrity, you should seek an interior room as low in the building as possible preferably with no windows.
- For sheltering from hazardous materials release, you also want to shut off ventilation and air handling systems and use available materials to seal windows and doors.
- The reaction to an active shooter event depends on your locations in regard to the threat. Barricading in a room is a form of sheltering and the proper response for most of the campus.

How to Report an Emergency

Students and employees are encouraged to notify UTPD or call 911 of any situation or incident that involves a significant emergency or dangerous situation involving an immediate threat to the health or safety of students or employees occurring on the campus.

Emergency Notification System

The university will immediately notify the campus community upon confirmation of a significant emergency or dangerous situation involving an immediate threat to the health or safety of students or employees occurring on the campus. The university utilizes multiple methods to notify the campus community of emergency situations.

The following information describes the university's emergency notification system.

Confirming the Existence of a Significant Emergency or Dangerous Situation

As stated above, the university will immediately notify the campus community upon confirmation of a significant emergency or dangerous situation involving an immediate threat to the health or safety of students or employees occurring on the campus. Examples of situations in which an emergency notification is likely to be issued include: a building

fire; a hazardous material spill/leak impacting a large area; severe weather related threat; or an active shooter.

As used in this section, "confirmation" generally means that the university has verified that a legitimate emergency or dangerous situation exists involving an immediate threat to the health or safety of students or employees occurring on the campus. The UTPD Shift Supervisor is the primary person who determines whether such a situation exists; however, the Director of Emergency Management, UTPD command staff, the Chancellor, the Vice Chancellor for Finance and Administration, and the Senior Associate Vice Chancellor for Finance and Administration could also make such a determination. In the process of verifying whether such a situation exists, those persons may rely on information received from witnesses, first responders, university departments/units, and entities outside of UTPD with information relevant to the situation including, but not limited to: the Knoxville Police Department; the Knox County Sheriff's Office; the Knoxville Fire Department; the National Weather Service; and personnel from the university's Environmental Health and Safety department. So that there is no undue delay in notification, confirmation does not necessarily mean that all of the pertinent details about the situation are known or even available.

UTAlert

UTAlert is one of the primary methods of notifying the campus community about serious emergencies, ongoing situations or disruptions to normal operations on campus in a timely manner. Students, faculty and staff are automatically loaded in the system for email notification but must provide a mobile number in the user interface to receive text messages from UTAlerts. Students, staff, and faculty can register to receive UTAlerts at http://www.utk.edu/utalert/. Individuals are responsible for updating their contact information periodically to ensure their continued participation in the UTAlert system. Participation in the UTAlert system is not mandatory for text messaging but providing a mobile phone number is strongly encouraged by the university. Individuals are responsible for the cost of any text messaging fees from their mobile service provider incurred as a result of active or test messages received during their participation in the UTAlert system. Signing up for the UTAlert system is not a guarantee of one's personal safety. Individuals may opt-out of the UTAlert text messaging portion of the system at any time. UTAlert email messaging is automatic and cannot be opted out of.

The UTAlert emergency notification method is tested during the spring and fall semesters each year through a published announcement and full activation. Each test includes a sign-up campaign to encourage the campus community to register for text alerts and to download the mobile app. The blue light phones' public address system is tested by activating units monthly on a rotational basis with all units being tested annually.

Information on other methods of emergency notification used by the university can be found later in this section of the report.

Determining the Appropriate Segment(s) of the Campus Community to Receive an Emergency Notification

UTAlert text and e-mail messages will reach subscribers regardless of their actual location when the emergency notification system is activated. However, the university has the capability to send emergency notifications to blue light phones based on geographic area should the emergency or dangerous situation be specific to one area of campus. The campus is divided into zones to assist in determining if notification will be specific to a geographic area of campus. In addition to alerting UTAlert text message subscribers, every member of the campus community with a "utk.edu" e-mail address, can automatically receive any UTAlert message via their utk.edu email. The incident dictates the appropriate area(s) to be notified. For example, a building fire would generally only impact one zone while a severe weather event would potentially impact the entire campus. The UTPD Shift Supervisor generally is the person who determines which segment of the campus community receives an emergency notification.

Initiating the Emergency Notification System and Determining the Contents of an Emergency Notification

UTPD, in the course of responding to an emergency or dangerous situation, typically will gather the necessary information pertinent to share with the campus community about incidents on campus that present an ongoing risk. Upon confirmation of a significant emergency or dangerous situation involving an immediate threat to the health or safety of students or employees occurring on the campus, the UTPD Shift Supervisor is the primary person with the authority to send a UTAlert. A UTAlert may also be sent by the UTPD command staff and the Director of Emergency Management.

The content of UTAlert text and e-mail messages for most potential campus emergencies have been pre-scripted and are ready to be immediately sent. Employees with authority to send a UTAlert also have the ability to amend the content of the message in the event that none of the pre-scripted messages are sufficient or more specific details are appropriate. UTAlert text messages are generally short and very direct due to character limitations. The initial UTAlert message is primarily designed for quick notification of a dangerous situation. The campus community is encouraged to seek additional information after becoming aware of an emergency by monitoring their utk.edu e-mail, the university's Twitter account (https://twitter.com/UTKnoxville), and the utk.edu website. The university's emergency notification system uses various communication methods that vary in delivery speed and more details can be provided in e-mail and on the web.

Emergency Notification Methods

Emergency notifications may be sent using some or all of the following methods, based upon the situation and availability:

NOTIFICATION METHOD	Uses	Types of Warnings	CONTENT ADMINISTRATOR
UT Alert Text (SMS) Message & Email	Campus-wide emergency requiring immediate action	Text messages	UTPD & Office of Emergency Management (OEM)
Code Blue Units & Neyland external speakers	Campus-wide emergency requiring immediate action	PA system	UTPD & OEM
656-SAFE (7233)	Partial or full campus wide action	Pre-recorded message; phone bank	Communications & Marketing
UTPD vehicle PA system	Emergency Information	Voice	UTPD
UT Email	Emergency Information	Email	Communications & Marketing
Power Fail Emergency Phones	Zone specific emergency requiring immediate action	Phone	UTPD, OEM, Telephone Services
UT Emergency Website (Homepage)	Provide additional information	Web-based	Communications & Marketing
Portable L.E.D. Display Boards	Emergency Information	Outdoor	UTPD & Parking Services
WUOT-FM	Issue emergency statements	Radio Station 91.9 FM	College of Communications
NOAA Weather Radio & Wireless Emergency Alerts	National, state, and local hazards	Voice and tone	National Weather Service & TEMA
Social Media	Issue emergency statements	Twitter & Facebook	Communications & Marketing
Local Media	Issue emergency statements	Radio, TV, web & print	Communications & Marketing

The following provides a more detailed summary of the university's various emergency notification methods:

- UTAlert Text (SMS) Message and Email This method can send thousands of text and e-mail messages to staff, faculty, and students.
- Code Blue Units These are units located across the campus that can be activated by UTPD and/or the OEM. The message is preceded by an audible tone and can cover most parts of the campus. Neyland Stadium exterior speakers can be employed in the same fashion.
- 656-SAFE (7233) This designated number serves as the university's official number for pre-recorded emergency information. During critical events it can be activated as a live phone bank to provide information regarding the incident.
- **UTPD Vehicle Public Address Systems -** Each UTPD patrol vehicle has a public address system that can be utilized for emergency announcements.
- **UT Email** The university has the ability to send emergency information without activating the UTAlert system via the university's e-mail exchange to all Knoxville-area students, staff, and faculty with a netid.
- Power Fail Emergency Phones Colleges, EP Zone Coordinators and key leadership have been equipped with analog phones that continue to function when the power is out. These phones can be used to relay UTAlerts or specific emergency messages through the university's emergency notification system.
- UT Emergency Website The University's homepage (http://utk.edu) is a secondary notification system where more detailed information concerning an incident or an emergency may be found. The UTAlert text or e-mail notice may advise faculty, staff, and students to go to the university's homepage to obtain additional information and updates.
- Portable L.E.D. Display Boards Parking and Transit Services maintain several vehicle-towed LE.D. boards that may be utilized to assist during large-scale emergency events.
- **WUOT-FM** The University's College of Communications controls this campus radio station and emergency announcements can be transmitted as needed.
- NOAA Weather Radio and Wireless Emergency Alerts Units receive all hazard information from the Emergency Alert System (EAS) regarding Amber Alerts, severe weather and regional emergencies. The university does not control content and cannot initiate a message using these devices. Several departments on-campus have these units.
- Social Media The Office of Communications and Marketing (Communications and Marketing) will repost UTAlerts to Twitter. Communications and Marketing will also monitor and respond to Twitter and Facebook traffic using the main campus accounts to provide updates, dispel rumors, and share emergency information. UTPD will augment this effort as appropriate using UTPD's social media accounts.
- Local Media Communications and Marketing will use their contacts to all local media to assist in spreading emergency public information.

The notification methods described above are implemented with the understanding that they are best used in combination with each other. The type of emergency or dangerous

situation ultimately drives which methods are used. Notification methods will almost always include SMS text and e-mail.

The university will, without delay, and taking into account the safety of the community, determine the content of the emergency notification (i.e., what information to release about the situation), and initiate the emergency notification system, unless issuing an emergency notification will, in the professional judgment of responsible authorities, compromise efforts to assist a victim or to contain, respond to, or otherwise mitigate an emergency or dangerous situation.

The goal for issuing an emergency notification is to provide accurate information as quickly as possible so that the campus community can take precautions in the case of an emergency or dangerous situation. Not every individual will be reached; thus, the campus community is asked to spread emergency notification information to others.

Information pertaining to an emergency or dangerous situation that exceeds the boundaries of the University of Tennessee's campus typically is provided by the Office of Communication and Marketing to local television and radio media outlets. The Office of Communication and Marketing determines the content of the information that is provided. Such information may also be provided directly by the City of Knoxville.

MISSING STUDENT NOTIFICATION PROCEDURES

This section of the Annual Security Report sets forth the university's missing student notification procedures for students who reside in on-campus student housing facilities. These procedures only apply to students who reside in on-campus residential facilities operated by University Housing or in Greek residential facilities owned and/or controlled by the University of Tennessee, Knoxville. The university does not own property or control either Farm House or the Phi Delta Theta facilities. The university owns the property of Kappa Sigma, but does not own the house or control the facility.

How to Report a Missing Student

Students, employees, or other individuals who want to report that a student who lives in oncampus housing has been missing for 24 hours should contact UTPD at 865-974-3111.

If a university employee believes that a student who lives in on-campus housing has been missing for 24 hours, then that employee must immediately report his/her belief to UTPD, the Executive Director of Housing (or his/her designee), and the Dean of Students (or his/her designee). Those individuals will contact other university officials who have a need to know about the missing student report.

Individuals may report a student missing at any time; there is no requirement for the individual to wait until he/she believes the student has been missing for 24 hours.

Unless there is evidence to the contrary, a student living in on-campus housing should not necessarily be considered missing if the student provided information about his/her intended whereabouts or if the student is absent during recognized university holidays or breaks.

Identification of Emergency Contact(s)

Upon contracting with the university to live in on-campus housing, all students have the opportunity to identify and provide confidential emergency contact information for the university's use when the university or a local law enforcement agency has officially determined that a student is missing. Upon checking into on-campus housing, students are provided with a written reminder of the opportunity to identify and provide confidential emergency contact information for the university's use when the university or a local law enforcement agency has officially determined that a student is missing. Greek Housing residents will receive an electronic emergency notification form to disclose their confidential emergency contact information. Students living in on-campus housing (except for Greek Housing) may add or change confidential emergency contact information visiting the "My UT Housing" portal and clicking on "My Emergency Contacts." Students living in Greek Housing may add or change confidential emergency contact information by contacting the Office of Sorority and Fraternity Life.

Students are advised that emergency contact information will be accessible only to authorized university officials and that emergency contact information will not be disclosed to others except to UTPD or other law enforcement personnel in furtherance of a missing person investigation.

Investigation of a Missing Student Report

UTPD will investigate a report that a student who lives in on-campus housing is believed to be missing. If UTPD officially determines that the student has, in fact, been missing for 24 hours or more, and UTPD is unable to locate the student, UTPD will contact the following individuals within the next 24 hours:

For a Student Who Is:	<u>UTPD Will Contact:</u> **
Under 18 years old and not emancipated	Student's parent or guardian <u>and</u> the student's emergency contact (if the student has requested the university to contact someone in addition to his/her parent or guardian) and the Knoxville Police Department*
Under 18 years old and emancipated	Student's emergency contact and the Knoxville Police Department*
18 years old or older	Student's emergency contact and the Knoxville Police Department****

**UTPD will obtain the emergency contact information from University Housing or other Division of Student Life personnel. If the student has not provided the university with emergency contact information, then, if appropriate, UTPD may contact other law enforcement agencies.

***The determination as to whether a student is emancipated will be based upon the information available and the university official's knowledge at the time the contact is required.

****The Knoxville Police Department will not be notified if the Knoxville Police Department was the entity that made the determination that the student was missing.

SEXUAL MISCONDUCT AND RELATIONSHIP VIOLENCE

Additional information concerning options for reporting sexual misconduct (e.g., sexual assault) and relationship violence (e.g., domestic violence, dating violence, stalking) can be found in the university's policy on sexual misconduct, relationship violence, and stalking. The policy on sexual misconduct, relationship violence, and stalking, also provides information on confidential resources that are alternatives to reporting an incident to the university. A copy of the policy is contained in **Appendix F**. A copy of the policy can also be found at http://sexualassault.utk.edu.

SECURITY AND ACCESS TO CAMPUS FACILITIES

The University of Tennessee system's policies concerning the use of university property and the use of university property for free expression activities, which apply to UTK, can be found on the website of the Tennessee Secretary of State, http://share.tn.gov/sos/rules/1720/1720-01/1720-01.htm. Campus-specific rules relating to security and access to campus facilities are described below.

Security Cameras

The University has hundreds of cameras throughout the campus including all residence halls. The Surveillance Oversight Committee (SOC) is responsible for overseeing the implementation and revisions of operational camera procedures including approval of camera placement. UTPD, in conjunction with the Surveillance Oversight Committee (SOC), is responsible for implementation of this procedure. UTPD has the authority to select, coordinate, operate, manage, and monitor all campus video surveillance equipment pursuant to this procedure. The camera request form is available on the UT Police Department's webpage. All residence halls have camera coverage. Camera coverage in other buildings, garages, or areas are based upon a security assessment.

Panic Alarms

There are numerous panic alarms at various university facilities. These alarms are provided to locations at which monetary transactions are conducted, have a high potential for disturbances or threatening activity, or large numbers of students and/or employees are present. These alarms are transmitted directly to UTPD and UTPD officers respond appropriately. Requests for panic alarms must be submitted for approval through UTPD and Facility Services (request form on UTPD webpage).

Security Analyses

Upon request, certified and trained officers from UTPD's Community Relations Unit will conduct a security analysis of university workplace environments and residence halls, which may include suggestions for creating safer and more secure environments. The Community Relations Unit also provides crime prevention training to university employees who work in high risk areas, such as areas that handle money and/or sales of merchandise.

Residence Halls

The university has eleven residence halls, consisting of two apartment-style residence halls, two community-style residence halls, and seven suite-style residence halls. Community-style residence

halls (Hess, Massey) offer double room accommodations with a common bathroom on each floor. The suite-style residence halls (Clement, North Carrick, South Carrick, Humes, Morrill, Reese, Fred D. Brown) offer accommodations with four persons in two rooms sharing a bath. Seven residence halls (Clement, Hess, Massey, Morrill, Laurel Hall, Fred D. Brown, and Volunteer Hall) provide housing for men and women. Four residence halls (Humes Hall, Reese Hall, North Carrick Hall, and South Carrick Hall) are gender specific. Two halls (Volunteer Hall and Laurel Hall) offer apartment style accommodations featuring a commons area and private bedrooms.

The Department of University Housing manages all residence halls at the University of Tennessee, Knoxville. Each residence hall staff primarily consists of: one full-time, live-in hall director; at least one live-in assistant hall director; and one resident assistant per floor. The university currently employs eleven hall directors, twelve assistant hall directors, and 160 resident assistants.

Each residence hall lobby desk is staffed 24 hours a day by University Housing personnel whenever the residence hall is open, including during university breaks. During periods of visitation, all members of the opposite sex must be escorted by their hosts at all times in nonpublic areas of the residence hall. Residence hall students may have overnight guests of the same sex only if prior arrangements have been made with the roommate(s). The maximum length of any visit is three days and three nights. All guests are governed by university and residence hall regulations, and it is the host's responsibility to make guests aware of those rules. In cases where the guest is in violation of university regulations, disciplinary action may be brought against the host. During the course of their stay, guests may be asked to provide identification.

All maintenance and service personnel are required to sign-in at the lobby desk and to wear identification badges while in the residence hall. Whenever possible, escorts are provided for such personnel. Deliveries may not be made directly to residence hall rooms.

All exterior doors in residence halls, excluding the lobby entrance, are locked to limit entrance to the hall past the 24-hour staffed lobby desk only. During nightly hall walks, all exterior doors are checked to ensure that they are secure. In addition, security cameras have been installed in all of the residence halls, allowing the desk staff to monitor the exterior doors. All residence halls have a security camera system that monitors all exterior doors. Door access card readers have been installed in all halls. In Fred Brown, Clement, Massey, Hess, Reese, Morrill, North Carrick, South Carrick, Laurel, Volunteer, and Humes, the card readers control access from the lobbies to the living areas. Students use their university IDs to gain access to the building or living area.

All residence hall rooms are equipped with smoke detectors approved by Underwriters Laboratory (UL), and all halls have fire alarm systems installed in accordance with the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA). All buildings are wired to sound an alarm in a central monitoring station. All residence halls are equipped with sprinkler heads in each room and common area. Evacuation drills are conducted each term.

All residence hall room doors have deadbolt locks. If a key is lost or misplaced, the room's lock is recoded, and new keys are issued. Residents are urged to keep their doors locked at all times. During periodic inspections, residence hall staff remind students to lock their doors. All windows are equipped with locking devices. Door viewers have been installed in all student room doors.

At the beginning of each semester, floor meetings are held to discuss safety and security issues. Educational programs are presented periodically in the halls to increase residents' awareness of safety and the steps they may take to improve their personal safety. Such program topics include self-defense, operation ID, and sexual assault.

Clement Hall, Laurel Hall, Volunteer Residence Hall are the only campus residences that remain open over university breaks. All other halls are closed. Staff members conduct regular tours and inspections of these halls.

Sorority and Fraternity Housing

The university Greek student organization community is composed of 41 national fraternal organizations. Of those, 28 university Greek organizations are housed on campus—13 in Fraternity Park, 13 in Sorority Village, 1 fraternity on Melrose Avenue and 1 fraternity on Terrace Avenue. The 13 fraternity houses located in Fraternity Park have a combined capacity of 480 beds, the 13 houses in Sorority Village have a capacity of 590 beds. All of the houses offer both single and double rooms, with varying bathroom and shower facilities.

The university's Office of Sorority and Fraternity Life, operating under the Division of Student Life, coordinates the activities of the house corporations that supervise housing in sorority and fraternity houses. All Fraternity Park and Sorority Village housing assignments are made by the individual chapters. Residents must be members of the chapter and enrolled in the university. New housing agreements, and contracting process guidelines are distributed in early March to the president of each chapter.

All areas except individuals' rooms and chapter rooms are considered public areas. Each chapter maintains its own security polices for all non-public areas. All maintenance personnel are admitted to the houses by the president of the chapter or his designee. Maintenance personnel wear identification badges while in the house. Deliveries are made to the individual resident's rooms in Fraternity Park or the chapter facility in Sorority Village.

Each fraternity and sorority has a Housing Corporation that elects a Housing Corporation Spokesperson (HCS). This HCS is an alumni member of the fraternity or sorority and is ultimately responsible for the security of the house. The exterior doors of the houses are secured with a lock device (mostly punch-code locks or swipe card access). In a few cases in Fraternity Park, student room keys will unlock certain exterior doors so that students may gain access to the building at these locations. All houses are equipped with proper fire and safety equipment, and are inspected by the university's Office of Environmental Health and Safety once per semester. Fire evacuation drills are held monthly in fraternity houses and twice a semester in sorority houses. All room doors have key locks. If a key is lost or stolen, new keys are issued by the HCS or his designee. Residents are urged to keep their doors locked at all times. The fraternities and sororities have the option of keeping their houses open during breaks.

Other University Facilities

UTPD conducts random foot, bicycle, motorcycles and vehicle patrols of the non-residential university facilities (e.g., academic and administrative buildings) as time permits; however, most buildings do not have officers exclusively assigned to them. Most buildings are open to students,

staff, and faculty during normal business hours. Facilities on campus have varied levels of access including key access and card access. For more information about security and access to university facilities, please contact the facility's **building representative** (http://fs.utk.edu/buildingreps.htm) or contact UTPD at 865-974-3114.

SECURITY CONSIDERATIONS USED IN THE MAINTENANCE OF CAMPUS FACILITIES

UTK's Facilities Services strives to ensure that campus facilities, grounds, and landscaping are maintained in such a way as to eliminate natural obstructions that could become safety concerns. Periodically, a lighting survey is performed by a group of campus representatives in conjunction with UTPD. Based on results of past surveys, significant improvements in outdoor lighting and placement of emergency blue-light telephones have been made. Additionally, UTPD conducts C.P.T.E.D. (Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design) surveys upon request or when a serious or continuous facility security problem is noted. UTPD also regularly patrols the campus and reports malfunctioning lights and other potentially unsafe physical conditions to Facilities Services for correction. Members of the university community are encouraged to report any deficiency in lighting (e.g., dim, obstructed, or non-operational lighting) or other potentially unsafe physical conditions to Facilities Services at 865-946-7777 or 4-7777 (from a campus phone). Such reports to Facilities Services may be made 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Students residing in university residence halls may submit non-emergency requests for maintenance online (http://housing.utk.edu/students/services/) and may submit emergency requests and lock and key requests by visiting the front desk of the residence hall.

EVENING AND SPECIAL TRANSPORTATION

The university's transit system, called the "T," is provided by First Transit and offers the "T:Link," a free on-demand shuttle service for individuals. During the academic year, students, faculty, and staff can call 865-974-4080 between 6 p.m. and 7 a.m. to get a ride to and from locations on UT's Main Campus, Ag Campus, and Fort Sanders Neighborhood to Grand Avenue (excluding the Cumberland Strip). The "T:Late Nite" is also available to students. T:Late Nite is a bus route that runs on campus and in Fort Sanders from 6 p.m. to 2:30 a.m. Sunday through Thursday, and from 6 p.m. to 3:30 a.m. Friday and Saturday. Schedules vary when classes are out of session. For more information and schedules, visit http://ridethet.utk.edu/.

CRIME PREVENTION AND SECURITY AWARENESS PROGRAMS

Continually throughout the year, multiple university units facilitate programs dealing with security procedures and practices and/or programs encouraging to look out for themselves or one another.

UTPD

UTPD facilitates crime prevention and security awareness programs in which members of UTPD's Community Relations Unit (CRU) explain and demonstrate how students, staff, and faculty can protect themselves and their property. CRU staff speak to students and parents at orientation sessions, students and staff in residence halls, members and residents of Greek organizations, and any individual or group requesting a program. A few of the programs conducted by the CRU include:

- S.A.F.E.* (Self-defense Awareness & Familiarization Exchange): A crime-victim prevention program that encompasses strategies and techniques that introduce participants to the physical aspects of self-defense.
- <u>Personal Safety</u>: A simple approach with realistic safety tips. Optional overview of self-defense devices can be included.
- Alcohol Awareness: This program addresses the dangers associated with excessive drinking and brings awareness to hazards of driving while impaired. "Fatal Vision" goggles are used to demonstrate vision and coordination impairment. This can also be used in conjunction with the Wii gaming system to simulate driving while impaired.
- Basic R.A.D. (Rape Aggression Defense): Self-defense program for women that offers risk reduction and avoidance information. This course incorporates physical defense skills in a realistic training environment. In addition to the basic program, UT Police offers other R.A.D. programs targeted to children and men.
- Operation ID: To assist in theft prevention and recovery, this program registers the serial number and item description of your property with UT Police. A theftdeterrent sticker, and or engraving your item with a unique, definable characteristic can also be applied. You may begin the Operation ID registration process online at http://utpolice.utk.edu/operation-identification/.
- <u>Sexual Assault Awareness</u>: Discussions of awareness, prevention, avoidance, and effective communication regarding non-stranger rape. Information regarding available counseling is also provided.
- <u>Substance Abuse</u>: This program discusses the dangers of drug abuse, as well as the abuse of prescription medication. The course also highlights the misconceptions students may have concerning drug use.
- <u>Spring Break Information</u>: Safety program geared towards travel and personal safety. Situational awareness and the understanding alcohol and drugs while traveling are also discussed.
- Workplace Violence: Information regarding the escalating problem of violence in the workplace. Identification of characteristics of potentially violent individuals, as well as prevention and avoidance strategies.
- Community Response to Active Shooter: One of the most frightening situations that can occur on a college campus is dealing with an active shooter. An active shooter is a person who is actively threatening lives or prepared to threaten lives in a populated area. This program focuses on how to deal with a potential active shooter situation. The course gives information on past occurrences, warning signs, and what to do if a shooting occurs in your immediate area.

All UTPD programs and courses are free to university students and employees. In 2014, UTPD's CRU instructed 279 programs making contact with 23,347 individuals. The CRU conducts programs throughout the year upon request (865-974-4674 or utpolice@utk.edu). Literature and brochures are distributed at most programs. The CRU staff has extensive training in a variety of areas and in many cases can adapt programs to meet a group's specific needs.

Other UTPD crime prevention and security awareness programs include:

- <u>UTAlert Registration</u>: Police set up kiosk/table displays to promote and encourage UT staff, students, and faculty to register for the <u>UTAlert emergency</u> notification system.
- Crime Prevention through Environmental Design: Several UTPD officers are certified to assist with the design of built structures and environmental conditions and a safer community. Security surveys are completed upon request through the CRU.
- Liaison Program: UTPD takes the initiative to bridge the gap between the university community and campus police. UTPD officers are assigned to University Housing, sorority and fraternity organizations, the Office of Multicultural Student Life, the Division of Student Life, the Fort Sanders neighborhood, and other various groups. Through these partnerships, organizations routinely report concerns to their liaison officer which are relayed to the proper person or unit. UTPD also organizes and participates in social events (e.g., softball games, 3-on-3 basketball games) and open forums on campus.

Center for Health Education and Wellness

The mission of the Center for Health Education and Wellness (Center) is to engage in prevention and intervention efforts to increase awareness, educate students, and positively impact the university environment. The Center manages 974-HELP, the Distressed Student Protocol, Case Management, S.A.R.T, and the Threat Assessment Task Force. Based on data collected from CORE, our Annual Health and Wellness survey, and national research, the Center develops campaigns and programming to address personal safety, sexual assault, substance abuse, and health and wellness initiatives. The Center is a unit in the Division of Student Life dedicated to the holistic development and support of students. The unit is designed to create connections which draw from across the Division of Student Life, the university and the greater Knoxville community. The goal of the Center is to facilitate supports, mobilize access, and create opportunities for education. The Center was originally developed as a unique approach to campus alcohol and substance abuse prevention efforts. The Center was reconstituted to serve as an umbrella that encompasses the Center's original mission and broadened to include supports addressing distressed students, sexual assault, personal safety, and health education. The Center conducts programs throughout the year upon request (865-974-5725 or wellness@utk.edu). Literature and brochures are distributed at most programs. All Center programs and courses are free to UT students and employees.

The Center facilitated the following programs and courses in 2014:

- Think About It Module is an interactive, online module that was developed to educate incoming students at the university about alcohol, sexual misconduct, campus policies, state law and choice making. All incoming students were required to complete the module prior to matriculation in 2014. Approximately 4,417 students signed on to the module.
- <u>E- Check UP to GO Alcohol / E-CheckUP to Go Marijuana</u> is a self-assessment tool available for use by students to examine their own alcohol/ marijuana use. The program provides immediate personalized feedback about: drinking patterns, risk patterns, aspirations and goals, and campus and community resources.
- The Alcohol Education Program (AEP) is a mandated education class, and was offered by the Center to students who were been cited with an alcohol violation. In 2014, 523 students completed the Alcohol Education Program.
- <u>The Drug Education Program (DEP)</u> is a mandated education class, and was offered by the Center to students who were been cited with a drug violation. In 2014, 130 students completed the Drug Education Program.
- Annual Health & Wellness Survey was administered to 4,000 full-time undergraduate students to measure student perceptions regarding four domains: health, personal safety, substance use/perceptions, and suicide. In 2014, 1,125 students participated in the Health & Wellness Survey.
- Campus Wide Presentations are provided by request to student, faculty, and staff groups regarding: 974-HELP, Distressed Student Protocol, Case Management, and Sexual Assault Response. In 2014 presentations were conducted for over 7,000 students, faculty, and staff.
- <u>First Year Studies (FYS) 101 Alcohol Education Curriculum</u> was developed for FYS 101 instructors. The curriculum allowed faculty and staff instructors to further address alcohol use, risks, and consequences. The addition of the curriculum provided supplementary material for discussion, decision making scenarios, and self-evaluation of substance use behaviors. Curriculum was provided to all FYS 101 instructors.
- <u>Start to Conversation: How to Discuss Alcohol with Your Student</u> was developed to encourage and provide resources to parents to have a conversation about the use of alcohol, family expectations, and consequences prior to fall matriculation. Approximately 4,500 families received the electronic link via promotions to the Start the Conversation booklet.

- <u>Start to Conversation: How to Discuss Consent with Your Student</u> was developed to encourage and provide resources to parents to have a conversation about the consent, policy, expectations and the impact of alcohol prior to fall matriculation. Approximately 4,500 families received the electronic link via promotions to the Start the Conversation booklet.
- Marijuana CheckUP to Go is a brief assessment and feedback tool designed to educate college students about marijuana use. The program provides immediate personalized feedback about: marijuana use patterns, risk patterns, aspirations and goals, and campus and community resources.
- Media Campaigns were utilized to promote central office messages. Messaging campaigns were run in the student newspaper, The Daily Beacon, on electronic media boards, were found on the Center's website (wellness.utk.edu), in pamphlets, on bulletin boards, and on safety sandwich boards across campus. Messages promoted personal safety, sexual assault prevention, social norms, healthy behaviors, and the distressed student protocol. Media Campaigns reached approximately 20,000 students.
- New & Transfer Student Orientation Be Smart. Be Safe. Be a Vol! session was attended by all incoming new and transfer students. The session was facilitated by UTPD and the Center. Content discussed during the presentation covered the following areas: personal safety, sexual health, alcohol & drugs, and sexual assault. Approximately, 96% of incoming students attended new & transfer student orientation sessions during 2014.
- World Aids Day Awareness was held in partnership with the Lambda Student Union and the Knox County Health Department. During the event, students received free and confidential HIV testing, learned from an informational display, and interacted with others globally through the Facing AIDS Project photo testimonial. Approximately 150 students participated in the event.
- Volunteers Speak UP! is a program focused on preventing sexual assault, dating violence, domestic violence and stalking. The program educates the University of Tennessee community around prevention, bystander intervention, and campus and community resources. Volunteers Speak UP! includes the online pledge, bystander training and fostering a culture of care for the entire campus. Approximately, 64 trainings SPEAKologist (bystander trainings) with a total of 1, 010 student contacts in 2014.
- VOLS 2 VOLS Peer Education Program was established in the fall of 2013 to educate students about how to move form a basic awareness of health related topics to discussing beliefs and values though education and participatory activities. Topics presented in the 2014 year included Safer Sex & Healthy Relationships. VOLS 2 VOLS Peer Educators Healthy Relationships & Sexual Health presentations provide education on the dynamics of healthy relationships,

evaluating communication and increasing awareness of at risk behaviors in relationships. VOLS 2 VOLS Peer Health Educators grew to 24 educators and had 2,570 contacts with students on healthy relationships (consent/violence prevention) and sexual health (decision making, consent, and risk reduction).

University Housing - Division of Student Life

A list of crime prevention and security awareness programs conducted by University Housing – Division of Student Life in 2014 is contained in Appendix D.

Programs to Prevent Dating Violence, Domestic Violence, Sexual Assault, and Stalking

The University implements comprehensive, intentional, and integrated programming, initiatives, strategies, and campaigns intended to prevent dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking by and against members of the University community. The University intends that its Prevention Programs: (1) be culturally relevant, inclusive of diverse communities and identities, sustainable, responsive to community needs, and informed by research or assessed for value, effectiveness, or outcome; and (2) consider environmental risk and protective factors as they occur on the individual, relationship, University, community, and societal levels. Prevention Programs include both Primary Prevention Programs, Primary Awareness Programs, and Ongoing Prevention and Awareness Campaigns.

Primary Prevention Programs are programming, initiatives, and strategies informed by research or assessed for value, effectiveness, or outcome that are intended to stop dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking before they occur through the promotion of positive and healthy behaviors that foster healthy, mutually respectful relationships and sexuality, encourage safe bystander intervention, and seek to change behavior and social norms in healthy and safe directions. The University implements programs for incoming students and new employees that inform them about: (1) the University's Policy on Sexual Misconduct, Relationship Violence, and Stalking, including: the University's prohibition against dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking; the definitions of dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking in the state of Tennessee; the definition of consent with respect to crimes relating to sexual activity in the state of Tennessee; and the information that is included in Policy on Sexual Misconduct, Relationship Violence, and Stalking in accordance with 34 C.F.R. § 668.46(b)(11) and 34 C.F.R. § 668.46(k)(2); (2) bystander intervention, which are safe and positive options that may be carried out by an individual(s) to prevent harm or intervene when there is a risk of dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking; and (3) risk reduction, which are options designed to decrease perpetration and bystander inaction, and to increase empowerment for Complainants in order to promote safety and to help individuals and communities address conditions that facilitate violence. Examples

of primary prevention programs for students include Vols 2 Vols, Volunteers Speak Up!, Consent, and Know Your Policy, all of which are described at wellness.utk.edu/request-a-program/. An example of primary prevention programs for employees is the practice of the Office of Equity and Diversity to have a staff member attend every new employee orientation to present the University's Policy on Sexual Misconduct, Relationship Violence, and Stalking. The University has engaged EverFi to create an online primary prevention program for employees, and the University anticipates that the program will be available to all employees by the end of the year. Questions about the University's Primary Prevention Programs should be directed to the University's Title IX Coordinator, the Deputy Title IX Coordinator for Students, or the Clery Compliance Coordinator.

- Primary Awareness Programs are comprehensive, intentional, and integrated community-wide or audience-specific programming, initiatives, and strategies that increase audience knowledge and share information and resources to: prevent dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking; promote safety; and reduce the perpetration of dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking. Questions about the University's Primary Awareness Programs should be directed to the University's Title IX Coordinator, the Deputy Title IX Coordinator for Students, or the Clery Compliance Coordinator.
- Ongoing Prevention and Awareness Campaigns are programming, initiatives, and strategies for students and employees that are sustained over time and focus on increasing understanding of topics relevant to and skills for addressing Prohibited Conduct using a range of strategies with audiences throughout the University and including information about: (1) the University's Policy on Sexual Misconduct, Relationship Violence, and Stalking, including: the University's prohibition against dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking; the definitions of dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking in the state of Tennessee; the definition of consent with respect to crimes relating to sexual activity in the state of Tennessee; and the information that is included in Policy on Sexual Misconduct, Relationship Violence, and Stalking in accordance with 34 C.F.R. § 668.46(b)(11) and 34 C.F.R. § 668.46(k)(2); (2) bystander intervention, which are safe and positive options that may be carried out by an individual(s) to prevent harm or intervene when there is a risk of dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking; and (3) risk reduction, which are options designed to decrease perpetration and bystander inaction, and to increase empowerment for Complainants in order to promote safety and to help individuals and communities address conditions that facilitate violence. Examples of primary prevention programs for students include Vols 2 Vols, Volunteers Speak Up!, Consent, and Know Your Policy, all of which are described at wellness.utk.edu/request-a-program/. The University has engaged EverFi to create an online primary prevention program for employees, and the University anticipates that the program will be available to all employees by the end of the year. Questions about the University's Ongoing Prevention and Awareness

Campaigns should be directed to the University's Title IX Coordinator, the Deputy Title IX Coordinator for Students, or the Clery Compliance Coordinator.

University students and employees may also review external resources regarding dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking by visiting the following websites:

- End Violence Against Women International (EVAWI) developed the OnLine Training Institute (OLTI) to provide the opportunity to provide knowledge on cutting edge developments in the criminal justice and community response to sexual assault for anyone who is interested. This training specifically focuses on those crimes committed by someone known to the victim (non-stranger). The OLTI is free. There is no cost to register, enroll, or complete any of the modules. http://olti.evawintl.org/Default.aspx?ReturnUrl=%2f
- The Stalking Resource Center provides training to professionals seeking to understanding and enhance their skills in working with victims and offenders of stalking. These trainings are victim-centered, research informed, and practice based. https://www.victimsofcrime.org/our-programs/stalking-resource-center/training
- National Online Resource Center on Violence Against Women offers VAWnet, a comprehensive and accessible online collection of information and resources on domestic violence, sexual violence and related issues. The VAWnet library provides training tools and materials to support efforts in raising awareness, increasing capacity, and enhance efforts to prevent violence against women and intervene more effectively when it occurs. http://www.vawnet.org/trainingtools/?type=Online%20Toolkits

ALCOHOL AND ILLEGAL DRUGS

This section of the report provides information on the university's policies regarding the possession, use, and sale of alcoholic beverages and enforcement of Tennessee's underage drinking laws. This section also provides information on the university's policies regarding the possession, use, and sale of illegal drugs and enforcement of federal and Tennessee drug laws and a description of the university's drug and alcohol abuse prevention programs.

Drug Free Campus and Workplace Policy

A copy of the following policy can be found at: http://policy.tennessee.edu/hr_policy/hr0720/.

It is the policy of the University of Tennessee to maintain a safe and healthful environment for its students and employees. Therefore, university policy prohibits the unlawful use, manufacture, possession, distribution, or dispensing of drugs ("controlled substances" as defined in the Controlled Substances Act, 21 U.S.C. 812) and alcohol on university property or during university activities.

Violation of this policy is grounds for disciplinary action--up to and including immediate discharge for an employee and permanent dismissal of a student. Federal and state laws provide additional penalties for such unlawful activities, including fines and imprisonment (21 U.S.C. 841 et seq.; T.C.A. 39-6-401 et seq.). Local ordinances also provide various penalties for drug- and alcohol-related offenses. The university is bound to take all appropriate actions against violators, which may include referral for legal prosecution or requiring the individual to participate satisfactorily in an approved drug use or alcohol abuse assistance or rehabilitation program.

Individuals who are paid by UT through federal grants or contracts must abide by this policy and notify the university in writing of any criminal drug statute conviction which includes a finding of guilt, a plea of nolo contendere, or a sentence by any state or federal judicial body for a violation occurring in the workplace within five days after such conviction. The university is, in turn, required to inform the granting or contracting agency of such a violation within 10 days of the university's receipt of notification.

To maintain a safe and drug-free environment, University of Tennessee campuses and institutes may establish procedures to perform screenings for controlled substances and alcohol within areas or positions of employment that affect the public welfare or safety, or where such screenings are required by federal regulations, such as those developed by the Federal Highway Administration and Federal Aviation Administration. In addition, screenings are permissible where there is reasonable suspicion of drug or alcohol use.

Each University of Tennessee campus or institute conducting such screenings shall develop and document the necessary screening procedures. The procedures shall identify specifically the positions and locations that will require testing, the conditions under which the screenings will be conducted, and the specific plans for conducting the tests. Before implementation, all plans and procedures for such screenings must be approved by the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and the General Counsel. Costs of all required screenings will be borne by the individual campus or institute of the University of Tennessee.

A complete set of the drug screening procedures for employees in positions requiring the use of a commercial driver's license (CDL) is available for those employees and their supervisors from their campus or institute human resources office. The procedures discuss the types of screenings, when and how they are to be conducted, and the actions that will be taken by the university should the employee receive a confirmed positive alcohol or drug test.

Alcohol

All members of the university community and guests are required to comply with university policies and federal, state and local laws regarding the distribution, possession and consumption of alcoholic beverages. UTPD strictly enforces those laws and policies. University policies relating to alcoholic beverages are outlined below under the description of the Standards of Conduct for students and the Code of Conduct for employees.

It is unlawful in Tennessee for:

 any person 21 years of age to buy, possess, transport (unless in the course of employment), or consume alcoholic beverages, wine, or beer;

- any person to purchase an alcoholic beverage for or at the request of a person under 21 years of age;
- any person who is younger than 21 years of age to purchase or attempt to purchase any alcoholic beverage;
- any person under 21 years of age to knowingly make a false statement or exhibit false identification to the effect that the person is 21 years of age or older to any person engaged in the sale of alcoholic beverages for the purpose of purchasing or obtaining the same;
- any person to give or buy alcoholic beverages or beer for or on behalf of any minor or to cause alcohol to be given or bought for or on behalf of any minor for any purpose;
- a driver to consume any alcoholic beverage or beer or possess an open container of alcoholic beverage or beer while operating a motor vehicle in this state
- any person to persuade, entice or send a minor to any place where alcoholic beverages or beer, are sold, to buy or otherwise procure alcoholic beverages or beer in any quantity, for the use of the minor, or for the use of any other person; and/or
- any owner, occupant or other person having a lawful right to the exclusive use and enjoyment of property to knowingly allow a person to consume alcoholic beverages, wine or beer on the property; provided, that the owner, occupant or other person knows that, at the time of the offense, the person consuming is an underage adult.

Consequences for violating those laws and/or university policies could result in criminal prosecution, fines, imprisonment, and/or disciplinary sanctions by the university.

Illegal Drugs

Various federal and Tennessee laws make it unlawful to manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, or sell or possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, or sell controlled substances. The penalty imposed for violating one or more of those laws depends upon many factors, which include the type and amount of controlled substance involved, the number of prior offenses, if any, and whether any other crimes were committed in connection with the use of the controlled substance. Possible sanctions include incarceration up to and including life imprisonment and imposition of substantial monetary fines. Consequences for violating those laws and/or university policies prohibiting the similar misconduct could result in criminal prosecution, fines, imprisonment, and/or disciplinary sanctions by the university.

Standards of Conduct for Students

UTK's Standards of Conduct for students state that a student may be disciplined for engaging in the following misconduct:

- Consuming, manufacturing, possessing, distributing, dispensing, selling, or being under the influence of alcoholic beverages on university-controlled property or in connection with a university-affiliated activity.
- Consuming, manufacturing, possessing, distributing, dispensing, selling, or being under the influence of alcoholic beverages, if prohibited by federal, state, or local law.
- Providing an alcoholic beverage to a person younger than twenty-one (21) years of age, unless permitted by law.

- Using, manufacturing, possessing, distributing, selling, dispensing, or being under the influence of drugs or drug paraphernalia, if prohibited by federal, state, or local law; using or possessing a prescription drug if the prescription was not issued to the student; or distributing or selling a prescription drug to a person to whom the prescription was not originally issued.
- Committing an act that is prohibited by local, state, or federal law.

These and other Standards of Conduct for students, in addition to the possible sanctions for violating the Standards of Conduct can be found in the student handbook, *Hilltopics*, at http://hilltopics.utk.edu.

Code of Conduct for Employees

The University of Tennessee's Code of Conduct for employees, a copy of which can be found at http://policy.tennessee.edu/hr_policy/hr0580/, prohibits: "The unlawful distribution, dispensation, possession, or use of alcohol, illegal drugs, intoxicants, or controlled substances; abuse of prescription drugs while on duty; use of alcohol in a university vehicle on or off university property; possession or use of alcohol while on duty (except at universitysponsored events and other events an employee is expected to attend as part of his or her duties); or reporting to work under the influence of illegal drugs or alcohol or while unlawfully using controlled substances." Violation of the Code of Conduct is grounds for disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment, pursuant to University of Tennessee Human Policy of which be found Resources copy http://policy.tennessee.edu/hr_policy/hr0525/. Illegally using, manufacturing, possessing, distributing, purchasing or dispensing of controlled substances or alcohol constitutes gross misconduct under university policy.

Drug and Alcohol Abuse Prevention

Units in the university's Division of Student Life (e.g., the Center for Health Education and Wellness, the Student Health Center, the Student Counseling Center, and the Office of the Dean of Students) are committed to promoting responsible decision making regarding alcohol and drugs through educational programming, resources, and referrals. The university's Employee Assistance Program (855-437-3486) (http://hr.utk.edu/employee-relations/employee-assistance/) manages the alcohol & drug abuse and rehabilitation program for benefits-eligible employees. The Employee Assistance Program also provides counseling and referral services.

Health Risks

Aside from any legal or university policy considerations, the use of illicit drugs and/or the abuse of alcohol may be harmful to one's health. Some of the health risks associated with such use/abuse are:

Alcohol-abuse health risks: Liver damage—cirrhosis, alcoholic hepatitis; heart disease—enlarged heart, congestive heart failure; ulcers and gastritis; malnutrition; cancer—of the mouth, esophagus, stomach, liver; brain damage—memory loss, hallucinations, psychosis; damage to fetus if pregnant mother drinks; death—50 percent of fatal auto accidents involve alcohol, 31 percent of suicides are committed by alcoholics.

<u>Drug-use health risks:</u> Overdosing – psychosis, convulsions, coma, death; long-term use – organ damage, mental illness, malnutrition, death; casual use – heart attack, stroke, brain damage, death; needles – infections, hepatitis, AIDS, death; if a pregnant mother uses drugs, her baby can be stillborn or born addicted.

WEAPONS

With respect to the possession of firearms and other weapons on university property, it is important to differentiate between Tennessee criminal law and university policies.

Tennessee Criminal Law

It is a criminal offense for a person to carry or possess a firearm or other weapon, whether openly or concealed, on any property owned, used, or operated by the University of Tennessee (Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-17-1309). Tennessee law (Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-17-1313) contains a limited exception to that criminal offense for the holder of a valid handgun carry permit who: (1) transports and stores a firearm or firearm ammunition in the permit holder's privately owned motor vehicle; (2) parks the vehicle in a location where it is permitted to be; (3) keeps the firearm or firearm ammunition from ordinary observation; and (4) if the permit holder is not in the vehicle, locks the firearm or firearm ammunition within the trunk, glove box, or interior of the person's privately owned motor vehicle or a container securely affixed to such vehicle.

University Policies

The university's Standards of Conduct for students prohibit students from: "possessing, using, storing, or manufacturing any weapon or facsimile of a weapon on university-controlled property or in connection with a university-affiliated activity, unless authorized in writing by the Chief of Police or his/her designee." Weapons that are brought to campus by students for sporting purposes must be checked in and stored at UTPD. The university's Code of Conduct for employees, **Human Resources Policy 0580** (http://policy.tennessee.edu/hr_policy/hr0580/), prohibits the "possession of firearms, explosives, or other dangerous materials on university property or during university activities."

TENNESSEE SEX OFFENDER REGISTRY

In accordance to the Campus Sex Crimes Prevention Act of 2000, which amended the Jacob Wetterling Crimes Against Children and Sexually Violent Offender Registration Act, the Clery Act and the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974, UTPD is providing the link below to the Tennessee Sex Offender Registry. The Campus Sex Crimes Prevention Act of 2000 requires institutions of higher education to issue a statement advising the campus community where law enforcement information provided by a state concerning registered sex offenders may be obtained. It also requires sex offenders already required to register in a state to provide notice of each institution of higher education in that state at which the person is employed, carries a vocation, or is a student.

In Tennessee, convicted sex offenders must register with the Tennessee Sex Offender Registry maintained by the Tennessee Bureau of Investigation (TBI). Tennessee Code Annotated § 40-39-206 requires persons who are required to register pursuant to the Tennessee Sexual Offender and Violent Offender Registration, Verification and Tracking Act of 2004 (Tennessee Code Annotated § 40-39-201 et

seq.) to disclose the name and address of any institution of higher education in Tennessee at which the offender is employed, carries on a vocation or is a student. TBI is responsible for maintaining the Tennessee Sex Offender Registry. Click on the following link to access the Tennessee Sex Offender Registry: https://www.tn.gov/tbi/section/tennessee-sex-offender-registry. In accordance with Tennessee Code Annotated § 40-39-201, members of the public should not use information from the Tennessee Sex Offender Registry to inflict retribution or additional punishment on offenders. Though much of the information in the registry is of record, some of the information contained on the registry is obtained directly from offenders. Neither Tennessee Bureau of Investigation nor UTPD guarantees the accuracy or completeness of the information in the registry. The information contained in an offender's record does not imply that the offender will commit a specific type of crime in the future, nor does it imply that if a future crime is committed by an offender what the nature of that crime may be. Neither TBI nor UTPD makes any representation as to any offender's likelihood of reoffending. If you believe that information concerning a specific offender is incorrect, please contact TBI at 888-837-4170.

DISCLOSURE TO VICTIMS OF CRIMES OF VIOLENCE OR NON-FORCIBLE SEX OFFENSES

The university will, upon written request, disclose to the alleged victim of a crime of violence (as that term is defined in Section 16 of Title 18, United States code), or a non-forcible sex offense, the report on the results of any disciplinary proceeding conducted by such institution against a student who is the alleged perpetrator of such crime or offense. If the alleged victim is deceased as a result of such crime or offense, the next of kin of such victim shall be treated as the alleged victim. The university also notifies victims in accordance with its policy on sexual misconduct, relationship violence, and stalking, a copy of which can be found in **Appendix F**.

THE ANNUAL DISCLOSURE OF CRIME STATISTICS

UTPD is responsible for preparing and distributing this Annual Security Report to comply with the Clery Act. Within UTPD, the responsibility for preparing the Annual Security Report is assigned to the Clery Compliance Coordinator. The Annual Security Report is published and distributed every year by October 1st. The Annual Security Report includes statistics for the previous three years concerning reported crimes that occurred on the university's Clery Geography. Statistics for Clery Act offenses that did not occur within Clery Geography are not included in the university's Clery Act crime statistics even if university students or employees were involved.

UTPD prepares the Annual Security Report, including the annual disclosure of crime, arrest, and referral statistics, with input from various sources, including: UTPD; the university's Division of Finance and Administration; the university's Title IX Coordinator; the university's Division of Student Life; university Campus Security Authorities; and local law enforcement agencies, including the City of Knoxville Police Department and the Knox County Sheriff's Office. For statistical purposes, crime statistics reported to any of those sources are recorded in the calendar year in which the crime was reported. The statistics represent offenses that were reported to any of those sources, regardless of whether the alleged offense was investigated or whether there was a finding of guilt or responsibility. Annually, UTPD requests the university's Student Counseling

Center to provide general, non-personally identifying information that was communicated to them concerning Clery Act crimes for inclusion in the university's statistics.

UTPD submits the crime statistics published in the Annual Security Report to the United States Department of Education (ED), which makes crime statistics available to the public through the ED website. In addition, a copy of the Annual Security Report and a daily crime log are available for review 24 hours a day on on the university's Clery Act website, http://clery.utk.edu/crime-statistics/. The university provides an electronic notice of availability of the Annual Security Report to: (1) all current university faculty, staff, and students; and (2) prospective university students, faculty, and staff.

In compliance with the Clery Act, the university shares the crime statistics contained in **Appendix A**.

DEFINITIONS OF TERMS USED IN THIS REPORT

<u>Aggravated Assault</u>: An unlawful attack by one person upon another for the purpose of inflicting severe or aggravated bodily injury. This type of assault usually is accompanied by the use of a weapon or by a means likely to produce death or great bodily harm. (It is not necessary that injury result from an aggravated assault when a gun, knife, or other weapon is used that could and probably would result in serious personal injury if the crime were successfully completed).

<u>Arson</u>: Any willful or malicious burning or attempt to burn, with or without intent to defraud, a dwelling house, public building, motor vehicle or aircraft, personal property of another, etc.

<u>Burglary</u>: The unlawful entry of a structure to commit a felony or theft. For reporting purposes this definition includes: unlawful entry with intent to commit a larceny or felony, breaking and entering with intent to commit a larceny, housebreaking, safecracking, and all attempts to commit any of the aforementioned acts.

<u>Clery Act:</u> The Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Crime Statistics Act.

<u>Clery Geography</u>: Property for which the university is required to report crime statistics pursuant to the Clery Act (i.e., On-Campus buildings or property, Non-Campus buildings or property, and Public Property).

<u>Dating Violence</u>: Violence committed by a person who is or has been in a social relationship of a romantic or intimate nature with the victim. The existence of such a relationship shall be determined based on a consideration of the following factors: (1) the length of the relationship; (2) the type of relationship; and (3) the frequency of interaction between the persons involved in the relationship.

<u>Domestic Violence</u>: A felony or misdemeanor crime of violence committed by: (1) a current or former spouse of the victim; (2) a person with whom the victim shares a child in common; (3) a person who is cohabitating with or has cohabitated with the victim as a spouse; (4) a person similarly situated to a spouse of the victim under the domestic or family violence laws of the

jurisdiction receiving grant monies; or (5) any other person against an adult or youth victim who is protected from that person's acts under the domestic or family violence laws of the jurisdiction.

<u>Destruction/Damage/Vandalism of Property (except Arson)</u>: To willfully or maliciously damage, deface, or otherwise injure real or personal property without the consent of the owner or the person having custody or control of it.

<u>Disciplinary Referral(s)</u>: Those individuals referred to the university's Office of Student Conduct and Community Standards (OSCC) for liquor law, drug law, and illegal weapons violations. The numbers include incidents that are reported via UTPD incident reports and reports provided to OSCC from other members of the university community.

<u>Drug Abuse Violations</u>: The violation of laws prohibiting the production, distribution, and/or use of certain controlled substances and the equipment or devices utilized in their preparation and/or use. The unlawful cultivation, manufacture, distribution, sale, purchase, use, possession, transportation, or importation of any controlled drug or narcotic substance. Arrests for violations of State and local laws, specifically those relating to the unlawful possession, sale, use, growing, manufacturing, and making of narcotic drugs. The relevant substances include: opium or cocaine and their derivatives (morphine, heroin, codeine); marijuana; synthetic narcotics (Demerol, methadone); and dangerous non-narcotic drugs (enzedrines, enzedrine).

<u>Hate Crime</u>: A criminal offense committed against a person or property which is motivated, in whole or in part, by the offender's preformed negative opinion or attitude toward a group of persons based on their:

Race: A preformed negative attitude toward a group of persons who possess common physical characteristics;

<u>Gender</u>: A preformed negative opinion or attitude toward a group of persons because those persons are male or female;

<u>Gender Identity</u>: A preformed negative opinion or attitude toward a group of persons because of their actual or perceived gender-related characteristics.

<u>Religion</u>: A preformed negative opinion or attitude toward a group of persons who share the same religious beliefs regarding the origin and purpose of the universe and the existence or nonexistence of a supreme being;

<u>Sexual Orientation</u>: A preformed negative opinion or attitude toward a group of persons based on their sexual attraction toward, and responsiveness to, members of their own sex or members of the opposite sex;

Ethnicity: A preformed negative opinion or attitude toward a group of persons of the same ethnicity;

<u>National Origin</u>: A preformed negative opinion or attitude toward a group of persons who share the same national origin;

<u>Disability</u>: A preformed negative opinion or attitude toward a group of persons based on their physical or mental impairments/challenges, whether such disability is temporary or permanent, congenital or acquired by heredity, accident, injury, advanced aged or illness.

<u>Intimidation</u>: To unlawfully place another person in reasonable fear of bodily harm through the use of threatening words and/or other conduct, but without displaying a weapon or subjecting the victim to actual physical attack.

<u>Larceny - Theft</u>: The unlawful taking, carrying, leading, or riding away of property from the possession or constructive possession of another. Attempted larcenies are included. Embezzlement, confidence games, forgery, worthless checks, etc., are excluded.

<u>Liquor Law Violations</u>: The violation of laws or ordinances prohibiting: the manufacture, sale, transporting, furnishing, possessing of intoxicating liquor; maintaining unlawful drinking places; bootlegging; operating a still; furnishing liquor to a minor or intemperate person; using a vehicle for illegal transportation of liquor; drinking on a train or public conveyance; and all attempts to commit any of the aforementioned activities (Public Intoxication and driving under the influence are not included in this definition).

<u>Motor Vehicle Theft</u>: The theft or attempted theft of a motor vehicle. (Includes all cases where automobiles are taken by persons not having lawful access even though the vehicles are later abandoned, including joyriding).

<u>Murder and Non-negligent Manslaughter</u>: The willful (non-negligent) killing of one human being by another.

Negligent Manslaughter: The killing of another person through gross negligence.

Non-Campus: Any building or property owned or controlled by a student organization that is officially recognized by the institution; or any building or property owned or controlled by an institution that is being used in direct support of, or in relation to, the institution's educational purposes, is frequented by students and is not within the same reasonably contiguous geographic area of the institution.

<u>On-Campus</u>: Any building or property owned or controlled by an institution within the same reasonably contiguous geographic area and used by the institution in direct support of, or in a manner related to, the institution's educational purposes, including residence halls; and any building or property that is within or reasonably contiguous to the geographic area that is owned by the institution but controlled by another person, is frequently used by students, and supports institutional purposes (such as a food or other retail vendor).

NOTE: Crime statistics for university housing facilities are recorded and included in both the "All On-Campus Property" category and the "On-Campus Residential Only" category.

<u>Public Property:</u> All public property, including thoroughfares, streets, sidewalks, and parking facilities, that is within the campus, or immediately adjacent to and accessible from the campus.

NOTE: The Clery Act does not require disclosure of crime statistics for public property that surrounds Non-Campus buildings or property.

Robbery: The taking or attempting to take anything of value from the care, custody, or control of a person or persons by force or threat of force or violence and/or by putting the victim in fear.

<u>Sex Offenses</u>: Any sexual act directed against another person, without the consent of the victim, including instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent.

Rape: The penetration, no matter how slight, of the vagina or anus with any body part or object, or oral penetration by a sex organ of another person, without the consent of the victim.

<u>Fondling</u>: The touching of the private body parts of another person for the purpose of sexual gratification, without the consent of the victim, including instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent because of his/her age or because of his/her temporary or permanent mental incapacity.

<u>Incest</u>: Sexual intercourse between persons who are related to each other within the degrees wherein marriage is prohibited by law.

<u>Statutory Rape</u>: Sexual intercourse with a person who is under the statutory age of consent.

<u>Simple Assault</u>: An unlawful physical attack by one person upon another where neither the offender displays a weapon, nor the victim suffers obvious severe or aggravated bodily injury involving apparent broken bones, loss of teeth, possible internal injury, severe laceration, or loss of consciousness.

Stalking: Engaging in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a reasonable person to: (1) fear for his or her safety or the safety of others; or (2) suffer substantial emotional distress.

University or UTK: The University of Tennessee, Knoxville.

<u>Weapon Law Violations</u>: The violation of laws or ordinances dealing with weapon offenses, regulatory in nature, such as: manufacture, sale, or possession of deadly weapons; carrying deadly weapons, concealed or openly; furnishing deadly weapons to minors; aliens possessing deadly weapons; and all attempts to commit any of the aforementioned acts.

ANNUAL FIRE SAFETY REPORT

Federal law requires the university to produce an annual fire safety report outlining fire safety policies, fire safety systems, fire statistics, and other information relating to on-campus student housing. The following information satisfies that requirement.

Fire Log and Reporting Non-Emergency Fires

The university's Environmental Health and Safety (http://web.utk.edu/~ehss/default.html) department maintains a log of all fires that occur in on-campus student housing facilities. The fire log is available for review 24 hours a day at http://safety.utk.edu/occupational-safety/fire-log/ or in person at 2111 Terrace Avenue, 8:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday on university business days.

In addition, the university is required by federal law to annually disclose statistical data on all fires that occur in on-campus student housing facilities. Listed below are the **non-emergency** numbers to call to report fires that have already been extinguished in on-campus student housing facilities. These are fires for which you are unsure whether UTPD, University Housing, or the Environmental Health and Safety department may already be aware. If you find evidence of such a fire or if you hear about such a fire, please contact one of the following:

UTPD	865-974-3111
University Housing	865-974-2397
Environmental Health and Safety	865-974-5084
Sorority and Fraternity Life	865 974-2236

When calling, please provide as much information as possible about the location, date, time, and cause of the fire.

Fire Statistics

Statistics for reported fires in on-campus student housing facilities are contained in **Appendix B** to this report.

Fire Safety Systems

Appendix C to this report contains a description of each on-campus student housing facility's fire safety system, including the number of fire drills held during 2014.

Policies and Rules for Appliances, Smoking and Open Flames

Smoking

The University of Tennessee system's policy on smoking can be found at: http://policy.tennessee.edu/safety_policy/sa0900/. As used in this section, "smoke" or "smoking" means inhaling, exhaling, burning or carrying any lighted cigar, cigarette (including electronic cigarette) pipe or other lighted tobacco product in any manner or in any form. Smoking devices, including, but not limited to electronic cigarettes, pipes, bongs and hookahs, are not permitted in residence halls.

Entrances to all university buildings, including residence halls are designated as smoke free. Unless otherwise posted, smoking is prohibited within twenty-five (25) feet of all doorways, windows and ventilation systems of all university buildings. Smokers are responsible for ensuring that all smoking activity, including lighting and discarding cigarettes, takes place a sufficient distance from doorways, windows and ventilation systems of university buildings to avoid infiltration of smoke into the building.

Open Flames

Items that require an open flame to operate or which produce heat are not permitted in resident's rooms. No materials, liquid or otherwise, of an explosive or combustible nature shall be kept on premises. Examples of prohibited items include, but are not limited to candles, incense, lit cigarettes, open heating coils, halogen lamps and gasoline.

Portable Electric Appliances

Hall kitchens and other facilities are provided for residents to use for cooking. UL-approved appliances with fully enclosed heating elements and/or electrical wiring are permitted. Appliances prohibited in residence halls include, but are not limited to toasters, toaster ovens, electric fryers, and all similar appliances with exposed heating elements and appliances that could cause a fire if left unattended (include George Foreman type grills and space heaters). Personal-owned washers, dryers and dishwashers are not permitted.

Microfridges are provided in residence halls. This is a combination refrigerator, freezer and microwave appliance. Other refrigerators and microwave ovens are not permitted in student residence hall rooms. A microwave oven is permitted in the kitchen areas of apartment-style residence halls: Laurel Hall and Volunteer Hall. No additional refrigerating or microwave units are permitted. One microwave units and one toaster are permitted in kitchens in apartment style halls

An extension cord must be UL-approved, 16-guage and not exceed a length of six feet with a polarized plug and a single outlet; it may not be placed under floor coverings or furnishing and it may not be secured by penetrating the insulation of the cord. Multiple outlets are prohibited; however one UL-approved 15-amp, multiple outlet strips with a circuit breaker may be used in each room. Extension cords may not be used with microfridges. Total electrical usage cannot exceed that which can be provided by one surge protector strip per outlet and cannot overload, short or create line disturbances.

Ironing is permitted in student rooms. Irons must always be used on ironing boards that have a fire-resistant cover. Irons with automatic cut-off, mechanisms are required. Irons are not permitted to be left plugged into a socket when not in use.

Students who are found to have violated the policies or rules described above will be subject to discipline in accordance with the procedures outlined in *Hilltopics*, http://hilltopics.utk.edu/.

False Reports and Interference with Fire Safety Systems

The university's Standards of Conduct for students prohibits: Any act of arson; falsely reporting a fire, the presence of an explosive or incendiary device, or other emergency; setting off a false

fire alarm; or tampering with, removing, or damaging fire alarms, fire extinguishers or any other safety or emergency equipment from its proper location except when removed in a situation in which there is a reasonable belief of the need for such equipment. Students who are found to have violated that Standard of Conduct will be subject to discipline in accordance with the procedures outlined in *Hilltopics*, http://hilltopics.utk.edu/.

Evacuation Procedures for Student Housing in Case of a Fire

Evacuation procedures are both general and specific for the university's on-campus student housing facilities. In case of a fire, all students are directed to leave their room, close the door and proceed to the nearest exit upon fire alarm activation. Elevators are not to be used during evacuation. Once outside the building students assemble at a designated location. Additional site-specific evacuation information is provided on the room side of bedrooms in sorority housing, fraternity housing, and community- and suite-style residence halls (e.g., Hess Hall, Reese Hall). Site-specific evacuation information is provided on the hallway entry door for apartment-style residence halls (e.g., Volunteer Hall).

Procedures that Students and Staff Should Follow in Case of a Fire

The Knoxville Fire Department is the community organization that responds to fires on campus. Fire Station number 9, located on Highland Avenue in Knoxville, is the primary fire company that responds. The downtown station may also respond based on location of the fire and other factors.

The following are general procedures for university staff in the event of a fire or other emergency that requires evacuation:

R – **Rescue** anyone in danger if it is safe to do so.

A— Alarm If you are <u>inside</u> a building, sound the alarm by activating the building's fire alarm system or use another method to alert occupants of the building. Fire alarm pull stations are typically located near an interior stairway entrance or near an exterior door. Pulling a fire alarm will send a signal to Central Alarm. Central Alarm will dispatch the Knoxville Fire Department and a UTPD officer to the building. If you are <u>outside</u> a building and can't readily access a fire alarm pull station, call 911. This number connects you with the 911 Center, which will dispatch the Knoxville Fire Department.

C– Close all doors.

E — Extinguish the fire if safe to do so or evacuate the building to a defined assembly point for a head count and do not to re-enter the building until approval is given by police or fire officials.

Designated university staff should check the area to ensure everyone hears the alarm and evacuates.

The following are general procedures for university students in the event of a fire or other emergency that requires evacuation:

- 1. Activate the nearest fire alarm pull station.
- 2. Students are not encouraged to use portable fire extinguishers.

- 3. Upon hearing the alarm, leave the building using the nearest exit stairway.
- 4. Close doors while exiting the building
- 5. Meet at the designated assembly point for a head count.
- 6. Do not re-enter the building until approval is given by police or fire officials.

Evacuation and Fire Drill Procedures for Individuals with Disabilities

The University of Tennessee recognizes that emergency conditions can occur at any time and no one policy can cover every emergency condition or the limitations presented by various disabilities. Individuals with disabilities will need to make decisions based upon the circumstances they are presented with at that time of each emergency.

Each individual with a disability has the responsibility to contact the Office of Disability Services (974-6087 or http://ods.utk.edu/) to register for assistance they may need in case of an emergency. In addition, they should meet with their Hall Director and Resident Advisor to communicate their disability related needs as well. Hall Directors are required by the Assistant Director of Housing Services once each semester, to identify residents with disabilities, gather necessary assistance information, and work with the Office of Disability Services in providing proper evacuation procedures for their residents.

Typically, elevators are recalled to the ground level floor and remain inactive until emergency personnel determine the building is safe to reenter. Therefore, whenever possible, individuals with mobility impairments will be assigned housing on a level from which they are able to exit without the use of the elevator and unassisted. Individuals with mobility impairments and who are assigned to floors that require the use of the elevator and/or assistance, should immediately dial 911 to report their current location and that they will move to the nearest stairwell to wait for assistance.

Prior planning and practicing of emergency evacuation routes are important in assuring a safe evacuation:

- 1. If the building alarm sounds or a general announcement for evacuation is made over the intercom, individuals with disabilities are to evacuate the building by the safest and nearest exit and follow the general procedures for emergency evacuation.
- 2. If individuals with disabilities are unable to evacuate without assistance, they should call 911, report their current location and that they will move to the nearest stairwell to wait for assistance, they should also request that any available person notify UTPD or the fire department upon their arrival to the building.
- 3. Individuals with disabilities should provide the available person with any information that may be required to assist in the evacuation process (wheelchair use and/or lift required, etc.).
- 4. In the event a fire alarm sounds, the first responding agency (UTPD or the fire department) will search out individuals with disabilities reported to be in the building and provide assistance to evacuate the building if necessary. Keep in mind, emergency personnel may be engaged in various activities that prevent assisting all individuals; each person should be responsible for their own evacuation whenever possible.
- 5. In the event of an evacuation during a non-fire emergency, the steps described above will be followed.

6. Individuals should provide a copy of their current schedules and immediately report changes to their Hall Director, Resident Advisor and UTPD. NOTE: individuals with disabilities who anticipate that they may have difficulty in evacuating any campus building should provide a copy of their current schedule as well as any updates to UTPD.

The procedures to be followed for fire drills are identical to the emergency evacuation plan in the steps described above, except that individuals with disabilities may be asked to remain in the building if the availability of evacuation personnel and/or special equipment is limited. Moving to the nearest stairwell is an acceptable safe space for individuals unable to exit the building.

Fire Safety Education and Training Programs for Students and Staff

Fire safety training and education programs are required for all staff and students. Training sessions are provided for students living in on-campus sorority houses by the university's Environmental Health and Safety department. Hall directors, assistant hall directors and resident assistants in residence halls attend training at the beginning of the fall semester on fire extinguisher use, sprinkler systems, fire drills and fire response. In addition, these individuals also receive instruction during the year for fire alarm system.

Policies related to fire safety education and training can be found in the UT Safety Manual (http://web.utk.edu/~ehss/safety%20manual/smanualaph2kj.html?&utm_source=twitter&utm_medium=social&utm_campaign=http://web.utk.edu/~ehss/safety%20manual/smanualaph2kj.html) and include the following:

Safety Policy Name	Safety Policy Number	<u>Hyperlink</u>
Safety Training	GS 25	http://web.utk.edu/~ehss/safety%20manual/smpdf/ Safety%20Training%201%205.pdf
Fire Drills	FS 5	http://web.utk.edu/~ehss/safety%20manual/smpdf/ 2013-Fire-Drills-FS5.pdf
Fire Plans	FS 1	http://web.utk.edu/~ehss/safety%20manual/smpdf/ Department-Specific%20Fire%20Plans%2010.pdf
Fire Extinguishers	FS 30	http://web.utk.edu/~ehss/safety%20manual/smpdf/ Fire%20Extinguishers%201%200.pdf

Plans for Future Improvement in Fire Safety

Sorority Village

Buildings in Sorority Village were first occupied within the past three years. No improvements are planned at this time.

Fraternity Housing

Overall on-campus fraternity residential facilities are in good condition with most having undergone a significant renovation in the past five to eight years. There are no plans at the current time to upgrade fire safety systems in the fraternities.

Residence Halls

Major changes are underway for residence halls over the next five to eight years.

- Gibbs Hall was demolished during the spring/summer of 2014. A new 700 bed residence hall will replace Gibbs Hall and should be ready for occupancy in less than two years.
- Shelburne Towers, was razed during 2014 to make way for a future residence. Construction began on two new residence halls on this site during 2015.
- Apartment Residence was vacated at the end of spring semester 2015 with demolition schedule to start late in the year.
- The most significant future change will be the demolition of the President Court Complex and construction of new residence halls. This project will take several years to complete and will involve the demolition of the following residence halls: Morrill, Humes, Reese and Carrick (North & South). In addition, Presidential Court, which serves these residential buildings, will also be razed and replaced. The new facilities that replace these residence halls will not be high-rise structures. All new residence halls will have complete automatic fire suppression (sprinkler) systems, with automatic alarms connect to Central Alarm, smoke-tight hallways, fire-rated exits and other fire code requirements. Portable fire extinguishers will be installed and maintained in accordance with National Fire Protection Association 10 ("Standard for Portable Fire Extinguishers"). Standpipes will be provided for buildings four or more stories in height. Fire safety training and drills will be conducted similar to the existing residence halls.

UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE, KNOXVILLE NON-DISCRIMINATION EEO/AA STATEMENT

All qualified applicants will receive equal consideration for employment and admissions without regard to race, color, national origin, religion, sex, pregnancy, marital status, sexual orientation, gender identity, age, physical or mental disability, or covered veteran status.

Eligibility and other terms and conditions of employment benefits at The University of Tennessee are governed by laws and regulations of the State of Tennessee, and this non-discrimination statement is intended to be consistent with those laws and regulations.

In accordance with the requirements of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, The University of Tennessee affirmatively states that it does not discriminate on the basis of race, sex, or disability in its education programs and activities, and this policy extends to employment by the University.

Inquiries and charges of violation of Title VI (race, color, and national origin), Title IX (sex), Section 504 (disability), ADA (disability), Age Discrimination in Employment Act (age), sexual orientation, or veteran status should be directed to the Office of Equity and Diversity (OED), 1840 Melrose Avenue, Knoxville, TN 37996-3560, telephone (865) 974-2498. Requests for accommodation of a disability should be directed to the ADA Coordinator at the Office of Equity and Diversity.

E01-7252-001-15

ANNUAL SECURITY AND FIRE SAFETY REPORT

APPENDIX A: CRIME STATISTICS

CRIME STATISTICS: JANUARY 1, 2014 – DECEMBER 31, 2014

	Reported to UTPD	Reported to Other Agencies 2	Reported to Non- Police	SUB- TOTAL	Reported to UTPD	Reported to Other Agencies 2	Reported to Non- Police	SUB- TOTAL	Reported to UTPD	Public Pr Reported to Other Agencies 2	Reported to Non- Police	SUB- TOTAL	GRAND TOTAL	Reported to UTPD	On-Camp Reported to Other Agencies 2	Reported to Non- Police	Section TOTAL	Unfounded Crimes**
Murder/Non-Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	3	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0
Aggravated Assault	2	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	1	0
Motor Vehicle Theft	16	0	0	16	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	5	21	0	0	0	0	3
Arson	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Burglary	12	0	0	12	2	0	1	3	0	0	0	0	15	9	0	0	9	1
Rape*	3	0	6	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	9	2	0	6	8	2
Fondling*	2	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	2	0	0	2	0
Incest*	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Statutory Rape*	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Liquor Law Arrests	107	1	0	108	0	0	0	0	35	0	0	35	143	57	0	0	57	0
Liquor Law Violations Referred for Disciplinary Referral	59	1	441	501	0	0	0	0	15	0	0	15	516	46	0	441	487	0
Drug Law Arrests	100	0	0	100	0	1	0	1	17	0	0	17	118	49	0	0	49	0
Drug Law Violations Referred for Disciplinary Referral	136	0	18	154	0	0	0	0	6	0	0	6	160	131	0	18	149	0
Illegal Weapons Possession Arrests	3	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	4	0	0	0	0	0
Illegal Weapons Possession Violations Referred for Disciplinary Referral	3	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	3	0	0	3	0
Domestic Violence***	4	2	1	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7	2	0	1	3	2
Dating Violence***	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Stalking***	12	0	4	16	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	16	4	0	1	5	0

^{*}Due to new federal mandates in reporting, institutions are required to publish sex offenses under the FBI's Uniform Crime Reporting structure.

^{**}Unfounded crimes are incidences that have been determined to be false or baseless through a formal investigation by sworn or commissioned law enforcement.

^{***}Statistics for this crime were not kept prior to 2013.

CRIME STATISTICS: JANUARY 1, 2013 – DECEMBER 31, 2013

	Ai	l On-Cam	PUS PROPER	TY	N	ON-CAMPU	s Propert	Υ		PUBLIC P	ROPERTY			On-C	CAMPUS RE	SIDENTIAL	Only
Offense	Reported to UTPD	Reported to Other Agencies	Reported to Non- Police	SUB- TOTAL	Reported to UTPD	Reported to Other Agencies	Reported to Non- Police	SUB- TOTAL	Reported to UTPD	_		SUB- TOTAL	GRAND TOTAL	Reported to UTPD	Reported to Other Agencies	Reported to Non- Police	SECTION TOTAL
Murder/Non-Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	4	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	4	0	4	8	0	0	0	0
Aggravated Assault	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	2	0	3	4	1	0	0	1
Motor Vehicle Theft	5	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	2	7	0	0	0	0
Arson	2	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	1
Burglary	42	0	0	42	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	42	20	0	0	20
Sex Offenses – Forcible (Forcible Fondling; Forcible Rape; Forcible Sodomy; or Sexual Assault with an Object)	4	0	3	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7*	4	0	1	5
Sex Offenses - Non-Forcible (Incest or Statutory Rape)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Liquor Law Arrests	125	29	0	154	0	0	0	0	30	0	0	30	184	65	24	0	89
Liquor Law Violations Referred for Disciplinary Referral	90	9	358	457	0	0	0	0	12	1	0	13	470	64	0	327	391
Drug Law Arrests	53	0	0	53	0	0	0	0	20	0	0	20	73	27	0	0	27
Drug Law Violations Referred for Disciplinary Referral	116	0	18	134	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	5	139	104	0	18	122
Illegal Weapons Possession Arrests	1	1	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	1
Illegal Weapons Possession Violations Referred for Disciplinary Referral	7	0	1	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	8	7	0	1	8
Dating Violence**	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Domestic Violence**	2	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	1
Stalking**	2	0	1	3	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	4	0	0	1	1

^{*}The breakdown of the 7 forcible sex offenses is as follows: 4 forcible rapes (all in an on-campus residence); 1 sexual assault with an object (in an on-campus residence); and 2 forcible fondlings (both on-campus; neither in an on-campus residence).

^{**}Statistics for this crime were not kept prior to 2013.

CRIME STATISTICS: JANUARY 1, 2012 – DECEMBER 31, 2012

	Aı	ll On-Cami	PUS PROPER	ГΥ	N	ION-CAMPU	S PROPERT	Υ		PUBLIC P	ROPERTY			On-C	CAMPUS RE	SIDENTIAL	Only
Offense	Reported to UTPD	Reported to Other Agencies	Reported to Non- Police	SUB- TOTAL	Reported to UTPD	Reported to Other Agencies	Reported to Non- Police	SUB- TOTAL	Reported to UTPD			SUB- TOTAL	GRAND TOTAL	Reported to UTPD	Reported to Other Agencies	Reported to Non- Police	SECTION TOTAL
Murder/Non-Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	3	0	4	5	0	0	0	0
Aggravated Assault	3	0	0	3	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	5	1	0	0	1
Motor Vehicle Theft	13	1	0	14	0	0	0	0	1	3	0	4	18	0	0	0	0
Arson	2	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0
Burglary	37	0	0	37	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	37	27	0	0	27
*Sex Offenses - Forcible (Forcible Fondling; Forcible Rape; Forcible Sodomy; or Sexual Assault with an Object)	6	0	5**	11**	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	11**	2	0	2**	4**
Sex Offenses - Non-Forcible (Incest or Statutory Rape)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Liquor Law Arrests	150	0	0	150	0	0	0	0	33	0	0	33	183	121	0	0	121
Liquor Law Violations Referred for Disciplinary Referral	144	7	508	659	0	0	0	0	18	12	0	30	689	94	7	507	608
Drug Law Arrests	15	0	0	15	0	0	0	0	8	6	0	14	29	1	0	0	1
Drug Law Violations Referred for Disciplinary Referral	140	0	21	161	0	0	0	0	1	2	0	3	164	131	0	21	152
Illegal Weapons Possession Arrests	2	1	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	3	6	0	0	0	0
Illegal Weapons Possession Violations Referred for Disciplinary Referral	9	0	0	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	9	5	0	0	5

^{*}The breakdown of the forcible sex offenses is as follows: 1 forcible rape (in an on-campus residence); 1 forcible sodomy (on-campus; not in an on-campus residence); 4 sexual assaults with an object (all on-campus; 2 in an on-campus residence); and 2 forcible fondlings (both on-campus; neither in an on-campus residence).

^{**}Three non-police reports of forcible rape in 2012 (2 on-campus, 1 on-campus residence hall) inadvertently were not included in the 2012 Crime Statistics published in the 2013 ASR and 2014 ASR. The 2012 Crime Statistics have been corrected in the 2015 ASR, and the University has submitted the revised statistics to the U.S. Department of Education.

Hate Crimes: January 1, 2014 - December 31, 2014

Crime		RA	CE			GEN	DER			Relic	SION			Gen Ident			0	Sext rient		Ň		Ethni	ICITY]	Disab	ILITY			Natio Orio		
	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP
Murder an Non- Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Forcible Sex Offenses	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Non-forcible Sex Offenses	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aggravated Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Burglary	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Motor Vehicle Theft	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Arson	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Larceny	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Vandalism/ Destruction of Property	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simple Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Intimidation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Other Crimes Involving Bodily Injury	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

OC=On Campus Property NC=Non-Campus Property PP=Public Property

RF=On-Campus Residential Facility**

^{*}Statistics for this type of hate crime were not kept prior to 2013.

^{**}Statistics for On-Campus Residential Facilities are also counted under the On-Campus Property (OC) category.

Hate Crimes: January 1, 2013 - December 31, 2013

Crime		RA	CE			GEN	DER			RELIC	GION			Gen Ident			0	Sexu rient		N		Ethni	ICITY			DISAB	BILITY			Natio Orio		
	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP
Murder an Non- Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Forcible Sex Offenses	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Non-forcible Sex Offenses	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aggravated Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Burglary	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Motor Vehicle Theft	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Arson	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Larceny	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Vandalism/ Destruction of Property	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simple Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Intimidation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Other Crimes Involving Bodily Injury	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

OC=On Campus Property NC=Non-Campus Property PP=Public Property

RF=On-Campus Residential Facility**

^{*}Statistics for this type of hate crime were not kept prior to 2013.

^{**}Statistics for On-Campus Residential Facilities are also counted under the On-Campus Property (OC) category.

Hate Crimes: January 1, 2012 - December 31, 2012

Crime		RA	CE			GEN	DER			RELIC	SION		0	Sext Prient		N		ETHN:	ICITY			Disab	ILITY	
	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP	OC	NC	RF	PP
Murder an Non- Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Negligent Manslaughter	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Forcible Sex Offenses	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Non-forcible Sex Offenses	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aggravated Assault	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Burglary	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Motor Vehicle Theft	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Arson	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Larceny	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Vandalism/ Destruction of Property	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simple Assault	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Intimidation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Other Crimes Involving Bodily Injury	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

OC=On Campus Property

PP=Public Property

NC=Non-Campus Property

RF=On-Campus Residential Facility*

^{*}Statistics for On-Campus Residential Facilities are also counted under the On-Campus Property (OC) category.

ANNUAL SECURITY AND FIRE SAFETY REPORT

APPENDIX B: FIRES IN ON-CAMPUS STUDENT HOUSING FACILITIES

		al Fires in using Faci		Ca	ause of Fir	·e	In l Tre	lumber juries t Require atment lical Fa	hat ed at a		ber of E ited to a			of Property I Caused by Fi	
Housing Facility	2012	2013	2014	2012	2013	2014	2012	2013	2014	2012	2013	2014	2012	2013	2014
Apartment Residence Hall, 2117 Andy Holt Avenue	1	0	0	Uninte ntional / Food cookin g in oven caught fire	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	0	N/A	N/A	\$0	N/A	N/A
Fred D. Brown, Jr. Hall, 1817 Andy Holt Avenue	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Carrick Hall, 1021 Francis St. (North Carrick) & 1023 Francis St. (South Carrick)	0	1 (North)	0	N/A	Uninten tional/ Electric al fire	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	0	N/A	N/A	\$100,000- \$249,999 (estimated)	N/A
Clement Hall, 1629			0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
W. Cumberland Avenue	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Gibbs Hall, 1311 Lake Loudoun Blvd.	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Hess Hall, 1720 Melrose Place	0	1	0	N/A	Intentio nal/ Poster on door set on fire	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	0	N/A	N/A	\$0	N/A
Humes Hall, 1911 Andy Holt Avenue	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Laurel Hall, 1615 Laurel Avenue	1	1	1	Uninte ntional / Candl e on stove ignited	Uninten tional/ Oven mit caught fire	Unint entio nal/ Greas e, cooki ng	0	0	0	0	0	0	\$438	\$10	\$2500

Massey Hall, 825 Volunteer Boulevard	0	0	1	N/A	N/A	Unint entio nal/ Card boar d in dum pster	N/A	N/A	0	N/A	N/A	0	N/A	N/A	\$100
Morrill Hall, 1038 20 th Street	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Reese Hall, 1910 Caledonia Street	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Volunteer Hall, 1525 White Avenue	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Alpha Gamma Rho Fraternity, 1840 Fraternity Park Dr.	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Alpha Tau Omega Fraternity, 1812 Fraternity Park Dr.	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Delta Tau Delta Fraternity, 1844 Fraternity Park Dr.	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Kappa Alpha Fraternity, 840 20 th Street	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Kappa Sigma Fraternity, 1730 Melrose Pl.	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

Lambda Chi Alpha, 1848 Fraternity Park Dr.	0	0	0	N/A											
Phi Gamma Delta Fraternity, 1836 Fraternity Park Dr.	0	0	0	N/A											
Phi Kappa Psi, 1840 Fraternity Park Dr.	0	0	0	N/A											
Phi Sigma Kappa Fraternity, 1800 Fraternity Park Dr.	0	0	0	N/A											
Pi Kappa Alpha Fraternity, 1820 Fraternity Park Dr.	0	0	0	N/A											
Pi Kappa Phi, 1828 Fraternity Park Dr.	0	0	0	N/A											
Sigma Alpha Epsilon Fraternity	0	0	0	N/A											
Sigma Chi Fraternity	0	0	0	N/A											
Sigma Nu Fraternity, 1824 Fraternity Park Dr.	0	0	0	N/A											
Sigma Phi Epsilon, 1832 Fraternity Park Dr.	0	0	0	N/A											

						I	1					1			
Alpha Chi Omega Sorority, 2919 Sorority Village Circle	0	0	0	N/A											
Alpha Delta Pi Sorority, 2621 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	0	0	0	N/A											
Alpha Omicron Pi Sorority, 2509 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	0	0	0	N/A											
Chi Omega Sorority, 2630 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	0	0	0	N/A											
Delta Delta Delta Sorority, 2620 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	0	0	0	N/A											
Delta Gamma Sorority, 2906 Sorority Village Circle	0	0	0	N/A											
Delta Zeta Sorority, 3018 Sorority Village Circle	0	0	0	N/A											

Kappa Delta Sorority, 2515 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Kappa Kappa Gamma Sorority, 3010 Sorority Village Circle	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Phi Mu Sorority, 2610 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	0	1	0	N/A	Uninten tional/Gasket on a pump overhea d and smoked	N/A	N/A	0	N/A	N/A	0	N/A	N/A	\$500	N/A
Pi Beta Phi Sorority, 3006 Sorority Village Circle	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Sigma Kappa Sorority, 2601 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Zeta Tau Alpha Sorority, 2600 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

ANNUAL SECURITY AND FIRE SAFETY REPORT

APPENDIX C: FIRE SAFETY SYSTEMS IN ON-CAMPUS STUDENT HOUSING FACILITIES

Housing Facility	FULL SPRINKLER SYSTEM ¹	SMOKE DETECTION	Fire Extinguisher Devices	EVACUATION PLANS AND PLACARDS	NUMBER OF EVACUATION (FIRE) DRILLS CONDUCTED IN 2014	FIRE ALARM SYSTEMS	OTHER FIRE CONTROL
Apartment Residence Hall, 2117 Andy Holt Avenue	√	✓	√	~	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, exterior walls, floors, roof assembly, hallways; smoke tight hallways
Fred D. Brown, Jr. Hall, 1817 Andy Holt Avenue	✓	✓	✓	✓	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, exterior walls, floors, roof assembly, hallways; smoke tight hallways
Carrick Hall, 1021 Francis St. (North Carrick) & 1023 Francis St. (South Carrick)	√	1	√	1	4	√	Fire rated stairs, exterior walls, floors, roof assembly, hallways; smoke tight hallways
Clement Hall, 1629 W. Cumberland Avenue	√	✓	√	✓	4	√	Fire rated stairs, exterior walls, floors, roof assembly, hallways; smoke tight hallways
Hess Hall, 1720 Melrose Place	√	✓	✓	✓	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, exterior walls, floors, roof assembly, hallways; smoke tight hallways
Humes Hall, 1911 Andy Holt Avenue	√	√	✓	1	4	√	Fire rated stairs, exterior walls, floors, roof assembly, hallways; smoke tight hallways
Laurel Hall, 1615 Laurel Avenue	√	√	√	1	4	√	Fire rated stairs, exterior walls, floors, roof assembly, hallways; smoke tight hallways
Massey Hall, 825 Volunteer Boulevard	√	√	√	1	4	√	Fire rated stairs, exterior walls, floors, roof assembly, hallways; smoke tight hallways
Morrill Hall, 1038 20th Street	✓	✓	✓	✓	4	√	Fire rated stairs, exterior walls, floors, roof assembly, hallways; smoke tight hallways

⁻

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ The term "full sprinkler system" is defined as having sprinklers in both the common areas and individual rooms.

HOUSING FACILITY	FULL SPRINKLER SYSTEM ¹	SMOKE DETECTION	FIRE EXTINGUISHER DEVICES	EVACUATION PLANS AND PLACARDS	NUMBER OF EVACUATION (FIRE) DRILLS CONDUCTED IN 2014	FIRE ALARM SYSTEMS	OTHER FIRE CONTROL
Reese Hall, 1910 Caledonia Street	√	√	√	1	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, exterior walls, floors, roof assembly, hallways; smoke tight hallways
Volunteer Hall, 1525 White Ave	✓	✓	✓	✓	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, exterior walls, floors, roof assembly, hallways; smoke tight hallways
Alpha Gamma Rho Fraternity, 1840 Fraternity Park Dr.	✓	✓	✓		11	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Alpha Tau Omega Fraternity, 1812 Fraternity Park Dr.	✓	√	√		8 – closed during summer	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Delta Tau Delta Fraternity, 1844 Fraternity Park Dr.	✓	√	✓		11	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Kappa Alpha Fraternity, 840 20 th Street	✓	✓	✓		11	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Kappa Sigma Fraternity, 1730 Melrose Pl.	✓	✓	√		8 - closed during summer	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Lambda Chi Alpha Fraternity, 1848 Fraternity Park Dr.	✓	✓	✓		8 – closed during summer	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Phi Gamma Delta Fraternity, 1836 Fraternity Park Dr.	✓	✓	✓		4 - closed part of year	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Phi Kappa Psi, 1840 Fraternity Park Dr.	✓	✓	✓		11	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Phi Sigma Kappa Fraternity, 1800 Fraternity Park Dr.	✓	✓	✓		8 – closed during summer	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Pi Kappa Alpha Fraternity, 1820 Fraternity Park Dr.	✓	√	✓		11	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Pi Kappa Phi, 1828 Fraternity Park Dr.	✓	√	✓		0 – house vacant during year	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Sigma Alpha Epsilon Fraternity 1808 Fraternity Park Drive	√	✓	✓		11	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways

Housing Facility	FULL SPRINKLER SYSTEM ¹	SMOKE DETECTION	FIRE Extinguisher Devices	EVACUATION PLANS AND PLACARDS	NUMBER OF EVACUATION (FIRE) DRILLS CONDUCTED IN 2014	FIRE ALARM SYSTEMS	OTHER FIRE CONTROL
Sigma Chi Fraternity 1816 Fraternity Park Dr	✓	✓	✓		11	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Sigma Nu Fraternity, 1824 Fraternity Park Dr.	✓	√	√		8 - closed during summer	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Sigma Phi Epsilon, 1832 Fraternity Park Dr.	✓	✓	✓		11	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Alpha Chi Omega Sorority, 2919 Sorority Village Circle	<	✓	✓	✓	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Alpha Delta Pi Sorority, 2621 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	✓	√	✓	✓	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Alpha Omicron Pi Sorority, 2509 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	√	✓	✓	✓	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Chi Omega Sorority, 2630 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	✓	✓	✓	✓	2 -opened fall semester	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Delta Delta Delta Sorority, 2620 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	√	✓	✓	✓	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Delta Gamma Sorority, 2906 Sorority Village Circle	*	✓	✓	✓	2 – opened fall semester	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Delta Zeta Sorority, 3018 Sorority Village Circle	✓	√	✓	✓	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Kappa Delta Sorority, 2515 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	✓	√	✓	✓	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Kappa Kappa Gamma Sorority, 3010 Sorority Village Circle	✓	✓	✓	✓	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Phi Mu Sorority, 2610 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	√	√	✓	✓	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Pi Beta Phi Sorority, 3006 Sorority Village Circle	√	✓	✓	✓	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways
Sigma Kappa Sorority, 2601 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	✓	✓	✓	√	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways

Housing Facility	FULL SPRINKLER SYSTEM ¹	SMOKE DETECTION	FIRE EXTINGUISHER DEVICES	EVACUATION PLANS AND PLACARDS	NUMBER OF EVACUATION (FIRE) DRILLS CONDUCTED IN 2014	FIRE ALARM SYSTEMS	OTHER FIRE CONTROL
Zeta Tau Alpha Sorority, 2600 Ann Baker Furrow Blvd.	✓	✓	✓	✓	4	✓	Fire rated stairs, smoke-tight hallways

APPENDIX D: CRIME PREVENTION AND SECURITY AWARENESS PROGRAMS CONDUCTED BY UNIVERSITY HOUSING DISVISION OF STUDENT LIFE IN 2014

Date of Program	Time of Program	Residence	Program Title	Objective	Participation Scope	Program Description
2014-11-25	08:30 pm	North Carrick Hall	Sex, Lets Taco Bout It	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	This program is aimed to provide residents of North Carrick Hall tips regarding safer sex as well as other sex education information. This information is intended to educate residents about STD and STI's and how to identify them and ways to seek resources to help them.
2014-11-20	08:30 pm	Fred D. Brown Jr. Hall	Sex in the Dark	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	Sex in the dark is a way for residents with questions about sex to get them answered in a safe and anonymous environment. They can ask anything without fear and residents assistants or professionals will answer. Treats are also provided.
2014-11-20	08:30 pm	Morrill Hall	Are you finished already?sex ed	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	SEAT and Planned Parenthood come to talk to our residents about healthy relationships and safe sex.
2014-11-24	06:00 pm	Humes Hall	#volshelpvols	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	3. Inter-hall	The Vols 2 Vols WMPR program. Vols 2 Vols talk about healthy relationships. Pizza provided.
2014-11-04	07:00 pm	Fred D. Brown Jr. Hall	Ask A Cop Night	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	Ask a cop what ever they wanted to. Pizza rolls provided as a snack.

2014-11-18	06:30 pm	Apartment Residence Hall	Damsels in De- stress	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Hot tea, chocolates, and make- your-own bath salts to emphasize the importance of stress relief, especially with finals just around the corner.
2014-11-06	05:00 pm	Laurel Residence Hall	Practice Safe Sex	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	The health and safety lifestyles committee will be handing out condoms and offer brochures about safe sex. The pamplets and the contraceptives will be picked up at the student health clinic. This is a great chance for numerous people to come by the booth in front of the main lobby. We hope to educate residents about safe sex and provide them with adequate contraceptives.
2014-10-31	07:15 pm	Reese Hall	Get Treats, but don't get Tricked	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Inform residents about the dangers of theft in the residence halls while handing out candy to convince them to start locking their doors all of the time. Informational sheets of paper provided that list theft facts on campus and candy. Our goal is for residents to realize the dangers of leaving their door unlocked and begin to lock them 100% of the time when they leave their room.

				6. Safe and Healthy		With Halloween coming up, teach residents about alcohol safety and awareness. PowerPoint presentation and hand-outs regarding alcohol and the dangers of drinking it. After that discussion, we will invite the residents to vote on a scary Halloween movie to watch in the study room to celebrate Halloween coming up the next
2014-10-30	08:30 pm	Hess Hall	Scary Movie Night	•	2. Hall	day.
2014-10-31	10:00 am	Fred D. Brown Jr. Hall		6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Free candy and condoms for residents and anyone else and posted sex and alcohol facts on to education the residents about safe sex and other things before they go out on Halloween
				·		UTPD presents on types of alcohol
			UTPD: Alcohol	6. Safe and Healthy		and their effects with the drunk
2014-10-28	07:30 pm	North Carrick Hall	Awareness	Lifestyles	3. Inter-hall	goggles.

2014-11-05	05:00 pm	Fred D. Brown Jr. Hall	Drunk Mario Kart	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	This program addresses the dangers associated with excessive drinking and brings awareness to hazards of driving while impaired. This is an interactive community builder that utilizes a Nintendo Wii's Mario Kart as a driving simulator, as well as "drunk" goggles to imitate intoxication and drunk driving. At the program we will have drinks and chips.
2014-10-29	05:30 pm	South Carrick Hall	Take Back the Night	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	5. Campus	Participatation in Take Back the Night as it is empowering and relevant for all women. This event aims at spreading awareness and increasing education on sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence and sexual abuse in order to empower women to engage in healthy relationships or seek help if you're in an unhealthy relationships. The night includes a silent march followed by a presentation. It's an important event worth checking out.

2014-10-28	07:30 pm	North Carrick Hall	UTPD Alcohol Awareness	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	A program with UTPD to inform residents on alcohol awareness. UTPD will come in and teach residents about different types of alcohol and their effects on humans. Then, UTPD provides drunk goggles so that residents can play Mario Kart and toss around balls with the goggles on. Overall, the program is a lot of fun and it teaches residents a great deal about alcohol and its effects. We will provide doughnuts and coffee for the residents/officers.
2014-10-30	07:00 pm	Humes Hall	Healthy Relationships	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	Facilitated by Vols 2 Vols Peer Educators talking about Healthy relationship amongst friends, family, and romantic partners. This CB will be interactive, discussion based, and fun! Residents will participate in discussion and play games that will challenge them to think about interactions, communication, and red flags in any kind of relationship. Snacks/Treats may be provided.

						Particiaption in Take Back the Night as women the topics of sexual abuse and domestic violence are great topics to become educated on. This event helps bring out the compassionate side in people and helps them bring things into focus. Posters in the lobby so any women can make for the silent march on Pedestrian Walkway and then walk together and experience the march, guest speaker and speak out session after. Posters in
			Taka Daak tha	C Safa and Haalthy		march, guest speaker and speak out session after. Posters in Humes will bring in other
2014-10-29	04:00 pm	Humes Hall	Take Back the Night	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	5. Campus	residents and is a great way to build community.

				6. Safe and Healthy		Residents will be invited to write any questions they have regarding sex health and sexuality and questions answered with honestly and helpful information. An expert from the student health center will answer more technical questions and overall help to promote sex positivity and healthy living choices. Advertising on the floor, and providing condoms for residents to take if they'd like. When everyone is in the room we will turn off the lights and give residents glow sticks that they can raise if they'd like to provide an answer or ask a question. We will also be giving away some candy.
2014-10-21	07:00 am	Hess Hall	Sex in the Dark	Lifestyles	1. Floor	
2014-10-13	07:00 pm	Morrill Hall	Puff Puff Pass	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	3. Inter-hall	UTPD is coming to do a program about drugs awareness. This program will be awesome for our residents so they can be aware of the the repercussions of decisions they could potentially make. It will allow them to have an open discussion with officers and fellow peers. A great time of interaction.

						A representative from Vols Help Vols to talk to both female floors about health, wellness, and safety around campus.
						Baked goodies, as well as movies, games, nail painting, and face masks provided.
						Starting at 9:30, and it will
			Girls Night In-	6. Safe and Healthy		continue to till the event is
2014-10-14	09:30 pm	Morrill Hall	formation	Lifestyles	2. Hall	finished.
2014-10-22	07:00 pm	Humes Hall	UTPD Self Defense	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	3. Inter-hall	UTPD is coming to inform the residents on ways that they can stay safe on campus with the recent emails that have been going around.
2014 10 22	07.00 pm	Traines train	Deterise	Litestyles	J. IIICI IIdii	going around.
2014-10-30	07:00 am	Humes Hall	Healthy Relationships	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	This CB will be facilitated by Vols 2 Vols Peer Educators talking about healthy relationships. Residents will be encouraged to start discussions and play games having to do with healthy family, friend and romantic relationships. There will also be snacks to encourage everyone to come!

						With 75% girls on the floors they will combine to do a Girls Night/Women's Health and Safety program. A Vols Help Vols Ambassador will come to present and make the program fun and interactive with a movie night, desserts, and potentially a game or some other interactive element.
						Having the program the Tuesday before fall break will encourage good attendance and the residents that come will not be stressed out.
2014-10-14	09:28 pm	Morrill Hall	Girls Night In- formation	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	The topic is relevant due to this semester's awareness of sexual assault on campus.
2014-10-29	06:00 pm	Morrill Hall	UTPD Alcohol Awareness	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	UTPD will come to promote alcohol awareness though Mario Kart wii.

2014-10-15	04:30 pm	Humes Hall	Key-Chains & Safety!	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	We will be making key chains out of jenga blocks, and decorating them with fun colorful paper. Cut outs for important phone numbers (UTPD, T-link) to add to their keychains, and have phone numbers handy! We will also talk about what to do in certain potentially dangerous situations, and what UT is doing to make sure that students are safe!
2014-10-04	03:00 pm	Volunteer Hall	Alcohol Awarenes	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	Hand out bottled water to residents who are going to the game. or to any pre-game festivities, or anyone wanting water. Encourage drinking water before consuming alcohol or being outside in the sun for long periods of time is one of the best ways to drink responsibly and/or stay hydrated depending on what they are going to do for the game.
2014-10-22	07:00 pm	Morrill Hall	S.A.F.E.	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	Ladies will learn how to protect themselves if they are sexually assaulted. They will receive handson training from UTPD. This event serves as an introductory class to UTPD's R.A.D. class.

						and Education will be coming in to share information regarding their service and provide educational programming about staying safe while participating in consensual coitus. Education in the proper way to put on a condom and share the risks of promiscuous sexual behavior.
						A member of the SEAT will visit the program to share how residents can get involved with their activities and share the events that they have coming up. Stress the risks of sexual assault because since we are still in the Red Zone, the time when both male and female college students are most at risk of sexual assault. Cupcakes provided.
2014-10-08	08:30 pm	Morrill Hall	Cakes and Consensual Coitus	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	
2014-09-24	06:30 pm	Reese Hall	Mandatory Floor Meeting	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	A mandatory hall meeting in the West Area multipurpose room to discuss the marijuana problem our floor has been having.

2014-09-10	09:00 pm	Fred D. Brown Jr. Hall	Manis & Mocktails	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	Manis and Mocktails is a "party atmosphere awareness" program. At this event, there are virgin "mocktail" drinks, we will be playing music, and tables set up so that girls can paint their nails. We also provided nail polish if they do not want to bring their own. This event is informative so while they are at the program, the RA's will go around slipping tictacs into their cups to show how easy it can be.
2014-09-25	08:00 pm	Morrill Hall	Qudditch Pong with UTPD	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Quidditch Pong table for a Harry Potter theme to bring in the subject of alcohol awareness and safety. UTPD is also coming and bringing Mario Kart and drunk goggles. Pizza provided.
2014-09-24	08:30 am	Fred D. Brown Jr. Hall	Hookah Night	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	3. Inter-hall	This is a program to hang out and be social but also detail what harmful affects habitual cigarette and other smoking can do. We will all travel together to the strip and smoke hookah and then we will provide the residents that participate with the facts we gather about its affects.

2014-09-22	07:00 pm	South Carrick Hall	Take a Shot For Me	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	Shots (cups of soda) provided for the ladies and each had a number on it linking it to "what they did that night". Additionally, if the shot had a skittle in it the student was roofied. This was all to make the student aware that this can happen to anyone being roofied and sexually assaulted.
2014-09-17	07:00 pm	North Carrick Hall	UTPD Alcohol Awareness	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	A guest speaker spoke about hazing and greek life. Afterwards, UTPD brought Mario Kart and drunk goggles and residents took turns playing and also attempted to play ping pong with drunk goggles on.
2014-09-24	06:00 pm	Massey Hall	Mario Krash Kart	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	UTPD to speak about the effects of driving including drunk driving. Pizza rolls and advertising for his floor provided.
2014-09-26	06:00 pm	Apartment Residence Hall	Consent Key- Chains and Cookies	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Residents will decorate key-chains while learning about consent and why they've been recently been getting notified about the sexual assaults on campus so much.

						Amy from the Student Health Center is coming to speak about sexual assault prevention. She is an expert as this is her position and talks to groups about sexual violence. This is a perfect time to bring about this discussion as sexual violence is becoming a more discussed topic. Informing the student population about
			Sexual Health			sexual assaults brings awareness that it is more common than they would think. The "Red zone" of sexual violence is from the beginning of the semester until Thanksgiving. This is a great program for residents to join the
2014-09-17	07:00 pm	Laurel Residence Hall	with Health center	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	3. Inter-hall	conversation and know what they can do to protect themselves.

						Due to the recent number of sexual assaults on campus, a few of us have decided to come together and come up with an program in which we attempt to educate our girls about the ways in which they can protect
2014-09-17	07:00 pm	Laurel Residence Hall	"Indecision Does Not Mean Yes"	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	themselves when dealing with this subject. We will be using material from the Center for Health and Wellness to present findings to our girls.
2014-09-10	09:00 am	Fred D. Brown Jr. Hall	Mani's and Mocktails	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	We will be teaching the girls of Brown Hall about alcohol awareness while mixing non alcoholic drinks and doing manicures.
2014-09-11	07:00 pm	Massey Hall	A Few More than A few Good Men: Jackson Katz	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	A gathering to see Jackson Katz. This is an important event to go toespecially with all the assaults happening on campus. Dinner afterwards. Flyers posted.

2014-09-10	05:00 pm	Volunteer Hall	Operation Identification	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	In cooperation with UTPD, this program will offer residents an opportunity to register their electronic devices with the university police department. As a preventative measure, this will put their items into a registry to increase the odds of retrieving stolen items that end up being sold to pawn shops or lost. Given there is no absolute end to stopping theftbut we can all take a stance against it.
2014-09-11	08:00 pm	Volunteer Hall	More than a few good men		1. Floor	Dr. Katz , a famous Ted talk speaker will be discussing sexual assault from a mans perspective. This presentation is hosted by the women's council. This presentation will be beneficial to all females on the floor because of the college environment we are in. This discussion is important to address sexual assault campus, specifically UT.

2014-09-11	07:30 pm	Humes Hall	Girls Night In	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Informal extension of GNO with a "make your own parfait" bar with fruit and yogurt. Dialogue about safety, consent, etc. in a casual setting. A discussion atosphere. This will give a better idea of how they're feeling given some recent events that have made a lot of them feel uneasy.
2014-09-22	07:00 pm	Massey Hall	Mario Cart Madness	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Have UTPD come in and tell students about not drinking and driving. They will bring drunk goggles and have the students play Mario cart to experience what it is like to drink and drive and hopefully it will encourage them not to.
2014-09-02	07:00 pm	Fred D. Brown Jr. Hall	SAFE	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	UTPD to teach their SAFE class to our residents. Provide knowledgable about the hazards of a college campus or how to conduct themselves safely. The SAFE class is a one-hour self-defense class that is a hands-on way for women to get practice in basic self-defense practices.

2014-08-28	07:00 pm	Hess Hall	Operation Identification	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	UTPD tagged/engraved electronic devices through UTPD's Operation Identification initiative. The Operation Identification Program is a part of UTPD's Community Relations Unit, and helps people reunite with their lost/stolen devices. Pizza provided.
2014-09-04	07:00 pm	Humes Hall	GNO - Girls Night Out	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	Teaching the residents of Humes safety tips when they have girls night out. Elevator trivia, non-alcoholic jello shots in the lobby, and GNO quick tips and facts.
2014-09-08	06:00 pm	North Carrick Hall	Drunk Water Balloon Toss	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	This program is designed to help residents learn about alcohol awareness as well as to challenge their perception of what it is like to be under the influence of alcohol. This water balloon toss activity will prove as a useful simulation that will help them understand how alcohol effects their vision and depth perception.

2014-09-09	07:30 pm	Morrill Hall	I(ce) s(cream) during sex	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Facilitated by the Center for Health Education and Wellness. This program offers an interactive and engaging discussion about sexually transmitted infections, safer sex, and types of contraception in a friendly environment. The session focuses on empowering students to make well rounded and healthier decisions regarding their sexual health. Ice cream provided.
2014-09-04	06:00 pm	Fred D. Brown Jr. Hall		6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	The standard UTPD Alcohol awareness 'party' with water pong and Wii MarioKarts.
2014-09-04	07:00 pm	Humes Hall	Mocktails	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	In this CB, we will provide mocktails for the ladies of Humes Hall while also providing tips about healthy/safe alcohol use. This will be a come/go over the time span of 2 hours. Food & activities may be provided for the ladies to participate in (to ease any awkwardness they may be feeling). This is a hall wide collaboration.

2014-08-27	07:00 am	Reese Hall	Don't Drink & Drive	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	"Root beer pong" with Mario Kart. Both activities will require 2 pairs of drunk goggles. UTPD is coming to talk about the dangers of binge drinking, interactive games correlate with this topic.
2014-09-03	07:00 pm	Morrill Hall	Operation Identification	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	UTPD will come and do their Operation Identifcation program where residents bring valuable items to get ID'd, making it easier to track if it was ever stolen.
2014-08-27	04:00 pm	Humes Hall	Operation Identification	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	UTPD to come so residents may register their electronic devices with them.

2014-08-27	07:00 pm	Humes Hall	Healthy Relationships with the S.E.E Center	h 6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	This program will be in conjunction with the Center of Health Education and Wellness on campus to introduce new information and educate about what traits should often be present within Healthy Relationships. A representative from the Center of Health Education and Wellness will speak on the topic with participants. The program will be held in the upstairs loft on August 27th at 7:00pm. The loft is a good environment with comfortable seating as well as access to the television if there are any videos or computer projections.
2014-08-26	06:30 pm	Massey Hall	S.A.F.E	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	UTPD officers to come and teach an hour long women's self-defense course. It will start at 6:30. Aimed for residents to feel safer around campus after having this training, and a good educational and bonding experience.

						A program with UTPD for Sep. 17, 2014 at 7PM. This will be an hour long program in the WMPR. Residents will be able to attend and learn self-defense skills from a UTPD representative. The skills will include how to protect
2014-09-17	06:00 pm	Humes Hall	S.A.F.E.	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	3. Inter-hall	oneself from attempts at theft, sexual assault, kidnapping, etc.
2014-09-14	07:00 pm	Massey Hall	Jello Shot and Movies	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	Students will be provided with non-alcoholic jello shots with statistics pertaining to the negative effects of alcohol and the youth. The night will be continued with a non-related movie that will be found on movies.utk.edu
2014-04-23	08:00 pm	, Hess Hall	Hammer Time	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	A sex in the dark style program with some possible sex trivia also. Food and condoms provided to promote sexual health.
2014-04-20	07:00 pm	Hess Hall	Plant-n-Paint	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Earth day program on the roof. D ecorating pots with paint and putting flowers and dirt in the pots. It will act as a sort of parting gift to theparticipants. Discussions about Earth day and ways in which we can conserve resources and energy.

2014-04-28	08:00 pm	Humes Hall	Spa Night!	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	A consultant from Arbonne, which is an all-natural product will teach prticipants about their skin and how to take care of it, all in the form of a spa party! Making stressballs and study tips may be provided.
2014-04-23	08:00 pm	Hess Hall	Hammer Time	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Combination of "Sex in the Dark" program with some sex trivia for prizes. Snacks provided and residents will be asked to submit questions for the "Sex in the Dark" part when they walk in. Lights will be turned off and questions read to each respective group (male or female). Once we are done with the questions, we will move on to trivia.
2014-04-16	06:30 pm	Apartment Residence Hall	UTPD alcohol awareness	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	UTPD to do their alcohol awareness program. Activities like drunk goggle Mario cart may be provided. Aimed to remind residents about alcohol safety as it gets warmer and before summer starts.

						A UTPD officer will come to teach a 1 hour interactive course on women's self-defense, also known as S.A.F.E.
						The course will cover basic defense maneuvers, crime-victim prevention methods, and other strategies to prevent violent crimes against women and recognize the signs.
						Participants will sign up on the poster if they can commit to coming.
						-Light snacks and refreshments will be provided -Lemonade - \$2 -Cheez-its/pretzels \$3
2014-04-21	07:00 pm	Morrill Hall	UTPD Teaches Self-Defense	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	-alternative date: Friday, April 25th @ 7pm
			Cookies and	6. Safe and Healthy		Representative from Vols-2-Vols through the S.E.E. Center on campus to come and speak about sexual health. A large assortment of condoms and a demonstration the differences between each provided. The discussion will be opened to the group to ask any questions they have. Cookies
2014-03-26	08:15 am	South Carrick Hall	Condoms	Lifestyles	1. Floor	provided.

2014-03-27	07:00 pm	Massey Hall	Mario Kart: Drun Driving	k 6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	UTPD will be coming and presenting drunk goggles and letting residents play Mario Kart. This will represent drinking and driving.
2014-03-31	08:30 pm	Apartment Residence Hall	Jenga Keychains	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Jenga blocks provided for residents to decorate as keychains. They will be able to cover them with scrapbook paper, paint, and modge podge. Small pieces of paper provided with UTPD numbers so they can be sure to have the number with them. Discussions about the blue lights, UTPD numbers, campus safety, etc. while keeping it fun by decorating the keychains.

						The focus of this program will be
						alcohol and how people can be
						fooled by what they are drinking
						and underage drinking. Games of
						"water pong" to immitate a party
						setting then Chief Lane will come
						to act like he is busting the party.
						If your cup has a certain color
						then that means you are under 21
						and Chief Lane will proceed to
						write them a citation. There will
						be no alcohol during this program
						and Chief Lane is not really going
						to write people up. After he
						"cites" these certain people he is
						going to talk to us briefly about
				6. Safe and Healthy		how this occurs alot on college
2014-03-30	09:00 pm	Hess Hall	Alcohol Surprise	Lifestyles	1. Floor	campuses.
						We are having vols 2 vols come in
			Cookies and	6. Safe and Healthy		and speak to the ladies about
2014-03-26	08:00 pm	South Carrick Hall	Condoms	Lifestyles	1. Floor	safer sex.

						To raise awareness of the things that could happen when one goes out with friends for a good time, this is a hosted program with virgin margaritas. On their cups, there will be taped scenarios that go along with the cup they grab. Participants are asked if they
2014-03-27	08:00 pm	South Carrick Hall	Happy Hour	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	would drink it or not, if they would then why and then tell them the consequence of their choice. Yummy non-alcoholic margaritas while learning the do's and do nots when going out!
2014-03-26	07:30 pm	Morrill Hall	UTPD Alcohol Awareness	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	UTPD will be coming to do the Mario Kart alcohol awareness program after Spring Break.
2014-03-11	07:00 pm	Hess Hall	CondomON!	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	3. Inter-hall	With assistance from the SEE Center we will be discussing sexual health and being safe for life and right before Spring Break.
2014-03-25	02:00 pm	Apartment Residence Hall	Identification UT Police	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	UT police will come and use their identification system to help our students become safer with there items.
2014-03-12	06:00 pm	Massey Hall	RAD Class	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	This will be self-defense program for the ladies of Massey hosted by UTPD.

						Teach residents about how to make safe choices regarding alcohol and personal safety while away on spring break. This will include games and scenarios that give statistics and tips for being aware and cautious of your environment and others around you while in unfamiliar settings. Topics covered will include "date
2014-03-12	08:00 pm	Morrill Hall	Spring Break Safety	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	, 3. Inter-hall	rape" drugs, alcohol, and sexual health.

				6. Safe and Healthy		Residents will go on a brief scavenger hunt around Humes. In each spot, they will find a fact related to alcohol and/or drugs. They will have a questionnaire sheet with them on their scavenger hunt, and at each stop, they will be required to answer questions about the fact. They end on the roof when finished and will receive a smoothie for completing the questionnaire (the questionnaire ensures they actually read the facts). Some smoothies will have an "x" on the bottom of the cup, and these smoothies are the ones that have been "drugged". As residents are drinking their smoothie, participants will look on the bottom of their cup, and we will explain how easy it is for strangers or someone familiar to slip something in a drink before giving it to someone.
2014-03-13	06:30 pm	Humes Hall	Smooth Sailing	Lifestyles	2. Hall	

2014-03-10	07:00 pm	Massey Hall	Mocktail Hour	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Mocktails provided for residents while going over alcohol safety facts. Small finger foods provided, residents asked to bring something small to contribute. Non-alcoholic pina coladas and strawberry daiquiris. We will discuss healthy drinking habits and ways to stay safe on spring break, as well as enjoying finger foods and mocktails!
2014-02-06	07:00 pm	Clement Hall	Tough Love	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	The purpose of this program was to educate women on how to properly defend themselves in the unlikely event of an emergency.
2014-03-05	07:00 pm	Massey Hall	Soda Pong Alcohol Awareness	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Teach residents alcohol awareness tips while playing soda pong. This will provide a fun and educational aspect to helping them prepare for spring break. Hosted in the elevator lobby for more resident participation. In order for them to take a throw, they will have to answer a true/false question concerning alcohol.
2014-03-05		Reese Hall	Corndogs and Condoms!	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	Sex Ed with condoms and corn dogs provided!

2014-03-05	08:00 pm	Massey Hall	Cinco de Marcho	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	3. Inter-hall	This program is designed to bring about awareness of alcohol use and expose certain facts about alcohol.
2014-02-27 2014-03-05	06:30 pm 08:00 pm	Morrill Hall Massey Hall	Alcohol Safety with UTPD Cinco de Marzo	6. Safe and HealthyLifestyles6. Safe and HealthyLifestyles	1. Floor 2. Hall	UTPD will present on alcohol safety and awareness. They will bring "drunk goggles" and Mario Kart to simulate drunk driving. This is a POD Program promoting alcohol awareness.
2014-03-05	09:00 pm	Hess Hall	Sex in the Dark	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	In honor of Sex Week, a sex panel will answer any questions the residents may have. The dynamics of a healthy relationship will also be discussed. There will be two jars, one for the ladies and one for the men. They will write down their questions and place them in a jar. Then the ladies will pull a question from the men's jar and answer the question and vice versa. This will all be done in the dark to keep anonymity. Finger foods will be served after.
2014-02-28	03:00 pm	Laurel Residence Hall	Cookies and Condoms	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Hand out cookies and condoms and teach residents about how to have safe sex and teach about STD's.

2014-03-05	07:00 pm	Reese Hall	Corndawgs and Condoms	Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	We will have corndogs to eat and will be putting on a presentation about safe sex. We will also have a playdoh molding competition and will be giving out condoms.
				,	· ·	Sex and Seafood is a POD program. Students will come
						down and enjoy seafood while
						listening to Mrs. Rosa from the S.E.E Center speak on healthy
						sexual lifestyles.
				6. Safe and Healthy	- · · · · ·	Mrs. Rosa will speak and have
2014-02-26	06:30 pm	Massey Hall	Sex and Seafood	Lifestyles	2. Hall	things to give to residents.

						A box or a folder will be available
						for people to anonymously ask
						any questions they have about sex
						or anything they have heard and
						don't know if it's true or not. The
						box will be out from Monday until
						Wednesday. Wednesday night
						through Thursday the questions
						will go to the SEE center and the
						Student Health Center and try and
						get all of the questions answered
						factually. Thursday the questions
						will go to the program and read
						aloud (or have residents draw
						them from the box and read
						them) and then ask people to
						discuss what the answer to the
						question is or if they think the
			Let's Talk About	6. Safe and Healthy		statement is true or not. The
2014-02-27	08:00 pm	Massey Hall	Sex	Lifestyles	1. Floor	answer will then be provided.
						The event is going through the UT
						Outdoor Program Office. A five
						hour trip to Max patch farms to
						view the stars at a low light-
						pollution area. The cost of the trip
						is \$5 per person and that cost will
			Hamana H.C. AA	C Cafe and Haalth		be paid for by the General LLC
2014 02 20	05.00	Morrill Hall		6. Safe and Healthy	2 Inton ball	Budget at a limit of 30 Honors LLC
2014-03-28	05:00 pm	Morrill Hall	Patch	Lifestyles	3. Inter-hall	members.

2014-02-25	09:00 pm	Apartment Residence Hall	Elevator Suprise!	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	The committee will surprise the residents in the elevator, and quiz them on different safe sex topics in hopes to make them aware of the consequences of unsafe sex. Hosted like cash cab awarding various prizes as they answer questions correctly until they reach their destination.
2014-02-28	07:00 pm	Apartment Residence Hall	Safe Sex and Tats	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	With spring break quickly approaching this program will discuss how to be as safe as possible when receiving tattoos and engaging in sexual activities. Discussion on how to best prevent STD's and pregnancy along with how to get the best tattoos while preventing infection and disease. Chips and salsa provided. Condoms may be provided.
2014-02-24	08:00 pm	Apartment Residence Hall	Sex and Candy	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	sexual health to people who ride the elevator and rewarding them with candy.

RAD class is an event open for the
females in Massey to learn about
personal safety. This is especially
important with spring break
coming upon us and many will be
traveling to new places. This
information can also be applied in
everyday life. We will be providing
food for the participants.

						Discussions on the various drugs that are popular right now and the various negative effects they can have on the body. Different types of candy, mixed together in a bowl. Each type of candy will represent a different prescription drug, and it will imitate a "pharm party", which is when people mix prescription drugs together in a bowl and take them. There will be a teaching moment after each type of drug is taken, and will lead to discussing the negative effects of pharmaceutical drugs as well. After discussing each and the negative effects, we will watch 21 Jump Street and stop it whenever drugs appear and discuss ways that we could avoid using the drugs in the various situations that the main characters find themselves in throughout the film.
2014-02-25	09:30 pm	Hess Hall	21 Drug Street	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	

						A UTPD officer will teach a one hour self-defense course tailored specifically for women. The reasoning behind being able to defend yourself and ability to keep a level head in crisis situation will be explained. Light snacks and refreshments will be provided.
2014-02-27	08:00 pm	Morrill Hall	UTPD Teaches Self-Defense (Girls Only!)	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	A sign up sheet will be going around to determine how residents will attend
2014-02-27	08:00 pm	Morrill Hall	Cookies and Condoms	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	A Cookies and Condoms program inviting the buddy 10th Floor. A time to enjoy cookies, get free condoms and other sexual health supplies while playing sex bingo learning about safe and healthy lifestyles.
2014-02-11	07:00 pm	South Carrick Hall	Sexual Health and Healthy Relationships	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	3. Inter-hall	The 3rd and 10th floor ladies have the opportunity to learn about Sexual Health and Healthy Relationships from the Vols 2 Vols group. We hope that our residents become informed about any topics dealing with sex and healthy relationships. Afterwards, everyone can enjoy popsicles!

2014-02-10	07:00 pm	South Carrick Hall	Healthy Relationships/Sex Education Program	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	Amy from the Student Health Center is coming to talk to residents about safe sex and healthy relationships.
						Movie night and trivia. Candies, cupcakes, and sweets provided. The movie is He's Just not that Into You. After, we will have trivia and the winner will get a gift card to a movie theater.
2014-02-09	08:00 pm	Reese Hall	The Do's and Don'ts of Dating	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	3. Inter-hall	Also we will provide pamphlets and brochures from the SEE center on healthy sex and healthy relationships.

						We will be watching "He's Just Not that into You" and then having an open discussion about healthy relationships. We will have ten healthy and ten unhealthy characteristics found in relationships to focus on.
						There will also be food (cupcakes, veggie platter, fruit platter, etc.).
						We will also have pamphlets and other information available for residents from the SEE center concerning healthy relationships/sexual health.
2014-02-09	00:00 nm	Humes Hall	The Do's and Don'ts of Dating	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	3. Inter-hall	
2014-02-09	08:00 pm	numes nam	Don is of Dating	Lifestyles	3. Inter-nan	
2014-02-13	07:00 pm	Apartment Residence Hall	Sex and Cookies	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	1. Floor	Rosa Thomas will come to talk about Sex and STD Awareness. Decorations and baked heartshaped sugar cookies provided.
2014-02-06	07:00 pm	Clement Hall	Tough Love Self Defense Program	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	UTPD will be coming to teach the women of Clement a Self Defense and Awareness program.
2014-03-05	08:00 pm	Massey Hall	Cinco de Marzo	6. Safe and Healthy Lifestyles	2. Hall	Cinco de Marzo is an alcohol awareness and Spring Break safety program featuring delicious Mexican food.

						Residents secure their belongings
						by registering them with UTPD to
			Operation	6. Safe and Healthy		aid in finding their belonging in
2014-01-13	05:30 pm	Clement Hall	Identification	Lifestyles	2. Hall	the event they are stolen.
				6. Safe and Healthy		UTPD will be coming to address
2014-01-21	05:00 pm	Volunteer Hall	UTPD Safety Blitz	Lifestyles	2. Hall	safety concerns.
						A guest speaker to speak to our
						floors about safe sex practices
						with a safe sex trivia. We will
			Let's Talk About	6. Safe and Healthy		organize the lobby in a fashion
2014-01-22	07:00 pm	Hess Hall	Sex	Lifestyles	3. Inter-hall	that will resemble a lecture hall.
						A representative from a local
						tattoo/piercing will give a short
						lecture on tattoo and piercing
						safety, how it works, and how to care for them with time for
						questions at the end. Temporary
						tattoos provided so you can 'get
			New Year- New	C Cafa and Haaltha		inked' while you are there!
2014-01-23	07:20 ::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::	Courth Countal Hall	You: Tattoo and	6. Safe and Healthy	2. Hall	inked wille you are there:
2014-01-23	07:30 pm	South Carrick Hall	Operation	Lifestyles 6. Safe and Healthy	Z. ΠdII	Getting UTPD to come in and
2014-01-13	05:30 pm	Clement Hall	Identification	Lifestyles	2. Hall	inscribe resident's property.
2014-01-13	υσ.συ μπ	Clement Han	identification	Lifestyles	2. 11011	inscribe resident's property.
						In lieu of the special love day, a
				6. Safe and Healthy		get together to learn about safe
2014-02-11	07:00 pm	South Carrick Hall	Let's talk about it	Lifestyles	1. Floor	sex from a sex educator, Vols2vols
	•			•		·

The Ugly Truth is a CB facilitated by Vols 2 Vols discussing healthy relationships and sexual health. Students will learn about STD's, unplanned pregnancy, and contraception as well as elements of a healthy relationship. This CB will be both educational as well as interactive. Participants will be well informed but not bored with the information provided. We will also discuss the "ugly truth" of myths and bad advice when it comes to dating and sexual encounters. 2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on 12014-01-01 lifestyles 2. Hall property protection labels on 12014-01-01 lifestyles 2. Hall property protection labels on 12014-01-01 lifestyles 2. Hall lifestyles 2. Hall lifestyles 0. Hal							
relationships and sexual health. Students will learn about STD's, unplanned pregnancy, and contraception as well as elements of a healthy relationship. This CB will be both educational as well as interactive. Participants will be well informed but not bored with the information provided. We will also discuss the "ugly truth" of myths and bad advice when it comes to dating and sexual encounters. 2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							.
Students will learn about STD's, unplanned pregnancy, and contraception as well as elements of a healthy relationship. This CB will be both educational as well as interactive. Participants will be well informed but not bored with the information provided. We will also discuss the "ugly truth" of myths and bad advice when it comes to dating and sexual encounters. 2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or 2. Hall 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							
unplanned pregnancy, and contraception as well as elements of a healthy relationship. This CB will be both educational as well as interactive. Participants will be well informed but not bored with the information provided. We will also discuss the "ugly truth" of myths and bad advice when it comes to dating and sexual encounters. 2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							relationships and sexual health.
contraception as well as elements of a healthy relationship. This CB will be both educational as well as interactive. Participants will be well informed but not bored with the information provided. We will also discuss the "ugly truth" of myths and bad advice when it comes to dating and sexual encounters. 6. Safe and Healthy 2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							Students will learn about STD's,
of a healthy relationship. This CB will be both educational as well as interactive. Participants will be well informed but not bored with the information provided. We will also discuss the "ugly truth" of myths and bad advice when it comes to dating and sexual encounters. 2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							unplanned pregnancy, and
will be both educational as well as interactive. Participants will be well informed but not bored with the information provided. We will also discuss the "ugly truth" of myths and bad advice when it comes to dating and sexual encounters. 2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or quicker. 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							contraception as well as elements
interactive. Participants will be well informed but not bored with the information provided. We will also discuss the "ugly truth" of myths and bad advice when it comes to dating and sexual encounters. 2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall Quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							of a healthy relationship. This CB
well informed but not bored with the information provided. We will also discuss the "ugly truth" of myths and bad advice when it comes to dating and sexual encounters. 6. Safe and Healthy 2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							will be both educational as well as
the information provided. We will also discuss the "ugly truth" of myths and bad advice when it comes to dating and sexual encounters. 6. Safe and Healthy 2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or 0 denoted them they can find them easier or 0 denoted the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							interactive. Participants will be
also discuss the "ugly truth" of myths and bad advice when it comes to dating and sexual encounters. 6. Safe and Healthy 2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or Quicker. Operation 6. Safe and Healthy they can find them easier or Quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							
myths and bad advice when it comes to dating and sexual encounters. 6. Safe and Healthy 2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
comes to dating and sexual encounters. 6. Safe and Healthy 2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							G ,
encounters. 6. Safe and Healthy 2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or 2. Hall Operation 6. Safe and Healthy they can find them easier or 4 quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do 4 their free program of placing 4 property protection labels on							The state of the s
2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							comes to dating and sexual
2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or 2. Hall 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							encounters.
2014-01-16 07:00 pm Humes Hall The Ugly Truth Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, they can find them easier or 2. Hall 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							
UTPD will come and tag people's electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, Operation 6. Safe and Healthy they can find them easier or 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing UTPD Operation 6. Safe and Healthy property protection labels on					•		
electronics and have them on file so that if items are lost or stolen, Operation 6. Safe and Healthy they can find them easier or 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on	2014-01-16	07:00 pm	Humes Hall	The Ugly Truth	Lifestyles	2. Hall	
So that if items are lost or stolen, Operation 6. Safe and Healthy they can find them easier or Quicker. 2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							
Operation 6. Safe and Healthy they can find them easier or quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing UTPD Operation 6. Safe and Healthy property protection labels on							
2014-01-13 05:30 pm Clement Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall quicker. UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing property protection labels on							·
UTPD will come out the afternoon of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing UTPD Operation 6. Safe and Healthy property protection labels on					•		·
of the first day of classes to do their free program of placing UTPD Operation 6. Safe and Healthy property protection labels on	2014-01-13	05:30 pm	Clement Hall	Identification	Lifestyles	2. Hall	·
their free program of placing UTPD Operation 6. Safe and Healthy property protection labels on							
UTPD Operation 6. Safe and Healthy property protection labels on							·
2014-01-08 01:00 pm Morrill Hall Identification Lifestyles 2. Hall items.				•			
	2014-01-08	01:00 pm	Morrill Hall	Identification	Lifestyles	2. Hall	items.

Office	Program Type	Frequency	Staff or Students	Description
Center for Student Engagement	Take Back The Night- domestic violence and sexual assault awareness	Annual event every October	Both Students and	This three-part event is composed of a Silent March around the UT campus, a featured speaker, and a Speak-Out where students, faculty, staff, and the community can share their own personal experiences with sexual assault and domestic violence. The event not only brings awareness of these issues through the Silent March and solace to survivors through Speak - Out, but it provides an educational space for UT students where they can learn how to become a part of ending the silence of violence. The event provides a safe place for UT students and the community where they may talk about a usually taboo topic and help UT move forward in creating a safe environment.
Center for Student Engagement	Jackson Katz: More than a Few Good Men- sexual assault/harassment awareness	One time event, September 11, 2014	Both Students and Staff	Dr. Jackson Katz is an educator, filmmaker, and author. He is a creator of a gender violence prevention and education program entitled Mentors in Violence Prevention, which has been actively marketed to the U.S. military and various sporting organizations. Dr. Katz's work centers on violence, media, and masculinities, with an added focus on media literacy. He has made several documentaries on the representation of women and men in media. Dr. Katz's "More than a Few Good Men" lecture addresses the problem with the ongoing violence against women, but from a male's perspective. This famous TedTalks speaker talks about manhood, pornography, bystanders, and many more subjects that may add to the problem as he persuades males that they can be good men.
Student Media	Sexual Assault Reporting Training	Once	Staff	Information presented included reporting procedures and expectations of staff members and their role in instances when students reveal information related to incidents of sexual assault.

Sorority and Fraternity Life Risk Reduction/Awareness programs for crime prevention and education

Program Type	Frequency	Participants	Description
Making Greek Great, Dr. Lori Hart	One time program	For students, staff, and sorority and fraternity advisors	Program covered alcohol education, risks of binge drinking, and how to be a better sorority or fraternity member.
National Hazing Prevention Week – Student Training	Annual program (once this past year)	For sorority and fraternity chapter leaders	Program covered the Hazing definition, a case study, positive teambuilding ideas, and discussion on Hazing behaviors.
National Hazing Prevention Week – Advisor Training	One time program	For staff and sorority and fraternity advisors	Program was a panel consisting of Chief of Police, Dean of Students, Lawyer, Associate Director of Student Conduct, and a Fraternity Headquarters Representative talking about Hazing Prevention
New Member Orientation – Panhellenic Program	Annual program (once this past year)	All new members of Panhellenic sororities	One of the program presenters was Ashley Blamey with the Center for Health Education and Wellness, who spoke on alcohol and drug education and sexual assault prevention.
New Member Orientation – Interfraterntiy Council Program	Annual program (once this past year)	All new members of IFC Fraternities	One of the program presenters was Ashley Blamey with the Center for Health Education and Wellness, who spoke on alcohol and drug education and sexual assault prevention.
Sexual Assault Prevention – Interfraternity Council Program	One time program	IFC Fraternity Presidents	Chief of Police, Chief Lane, spoke with our IFC presidents about sexual assault prevention.
Greek Conduct and Officer Training Program	One time program	Three members of each sorority and fraternity	Discussed the student conduct process, broke into groups and talked about safely planning sorority and fraternity events, and trained students to be Speakologists.

APPENDIX E: RESOURCES

RESOURCES

University of Tennessee Police Department

1101 Cumberland Avenue

Emergency: 911 or 865-974-3111 General Inquiries: 865-974-3114

Community Relations Unit: 865-974-4674

Email: utpolice@utk.edu

utpolice.utk.edu

University of Tennessee Clery Compliance

clery.utk.edu

Email: clery@utk.edu

Dean of Students

413 Student Services Building

865-974-3197 dos.utk.edu

The Student Health Center 1800 Volunteer Boulevard

General Information: 865-974-3135 Appointment Line: 865-974-3648

web.utk.edu/~shs/

Center for Health Education & Wellness 1800 Volunteer Boulevard, Suite 201

865-974-5725

Email: wellness@utk.edu

wellness.utk.edu

Student Conduct & Community Standards

409 Student Services Building

865-974-3171

Email: studentconduct@utk.edu

studentconduct.utk.edu

University Housing

405 Student Services Building

865-974-2571

Email: housing@utk.edu

housing.utk.edu

Distressed Student Protocol

865-974-HELP (4357)

wellness.utk.edu/974-help/distressed-student-

protocol/

Distressed Staff Protocol 865-946-CARE (2273) hr.utk.edu/care/

Sexual Misconduct and Relationship Violence

Sexualassault.utk.edu

Employee Assistance Program

Here4TN.com

1-855-Here4TN (1-855-437-3486)

UT Human Resources

224 Conference Center Building

865-974-8847 Email: hr@utk.edu

Title IX Coordinator

Office of Equity & Diversity 1840 Melrose Avenue

865-974-2498 oed.utk.edu

Disability Services ods.utk.edu

Student Handbook hilltopics.utk.edu

US Department of Education Campus Crime Data

poe.ed.goc/security/

Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act

ed.gov/ferpa

Policies

utk.edu/policycentral/

Campus Safety safety.utk.edu

Campus Blue Light Phone Map

utk.edu/maps

Campus Bus Schedule ridethet.utk.edu

APPENDIX F: POLICY ON SEXUAL MISCONDUCT, RELATIONSHIP VIOLENCE, AND STALKING:

POLICY, PROCEDURES, PROGRAMS AND RESOURCES





Policy on Sexual Misconduct, Relationship Violence, and Stalking

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTIO	ON1				
II.	PROHIBITED CONDUCT					
III.	REPORTING I	PROHIBITED CONDUCT				
IV.	CARE AND SU	JPPORT				
v.		PROCEDURES FOR INVESTIGATING AND RESOLVING REPORTS OF CONDUCT				
VI.	REQUIREMEN	NTS AND GUIDELINES FOR MANDATORY REPORTERS34				
VII.		ERSITY POLICIES/PROCEDURES; DUE PROCESS; ACADEMIC D FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHTS				
VIII.	PREVENTION	AND AWARENESS PROGRAMS				
APPE	NDIX A:	ADDITIONAL POLICY DEFINITIONS				
APPEN	NDIX B:	MANDATORY REPORTERS WHEN THE COMPLAINANT IS A UNIVERSITY STUDENT				
APPEN	NDIX C:	MANDATORY REPORTERS WHEN THE COMPLAINANT IS A UNIVERSITY EMPLOYEE				
APPE	NDIX D:	CONFIDENTIALITY EXCEPTIONS UNDER TENNESSEE LAW45				
APPEN	NDIX E:	COMPLAINT PROCEDURES 47				
APPEN	NDIX F:	CONSENT UNDER TENNESSEE CRIMINAL LAW				

I. INTRODUCTION

A. PURPOSE AND OVERVIEW

The University of Tennessee, Knoxville and the University of Tennessee Institute of Agriculture are committed to creating and maintaining a learning, living, and working environment free from Sexual Misconduct, Relationship Violence, Stalking, and Retaliation. Those prohibited types of conduct will not be tolerated and will be grounds for disciplinary action up to, and including, permanent dismissal from the University and termination of employment.

Sexual Misconduct, Relationship Violence, Stalking, and Retaliation are collectively referred to in this policy as Prohibited Conduct. This policy: describes Prohibited Conduct; explains multiple options for reporting Prohibited Conduct; sets forth the procedures the University will follow for promptly, thoroughly, and equitably investigating and resolving reports of Prohibited Conduct in order to eliminate Prohibited Conduct, prevent its recurrence, and address its effects on Complainants and/or the University community; identifies resources for Complainants; describes the University's prevention and awareness programs relating to Prohibited Conduct; and implements the requirements of Title IX, Title VII, and the Clery Act with respect to Prohibited Conduct.

B. SCOPE AND APPLICABILITY; DEFINITIONS

1. Individuals Covered by This Policy

This policy applies to the conduct of and protects:

- students of the University of Tennessee, Knoxville and the University of Tennessee Institute of Agriculture;
- employees of the University of Tennessee, Knoxville and the University of Tennessee Institute of Agriculture; and
- University volunteers, University contractors, and third parties participating in a University program or activity.

This policy applies regardless of the Complainant's or the Respondent's sex, sexual orientation, or gender identity. Prohibited Conduct can be committed by anyone (regardless of sex, sexual orientation, or gender identity), can occur between strangers or acquaintances, and can occur between people of the same or of different sexes, sexual orientations and/or gender identities.

2. Jurisdiction

The University's jurisdiction concerning misconduct by students committed away from University-controlled property is outlined in *Hilltopics*. With respect to employees and other non-students, this policy applies to conduct which: (i) occurs on University-controlled property; (ii) occurs in the context of a University employment or education program or activity; and/or (iii) occurs outside the context of a University employment or education program or activity, but has continuing adverse effects on University-controlled property or in any University employment or education program or activity.

3. Definitions

Key terms used in this policy (such as Sex Discrimination, Sexual Misconduct, and Relationship Violence) are defined in either **Section II** or **Appendix A** and are capitalized throughout this policy.

C. TITLE IX: TITLE IX COORDINATOR; DEPUTY TITLE IX COORDINATORS

The University is a recipient of federal financial assistance for education activities, and in accordance with the provisions of Title IX, all of its education programs and activities are subject to the prohibition against Sex Discrimination. The University's **Nondiscrimination Statement (http://oed.utk.edu/statement/)** prohibits Sex Discrimination in any University education program or activity, including employment and admissions. Title IX applies to all students, employees, applicants for admission or employment, volunteers and

visitors at the University and prohibits unequal treatment on the basis of sex including Sexual Harassment, Sexual Assault, and Sexual Exploitation, which are all types of Sex Discrimination.

Reports or complaints of Sex Discrimination or Prohibited Conduct, or questions about the University's policies, procedures, resources, or programs concerning any of those issues, may be directed to the University's Title IX Coordinator or one of the University's Deputy Title IX Coordinators. The responsibilities of the Title IX Coordinator and the Deputy Title IX Coordinators are summarized below and are described in more detail in other sections of this policy. The Title IX Coordinator and the Deputy Title IX Coordinators generally are available Monday – Friday on University business days from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.

The University's Title IX Coordinator is:

Jennifer L. Richter
Title IX Coordinator
Director, Office of Equity and Diversity
1840 Melrose Avenue
Knoxville, TN 37996
865-974-2498 (phone)
865-974-0943 (fax)
jrichter@utk.edu
oed.utk.edu

The Title IX Coordinator's responsibilities include, without limitation:

- coordinating and maintaining ultimate oversight responsibility with respect to the University's compliance with Title IX;
- receiving, tracking, and monitoring reports of Sex Discrimination, including Prohibited Conduct, and maintaining records of such reports;
- interacting with the Sexual Assault Response Team;
- ensuring prompt, thorough, and equitable investigations and resolutions of reports of Sex Discrimination, including Prohibited Conduct, which are usually conducted by the Office of Equity and Diversity (if the Respondent is an employee or other non-student) or the Office of Student Conduct (if the Respondent is a student);
- identifying and addressing patterns or systemic problems concerning Prohibited Conduct;
- coordinating training, prevention, and awareness efforts concerning Prohibited Conduct;
- supporting the Deputy Title IX Coordinators;
- providing information to students, employees, and third parties concerning this policy;
- coordinating the provision of Interim Measures to students and employees;
- making appropriate reports (that do not personally identify Complainants) to UTPD for purposes of including incidents in the University's annual Clery Act crime statistics, if applicable; and
- being available to meet with students, employees, and others, including, without limitation, Complainants, Respondents, and Reporters of violations of this policy.

The Title IX Coordinator is assisted by two trained Deputy Title IX Coordinators, who also are accessible to members of the University community for consultation and assistance.

The University's Deputy IX Coordinator for Students is:

Ashley Blamey
Director, Center for Health Education and Wellness
1800 Volunteer Blvd., Suite 201
Knoxville, TN 37996
(865) 974-5725 or (865) 974-HELP
ashleyblamey@utk.edu
wellness.utk.edu

The Deputy Title IX Coordinator for Students assists with Title IX compliance for certain matters involving students, including, without limitation:

- coordinating the Sexual Assault Response Team;
- coordinating and maintaining oversight responsibility within the Division of Student Life with respect to compliance with Title IX;
- receiving, tracking, and monitoring reports of Prohibited Conduct involving students;
- identifying and addressing patterns or systemic problems concerning Prohibited Conduct involving students, in coordination with the Title IX Coordinator;
- coordinating training, prevention, and awareness efforts for students concerning Prohibited
 Conduct;
- assisting the Title IX Coordinator;
- providing information to students about this policy;
- coordinating the provision of Interim Measures to students; and
- being available to meet with students, including, without limitation, Complainants, Respondents, and Reporters of violations of this policy.

The University's Deputy Title IX Coordinator for Athletics is:

Mike Ward
Senior Associate Athletics Director for Administration and Sports Programs
Brenda Lawson Athletic Center
1551 Lake Loudon Boulevard
(865) 974-9190
mikeward@utk.edu

The Deputy Title IX Coordinator for Athletics assists with Title IX compliance for certain matters, including, without limitation:

- coordinating and maintaining oversight responsibility within the Department of Intercollegiate Athletics with respect to compliance with Title IX, including gender equity;
- receiving reports of Sex Discrimination, including Prohibited Conduct, involving student-athletes, and referring those reports to the Title IX Coordinator, Deputy Title IX Coordinator for Students, or the Sexual Assault Response Team;
- identifying and addressing any patterns or systemic problems concerning Prohibited Conduct committed by or against student-athletes, in coordination with the Title IX Coordinator;
- coordinating training, prevention, and awareness efforts for students and employees involved in intercollegiate athletics concerning Prohibited Conduct;
- assisting the Title IX Coordinator and the Deputy Title IX Coordinator for Students;
- providing information to students and employees involved in intercollegiate athletics on this policy;
- coordinating the provision of Interim Measures to students and employees involved in intercollegiate athletics; and
- being available to meet with students and employees involved in intercollegiate athletics, including, without limitation, Complainants, Respondents, and Reporters of violations of this policy.

Inquiries or complaints concerning Title IX also may be referred to the United States Department of Education:

United States Department of Education Office for Civil Rights 61 Forsyth Street, S.W., Suite 19T10 Atlanta, GA 30303-8927 (404) 974-9406 (phone) (404) 974-9471 (fax) OCR.Atlanta@ed.gov

D. SEXUAL ASSAULT RESPONSE TEAM

The Sexual Assault Response Team (S.A.R.T.) is a multidisciplinary team of University employees who work collaboratively to address situations involving Prohibited Conduct in which a <u>student</u> is a Complainant and/or a Respondent by:

- serving as a primary option for reporting Prohibited Conduct for which a student is a Complainant and/or a Respondent;
- utilizing a victim-centered approach to create a support network for Complainants and focusing on minimizing the trauma experienced by Complainants in a sensitive and proficient manner;
- assisting the Complainant in accessing the support resources identified in **Section V**, including Interim Measures, and informing the Complainant of the right to report a crime to campus or local law enforcement and provide the Complainant with assistance in reporting if requested by the Complainant;
- coordinating the provision of Interim Measures to students;
- providing reports to UTPD for Clery Act reporting in a manner that does not personally identify Complainants;
- promoting the consistent application of this policy to all students and enabling the University to respond promptly, thoroughly, and equitably to eliminate Prohibited Conduct, prevent its recurrence, and eliminate its effects; and
- answering questions about the University's policies, procedures, or programs concerning Prohibited Conduct.

A member of the S.A.R.T. may be contacted by calling **(865) 974-HELP (4357)**, Monday-Friday on University business days from 8:00-5:00 p.m. More information about the S.A.R.T. can be found at: **wellness.utk.edu/sexual-assault-2/sexual-assault-response-team-sart/**. Members of the S.A.R.T. have received training to work with Complainants.

E. QUESTIONS ABOUT THIS POLICY; ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT PROHIBITED CONDUCT

Questions about this policy should be directed to the Title IX Coordinator or a Deputy Title IX Coordinator. Additional information about the University's procedures and programs relating to Prohibited Conduct can be found online at: **sexualassault.utk.edu**.

II. PROHIBITED CONDUCT

This policy prohibits the following conduct defined below:

- Sexual Misconduct
 - Sexual Assault
 - Sexual Harassment
 - Sexual Exploitation
 - Sex Offense Crime
- Relationship Violence
 - Dating Violence
 - Domestic Violence
 - Relationship Violence Crime
- Stalking
- Retaliation

A. DEFINITIONS OF PROHIBITED CONDUCT

- **1. Sexual Misconduct:** A term that encompasses Sexual Harassment, Sexual Assault, Sexual Exploitation, and all other words and/or conduct that would constitute a Sex Offense Crime.
 - (i) Sexual Assault: Engaging in Sexual Contact or Sexual Intercourse with another person without the Consent of that person.
 - (1) Sexual Contact: The intentional touching of another person (including another person's clothing) in a sexual manner with any part of one's body or with any object. Sexual Contact also includes intentionally causing another person to touch themselves (including their clothing) in a sexual manner. Whether a touching was done in a sexual manner is determined from the perspective of a sober, objectively reasonable person in the same situation and with the same sex, gender identity, and sexual orientation as the person who was touched.
 - (2) **Sexual Intercourse:** The penetration, no matter how slight, of the vagina or anus with any body part or object; or oral penetration by a sex organ of another person.
 - (ii) Sexual Harassment: Sexual Harassment is a form of Sex Discrimination. To determine whether conduct constitutes Sexual Harassment, consideration shall be given to the totality of the circumstances, including without limitation: the context in which the conduct and/or words occurred; and the frequency, nature, and severity of the conduct and/or words.
 - (1) With respect to an employee's conduct directed toward another employee, Sexual Harassment means: "Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature . . . when: (1) submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment; (2) submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting that individual; or (3) such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment." (The source of this definition is: University of Tennessee System Human Resources Policy 0280 ("Sexual Harassment") (http://policy.tennessee.edu/hr_policy/hro280/))
 - With respect to an employee's conduct directed toward a student or another nonemployee, Sexual Harassment means: "Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when: (1) submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or

condition of an individual's participation in an educational program; (2) submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for evaluation or advancement in an educational program; or (3) such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's educational performance or creates an intimidating, hostile or offensive educational environment." (This definition is based on: University of Tennessee System Human Resources Policy 0280 ("Sexual Harassment") (http://policy.tennessee.edu/hr_policy/hro280/))

- (3) With respect to the <u>conduct of a student or other non-employee</u>, Sexual Harassment is defined as unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature that is so severe or pervasive, and objectively offensive, that it substantially interferes with the ability of a person to work, learn, live, or participate in or benefit from the services, activities, or privileges provided by the University. In no event shall the term "Sexual Harassment" be construed to prohibit speech protected by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution (e.g., mere insulting or offensive speech). Sexual Harassment may include, for example, unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and acts of Sexual Assault. (This definition is based on Standard of Conduct Number 6 for students, a copy of which can be found in Hilltopics.)
- (iii) Sexual Exploitation: An act or attempted act by a person for the purpose of sexual arousal or gratification, financial gain, or other personal benefit through the abuse or exploitation of another person's sexuality. Examples of Sexual Exploitation include, without limitation: observation of a person who is undressed or engaging in Sexual Contact or Sexual Intercourse, without the Consent of all persons being observed (in a place where a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy); creation or distribution of images, photography, an audiotape, or videotape of Sexual Contact, Sexual Intercourse, or a person's intimate parts (i.e., genitalia, groin, breasts, buttocks) without the Consent of all persons being recorded or photographed; prostituting another person; allowing others to observe, either in person or electronically, Sexual Contact or Sexual Intercourse without the Consent of all persons involved in the Sexual Contact or Sexual Intercourse (in a place where a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy); and knowingly exposing another person to a sexually transmitted infection without informing the other person that one has a sexually transmitted infection.
- (iv) Sex Offense Crime: This term is defined in Appendix A.
- **Relationship Violence:** A term that encompasses Dating Violence, Domestic Violence, and all other words and/or conduct that would constitute a Relationship Violence Crime. Relationship Violence may be a form of Sex Discrimination prohibited by federal and state antidiscrimination laws, such as Title VII and Title IX.
 - (i) Dating Violence: Violence committed by a person who is or has been in a social relationship of a romantic or intimate nature with the victim of the violence. The existence of such a relationship shall be determined based on the reporting party's statement and with consideration of the following factors: (1) the length of the relationship; (2) the type of relationship; and (3) the frequency of interaction between the persons involved in the relationship. Dating Violence includes, but is not limited to, sexual or physical abuse or the threat of such abuse. Dating Violence does not include acts covered under the definition of Domestic Violence.
 - (ii) Domestic Violence: A felony or misdemeanor crime of violence committed: (1) by a current or former spouse or intimate partner of the victim; (2) by a person with whom the victim shares a child in common; (3) by a person who is cohabitating with or has cohabitated with the victim as a spouse or intimate partner; (4) by a person similarly situated to a spouse of the victim under the domestic or family violence laws of the jurisdiction in which the crime of violence occurred; or (5) by any other person against an

adult or youth victim who is protected from that person's acts under the domestic or family violence laws of the jurisdiction in which the crime of violence occurred.

- (iii) Relationship Violence Crime: This term is defined in Appendix A.
- **Stalking:** Stalking includes both the crime of stalking in Tennessee and the crime of stalking defined by the Clery Act:
 - (i) Tennessee Crime: The crime of stalking in Tennessee is defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-17-315.
 - (ii) Clery Act Crime: Engaging in a Course of Conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a reasonable person to: (1) fear for the person's safety or the safety of others; or (2) suffer Substantial Emotional Distress. For the purposes of this definition:
 - "course of conduct" means two or more acts, including, but not limited to, acts in which the stalker directly, indirectly, or through third parties, by any action, method, device, or means, follows, monitors, observes, surveils, threatens, or communicates to or about another person, or interferes with another person's property;
 - "reasonable person" means a reasonable person under similar circumstances and with similar identities to the victim; and
 - "substantial emotional distress" means significant mental suffering or anguish that may, but does not necessarily, require medical or other professional treatment or counseling.

Stalking may be a form of Sex Discrimination prohibited by federal and state antidiscrimination laws, such as Title VII and Title IX.

Retaliation: An act or attempted act taken because of a person's participation in a protected 4. activity that would discourage a Reasonable Person from engaging in protected activity. Protected activity includes a person's Good Faith: (1) opposition to Prohibited Conduct; (2) report of Prohibited Conduct to the University; (3) participation (or reasonable expectation of participation) in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, hearing, or Interim Measure under this policy; or (4) exercise of rights or responsibilities under any provision of the Clery Act. Retaliation is a violation of this policy regardless of whether the underlying allegation of a violation of this policy is ultimately found to have merit. Retaliation should be reported in the same manner in which Prohibited Conduct is reported under this policy (Section III). When the University receives notice of alleged Retaliation, the University will take immediate and appropriate steps to investigate the alleged Retaliation. The University will take strong responsive action if it determines that Retaliation occurred, which may include disciplinary action independent of any sanction or Interim Measures imposed in response to the underlying allegation of misconduct. The University generally will investigate and resolve reports of Retaliation in the same manner in which it handles reports of other Prohibited Conduct under this policy (Section V).

B. RELATED DEFINITIONS: CONSENT; COERCION; INCAPACITATION; GOOD FAITH; REASONABLE PERSON

1. Consent (or Consensual): Consent is an affirmative and voluntary agreement by a person to engage in a specific sexual act.¹

¹ The definition of Consent for the purposes of criminal law in the State of Tennessee is explained in **Appendix F**. The information provided in this policy concerning Tennessee law is provided in accordance with the Clery Act. It is not intended, nor should it be construed, as legal advice.

Consent Must Be Obtained

Consent must be obtained, and the responsibility for obtaining Consent rests with the individual who voluntarily and physically initiates a specific sexual act, even if the other person initiated the sexual encounter. One's own use of alcohol, drugs, or other substances does not diminish one's responsibility to obtain Consent from the other person. Moreover, another person's use of alcohol, drugs, or other substances does not diminish one's responsibility to obtain Consent from that person.

Consent Must Be Affirmative

Consent must be affirmative, which means that Consent is communicated only through words and/or non-verbal actions that convey a clear agreement to engage in a specific sexual act. Whether person has communicated an agreement to engage in a specific sexual act generally is evaluated from the perspective of what a Reasonable Person who perceived the individual's words and/or non-verbal actions would have understood; however, in the context of a long-term relationship between persons that has involved sexual activity and a pattern of communicating consent, whether Consent has been communicated may be evaluated based on a subjective standard (i.e., what did the specific person who initiated the specific sexual act conclude?). A verbal "no" (or words equivalent to "no") or the nonverbal communication of "no," even if it sounds or appears insincere or indecisive, always means that Consent has not been communicated, or if previously communicated has been withdrawn. The absence of a verbal "no" or the absence of a nonverbal communication of "no" does not necessarily mean that Consent has been communicated. Because interpreting non-verbal actions may lead to misunderstanding and a violation of this policy, persons subject to this policy are strongly encouraged to err on the side of caution and not rely solely on the non-verbal actions of another person in concluding that the other person has communicated Consent. The University urges persons subject to this policy to communicate with one another before engaging in a sexual act to ensure that they both wish to engage in the same sexual act.

Consent cannot be obtained by or inferred from:

- silence that is not accompanied by non-verbal actions conveying a clear agreement to engage in a particular sexual act;
- Consent communicated by the other person on a previous occasion;
- Consent communicated to another person;
- the other person's failure to resist physical force (however, for purposes of this policy, the other person's resistance to physical force will be viewed as a clear demonstration that the person has not communicated Consent);
- the sexual arousal of the other person;
- a current or previous dating, romantic, intimate, or sexual relationship with the other person;
- currently or previously cohabitating with the other person;
- the other person's attire;
- the other person's reputation:
- the other person's giving or acceptance of gifts; or
- the other person's extension or acceptance of an invitation to go to a private residence, room, or other location.

Consent Must be Voluntary

Consent is not voluntary if it is obtained by Coercion. Nor is Consent voluntary if it is obtained from a person who is Incapacitated if one knows (or a Reasonable Person would know) that the other person is Incapacitated. Because the Incapacitation of another person may be difficult for one to discern, persons subject to this policy are strongly encouraged to err on the side of caution (i.e., when in doubt, assume that the other person is Incapacitated and therefore unable to give Consent.)

Consent Must be Continual

Consent must be continual, which means that consent must exist from the beginning to the end of each sexual encounter and for each specific sexual act that occurs during a sexual encounter. A person has a right to change his/her mind; thus, Consent to engage in a specific sexual act may be withdrawn by a person at any time. A withdrawal of Consent is communicated through clear

words and/or clear non-verbal actions that indicate that a person no longer agrees to engage in a specific sexual act. Once a person's withdrawal of Consent has been communicated, the other person must cease the specific sexual act and must obtain Consent before reinitiating the specific sexual act or any other sexual act. Consent is automatically withdrawn when a person becomes Incapacitated. Consent to one type of Sexual Contact or Sexual Intercourse (e.g., oral intercourse) does not constitute or imply Consent for another type of Sexual Contact or Sexual Intercourse (e.g., vaginal intercourse), whether during a sexual encounter or during a previous sexual encounter. The University urges persons subject to this policy to communicate with one another throughout a sexual encounter to ensure that any progression of sexual activity is done with Consent.

Coercion: Words and/or conduct that, viewed from the perspective of a Reasonable Person, substantially impair(s) a person's ability to voluntarily choose whether to engage in a particular sexual act (e.g., Sexual Contact or Sexual Intercourse). Coercion is something more than mere seduction or persuasion.

Coercion includes, without limitation:

- 1. physical force; and
- 2. words and/or conduct that would cause a Reasonable Person to fear imminent: harm to the person's health, safety, or property or that of a third person; threat of the loss or impairment of a job benefit; threat of the loss or impairment of an academic benefit; kidnapping of the person or a third person; or disclosure of sensitive personal information (e.g., disclosure of a person's sexual orientation, gender identity, or gender expression).
- 3. <u>Incapacitated (or Incapacitation):</u> A temporary or permanent physical or mental state in which a person cannot make informed, rational judgments (e.g., judgments concerning Sexual Contact, Sexual Intercourse, or Sexual Exploitation) because: the person lacks the physical or mental capacity to understand the nature or consequences of their words and/or conduct; and/or the person is unable to physically or verbally communicate Consent. Incapacitation can be voluntary or involuntary. Incapacitation is determined based on the totality of the circumstances.

Incapacitation may result from: sleep; unconsciousness; intermittent consciousness; temporary or permanent physical or mental disability; involuntary physical restraint; or the influence of alcohol, drugs, or other substances, including, without limitation, substances used to facilitate Sexual Assault (e.g., Rohypnol, Ketamine, GHB, and Burundanga).

Alcohol and drugs are common causes of Incapacitation. When alcohol or drugs are involved, Incapacitation is a state beyond mere drunkenness or intoxication. The impact of alcohol and drugs varies from person to person; however, warning signs of Incapacitation may include, without limitation: lack of control over physical movements (e.g., inability to dress/undress without assistance; inability to walk without assistance); lack of awareness of circumstances or surroundings; vomiting; unresponsiveness; and inability to communicate coherently.

A person who is under the age of eighteen (18) (i.e., a minor) is incapable of giving Consent; however, a person who is at least the age of thirteen (13) and less than the age of eighteen (18) is capable of giving Consent to sexual acts with another person who is less than four (4) years older than them.

- 4. Good Faith: Having a belief in the truth of information that a Reasonable Person in the same situation could have, based on the information known to the person communicating the information at the time the information was communicated by that person. A report or other information communicated during an investigation, hearing, or other proceeding under this policy is not made in good faith if made with knowing or reckless disregard for information that would negate the report or information.
- **Reasonable Person:** A sober, objectively reasonable person in the same situation, and with the same sex, gender identity, and sexual orientation as the person whose words and/or conduct are being evaluated.

C. DISCIPLINE FOR PROHIBITED CONDUCT

Prohibited Conduct committed by students violates the University's Standards of Conduct for students, which can be found in *Hilltopics*. The disciplinary penalties that may be imposed on students who violate the Standards of Conduct also can be found in *Hilltopics*.

Prohibited Conduct committed by employees violates standards of conduct that have been established in existing University policies, including without limitation, the University's Nondiscrimination Statement (http://oed.utk.edu/statement/), University of Tennessee Human Resources Policy 0280 (Sexual Harassment) (http://policy.tennessee.edu/hr_policy/hro280/), and University of Tennessee System Human Resources Policy 0580 (Code of Conduct) (http://policy.tennessee.edu/hr_policy/hro580/). This policy supplements existing University standards of conduct in order to be more specific concerning the University's prohibition of Sexual Misconduct, Relationship Violence, Stalking, and Retaliation.² Employees who violate this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to, and including, termination of employment, in accordance with University policies, including, without limitation, University of Tennessee System Human Resources Policy 0525 (Disciplinary Action), University of Tennessee System Human Resources Policy 0640 (Grievances), and the University of Tennessee, Knoxville Faculty Handbook.

-

² For example, University of Tennessee Human Resources Policy 0280 (Sexual Harassment) also prohibits an employee from engaging in the Sexual Harassment of another employee. Sexual Assault is an extreme type of Sexual Harassment.

III. REPORTING PROHIBITED CONDUCT

The University encourages Complainants of Prohibited Conduct, and others who are aware of Prohibited Conduct, to promptly report the incident to the University and/or to law enforcement.³

This policy describes three options for informing someone about Prohibited Conduct:

- 1. Report Prohibited Conduct to a University "Mandatory Reporter" (described in Section III.A):
- Report Prohibited Conduct to UTPD or local law enforcement (described in Section III.B); 2. and/or
- Confide in a University "Confidential Employee" and/or a confidential resource external to the 3. University (described in **Section IV.A**).

Those options are not mutually exclusive; in other words, a Complainant may pursue one, two, or all three of those options. This policy describes all three options in detail so that members of the University community can make informed choices about whether and how to inform someone about Prohibited Conduct.

Α. REPORTING PROHIBITED CONDUCT TO A UNIVERSITY MANDATORY REPORTER

Complainants⁴ are not required to report Prohibited Conduct to the University if they do not want the University to respond to the incident or assist with Interim Measures. However, reporting a violation of this policy to the University empowers Complainants to obtain the support they need and enables the University to respond appropriately, including conducting a prompt, thorough, and equitable investigation and, if warranted, taking disciplinary action against a Respondent. If a person reports an incident of Prohibited Conduct to the University, there is no requirement that the Complainant pursue criminal prosecution or University discipline against a Respondent. The University recognizes that a Complainant's decision on how to proceed after a report is filed is a process that may unfold over time; thus, at the time a report is made to the University, a Complainant does not have to decide whether to request any particular course of action.

This policy requires certain University employees, called Mandatory Reporters, to report information they receive concerning Prohibited Conduct to the University in accordance with Section VI. Not all University employees are Mandatory Reporters.⁵ Some University employees are encouraged but are not obligated to disclose Prohibited Conduct to the University. Other University employees, called Confidential Employees (Section IV.A.1), are legally or ethically prohibited from disclosing Prohibited Conduct to the University.

The only way for a Complainant (or any other person) to provide notice to the University of an incident of Prohibited Conduct is to report the incident to a Mandatory Reporter. A Complainant may opt to report an incident of Prohibited Conduct to a Mandatory Reporter but decline to disclose the identity of the Respondent; in that case, the University will offer the Complainant Interim Measures, but the University's ability to investigate the incident and pursue disciplinary action against the Respondent or take other remedial action will be limited. If an incident is not reported to a Mandatory Reporter, then the University will not be able to take steps to: identify resources for the Complainant, such as Interim Measures; or promptly, thoroughly, and equitably investigate the incident and/or resolve the situation in order to eliminate the Prohibited Conduct, prevent its recurrence, and address its effects on the Complainant or the University community.

Because Mandatory Reporters have an obligation to report information they receive about Prohibited Conduct (and take other responsive actions), one of the purposes of this Section III.A is to inform students, employees

³ Mandatory Reporters are required to report information they receive about Prohibited Conduct. The University strongly encourages employees and students who are not Mandatory Reporters to report information about Prohibited Conduct to one of the reporting options described in **Section III.A.**

⁴ The reporting options in this section also are available to a Reporter who is not a Complainant.

⁵ However, all employees are required to report suspected child abuse or child sexual abuse (Section VII.A).

and other persons about which University employees are Mandatory Reporters so that students, employees and other persons can make informed decisions about whether to disclose information to those University employees. Whether an employee is a Mandatory Reporter will vary based on factors such as the status of the Complainant and the Respondent (i.e., whether they are students, employees, and/or persons who are neither students nor employees) and the employee's authority to address violations of this policy. **Appendix B and Appendix C identify the University's Mandatory Reporters.** Questions concerning whether a particular employee is a Mandatory Reporter should be directed to the Title IX Coordinator.

Mandatory Reporters are not confidential University resources like the Confidential Employees identified in Section IV.A.1. However, subject to a Complainant's request for confidentiality (Section III.A.5) and applicable legal disclosure obligations (Section III.E), information communicated to a Mandatory Reporter will initially be shared only within the limited circle of those University employees whom the University reasonably needs to involve in the University's response to an incident of Prohibited Conduct. Subsequently, information about the report will be shared only as reasonably necessary with investigators, witnesses, and the Respondent, subject to a Complainant's request for confidentiality and applicable legal disclosure obligations. In accordance with FERPA, Mandatory Reporters who are not employees of UTPD will not share personally identifiable information with UTPD or any other law enforcement agency without a Complainant's written consent or unless required by law.

A report of Prohibited Conduct that alleges Sex Discrimination generally must be filed within 300 days of the alleged discriminatory action. In certain circumstances, however, at the discretion of the Title IX Coordinator, such as when the Complainant is a student, a report communicated to the University outside of that time limit may be investigated. The University does not limit the time frame for reporting an incident of Prohibited Conduct committed by a Respondent who is not an employee, although a delay in reporting may impact the University's ability to: obtain evidence; conduct a prompt, thorough, and equitable investigation; and/or otherwise respond and take appropriate action.

1. <u>Mandatory Reporters When the Complainant is a Student</u>

This Section III.A.1 describes the non-law enforcement options for a Complainant who is a University student to report Prohibited Conduct to the University.

A Complainant who is a student is encouraged to report Prohibited Conduct to one of the following University employees, who are Mandatory Reporters:

- Title IX Coordinator or the Office of Equity & Diversity
- Deputy Title IX Coordinators
- Sexual Assault Response Team

A Complainant who is a student may also report Prohibited Conduct to one of the University's other non-law enforcement Mandatory Reporters, who are identified in **Appendix B**.

Questions about how to contact any of the individuals identified above may be directed to the Title IX Coordinator.

2. Mandatory Reporters When the Complainant is an Employee

This Section III.A.2 describes the non-law enforcement options for a Complainant who is a University employee to report Prohibited Conduct to the University.

A Complainant who is a University employee is encouraged to report Prohibited Conduct to one of the following University employees, who are Mandatory Reporters:

- Title IX Coordinator or the Office of Equity & Diversity
- The Executive Director or the Director of Human Resources Employee Relations
- The immediate supervisor of the Complainant
- The immediate supervisor of the Respondent (if the Respondent is a University employee)

A Complainant who is a University employee may also report Prohibited Conduct to one of the University's other non-law enforcement Mandatory Reporters, who are identified in **Appendix C**.

Questions about how to contact any of the individuals identified above may be directed to the Title IX Coordinator.

3. Reporting Options for a Complainant Who is Neither a Student Nor an Employee

The Title IX Coordinator (the Office of Equity & Diversity) is the only non-law enforcement option for a Complainant who is neither a University student nor a University employee to report a violation of this policy to the University.

4. What to Expect after Reporting Prohibited Conduct to a Mandatory Reporter

After receiving a report of Prohibited Conduct (either directly from a Reporter or indirectly from a Mandatory Reporter), the Title IX Coordinator, a Deputy Title IX Coordinator, and/or a member of the S.A.R.T. will initiate immediate and appropriate steps by the University to: have an appropriate University employee offer to meet with, or otherwise communicate with, the Complainant; in cases of Sexual Assault, Relationship Violence, or Stalking, provide a Complainant with a copy of this policy and/or another written publication approved by the Title IX Coordinator to inform the Complainant of the Complainant's rights under this policy (if that has not already been done by a Mandatory Reporter); evaluate whether Interim Measures need to be implemented and assist with the implementation of Interim Measures; and, subject to a Complainant's request for confidentiality (Section III.A.5), initiate the investigation and resolution procedures outlined in Section V of this policy if, based on an initial assessment, the alleged conduct meets the definition of Prohibited Conduct. The Title IX Coordinator, a Deputy Title IX Coordinator, and/or a member of the S.A.R.T. also can assist a Complainant in reporting the incident to law enforcement.

5. <u>If the Complainant Requests Confidentiality: How the University Will Weigh the</u> Request and Respond

If a Complainant discloses an incident of Prohibited Conduct to a Mandatory Reporter but wishes to maintain confidentiality or requests that no investigation into a particular incident be conducted or disciplinary action taken, the University will seriously weigh that request against the University's obligation to provide a safe, non-discriminatory environment for all members of the University community, including the Complainant.

If the University honors the Complainant's request for confidentiality, the University's ability to meaningfully investigate the incident and pursue disciplinary action against the Respondent or take other remedial action may be limited. There are times when the University may not be able to honor a Complainant's request in order to provide a safe, non-discriminatory environment. For example, if the University has credible information that the Respondent has committed one or more other acts of Prohibited Conduct, then the balance of factors might compel the University to investigate the allegation, and, if appropriate, pursue disciplinary action in a manner that may make known the Complainant's identity to the Respondent.

The Title IX Coordinator typically is the University official who evaluates requests by Complainants for confidentiality. When weighing a Complainant's request for confidentiality or that no investigation or discipline be pursued, the University will consider a range of factors, including, without limitation, the following factors:

- the risk that the Respondent will commit additional acts of Prohibited Conduct, such as:
 - whether there have been other Prohibited Conduct reports concerning the same Respondent;
 - whether the Respondent has a history of Prohibited Conduct;
 - whether the Respondent threatened further Prohibited Conduct or other misconduct against the Complainant or others; and
 - whether the Prohibited Conduct was committed by multiple perpetrators;
- the nature and scope of the Prohibited Conduct, including whether the Prohibited Conduct was perpetrated with a weapon;
- the ages and roles of the Complainant and the Respondent;
- whether the University can pursue the investigation without the participation of the Complainant (e.g., whether there are other available means to obtain relevant evidence of the Prohibited Conduct such as security cameras or physical evidence);

- whether the Complainant's report reveals a pattern of perpetration (e.g., perpetration involving illicit use of drugs or alcohol) at a given location or by a particular group; and
- the University's commitment to providing a safe, non-discriminatory environment, including the risk posted to any individual or to the campus community by not proceeding with an investigation.

The presence of one or more of those factors could lead the University to investigate and, if appropriate, pursue disciplinary action. If none of those factors is present, then the University will likely respect the Complainant's request for confidentiality. If the University determines that it can respect a Complainant's request for confidentiality, then the University will take reasonable steps to respond to the report consistent with the Complainant's request for confidentiality and will take prompt actions that the University determines are necessary to protect and assist the Complainant while keeping the Complainant's identity confidential (e.g., providing the Complainant with Interim Measures).

If the University determines that it cannot maintain a Complainant's confidentiality, then the University will inform the Complainant prior to starting an investigation and will, to the extent possible and unless otherwise required by law, only share information with people responsible for handling the University's response. If the University determines that it must disclose the Complainant's identity to the Respondent, then the University will inform the Complainant of that determination prior to the disclosure. The University will honor a request by the Complainant that the University inform the Respondent that the Complainant asked the University not to investigate or seek discipline. The University will take ongoing steps that it determines are reasonable and appropriate to protect the Complainant from Retaliation or harm and may work with the Complainant to create a safety plan. Retaliation against the Complainant, whether by students or University employees, will not be tolerated. The University will also assist the Complainant to access the support resources identified in Section IV, including Interim Measures, and inform the Complainant of the right to report a crime to campus or local law enforcement (and provide the Complainant with assistance in reporting if the Complainant requests it).

The University will not require a Complainant to participate in any investigation or disciplinary proceeding.

Because the University is under a continuing obligation to address the issues of Prohibited Conduct campus-wide, reports of Prohibited Conduct (including non-identifying reports) may also prompt the University to consider broader remedial action – such as increased monitoring, supervision or security at locations where the reported Prohibited Conduct occurred; increasing education and prevention efforts, including to targeted population groups; conducting additional climate assessments/victimization surveys; and/or revisiting its policies and practices.

6. Amnesty for Students Who Report Prohibited Conduct to the University⁶

The University recognizes that a student who is under the influence of alcohol and/or drugs at the time of an incident may be hesitant to report an incident to the University because of a fear of University disciplinary sanctions for student's own violation of the Standards of Conduct. Because of the importance to the University of responding to incidents of Prohibited Conduct, a student who reports Prohibited Conduct to the University or testifies or provides information in a University investigation into alleged Prohibited Conduct will not be subject to disciplinary action by the University for personal consumption of alcohol or other drugs, or minor offenses, at or near the time of the reported incident, but may be responsible for other, more serious conduct that harmed or placed the health or safety of any other person at risk.

B. REPORTING TO LAW ENFORCEMENT

Prohibited Conduct may constitute both a violation of this policy and criminal law. Therefore, the University encourages persons to report incidents of Prohibited Conduct to law enforcement. Prompt reporting of an incident to law enforcement is especially critical for incidents of Sexual Assault and Relationship Violence because the collection and preservation of evidence relating to Sexual Assault and Relationship Violence often is essential for law enforcement investigations and criminal prosecutions.

14

⁶ This Section III.A.6 does not apply to reports to UTPD. The amnesty provision in this Section III.A.6 applies only to discipline for violations of the University's Code of Conduct.

A Complainant has the right to decline to report the incident to law enforcement. Even if a Complainant does not report the incident to law enforcement, the Complainant may still request Interim Measures from the University by reporting the incident to the Title IX Coordinator, a Deputy Title IX Coordinator, the S.A.R.T., or another Mandatory Reporter.

1. Contact Information for Campus and Local Law Enforcement

The following options are available 24 hours, seven days a week, for reporting an incident of Prohibited Conduct to law enforcement:

Incident Location	CONTACT
Regardless of where the incident occurred	Call 911 in an emergency
	or
	UTPD 1101 Cumberland Avenue, Knoxville, TN
	865-974-3111 http://utpolice.utk.edu/
In the City of Knoxville	Knoxville Police Department (KPD) 800 Howard Baker, Jr. Avenue, Knoxville, TN 865-215-4010 http://www.cityofknoxville.org/kpd/
	or
	UTPD
In Knox County but outside of the City of Knoxville	Knox County Sheriff 400 Main Street, Suite L165, Knoxville, TN 37902 865-215-2243 http://www.knoxsheriff.org
	or
	UTPD
Outside of Knox County	Contact the law enforcement agency that has jurisdiction over the location where the incident occurred
	or
	Contact UTPD for assistance in contacting another jurisdiction's law enforcement agency

Upon the Complainant's request, the Title IX Coordinator, a Deputy Title IX Coordinator, and/or another member of the S.A.R.T. will assist a Complainant in contacting UTPD or another appropriate local law enforcement agency.

Employees of UTPD are also Mandatory Reporters for reports received in a law enforcement capacity. Accordingly, if a person reports an incident to UTPD, and the incident has not been previously reported to a Mandatory Reporter outside of UTPD, then UTPD will contact the Title IX Coordinator, a Deputy Title IX Coordinator, and/or a member of the S.A.R.T. Then, the Title IX Coordinator, a Deputy Title IX Coordinator, and/or a member of the S.A.R.T. will contact the Complainant regarding the University's response to the report (Section III.A.4). In contrast, if a Complainant reports the incident to KPD or another law enforcement agency

other than UTPD, then the Complainant also will need to report the incident to a Mandatory Reporter if the Complainant wants the University to take any action under this policy.

2. What to Expect after Reporting Prohibited Conduct to Law Enforcement

Even if the Complainant is unsure whether to pursue criminal prosecution or an order of protection, the University recommends that the Complainant report the incident to law enforcement as soon as possible. In most cases, after addressing a Complainant's immediate safety needs and/or needs for medical care, a law enforcement officer will meet with the Complainant and take a statement about what occurred. It may help a Complainant to write down every detail the Complainant can remember, as soon as possible, so the Complainant can communicate the details to law enforcement. In cases of Sexual Assault and Relationship Violence, in addition to taking a statement, the law enforcement officer may ask to examine the scene of the incident and collect bedding, clothing, or other items of evidentiary value. A UTPD law enforcement officer also will conduct a thorough interview to record as many details as possible and as precisely as possible. The law enforcement interview may take as long as several hours, depending on the circumstances of the case. Due to the traumatic effect of sexual assaults on survivors, multiple interviews may be required to get all of the pertinent details of the assault. When UTPD conducts the law enforcement interview, the UTPD law enforcement officer typically will ask the Complainant whether they want UTPD to call on on-call victim advocate from the Sexual Assault Center of East Tennessee to be present during the Complainant's interview(s).

If law enforcement determines that a crime occurred after concluding its investigation, then law enforcement will refer the matter to the district attorney. The district attorney will decide whether to pursue criminal prosecution; however, it is unusual for cases to proceed without the cooperation of the Complainant. Reporting the incident to law enforcement does not obligate the Complainant to cooperate with the district attorney's criminal prosecution. If criminal prosecution is pursued, however, the likelihood of success will be much higher if the Complainant reported and allowed evidence to be collected immediately after the incident of Prohibited Conduct.

3. How University Policies/Procedures Relate to Criminal Law/Procedures

The University will cooperate with law enforcement agencies if a Complainant decides to pursue the criminal process, to the extent permitted by law. However, this policy may differ in significant respects from criminal law. A Complainant may seek resolution through the University's procedures outlined in this policy, may pursue criminal action, may choose one but not the other, may choose both, or may choose neither. Neither law enforcement's determination whether to prosecute a Respondent nor the outcome of any criminal prosecution is determinative of whether Prohibited Conduct occurred in violation of this policy. Procedures under this policy may be carried out prior to, simultaneously with, or following civil or criminal proceedings off campus. The University normally does not wait until a criminal investigation or proceeding is concluded before conducting its own investigation, implementing Interim Measures, and/or taking other appropriate action. Although the University may need to delay temporarily the fact-finding portion of its investigation while law enforcement is gathering evidence, the University will take Interim Measures to support the Complainant during such a delay. Decisions made or sanctions imposed by the University are not based on a result of criminal or civil charges against a Respondent arising from the same incident being dismissed, reduced, rejected, sustained, or not prosecuted; however, a Respondent's plea or a finding against a Respondent in a criminal or civil proceeding may, at the University's discretion, be used by the University in a University disciplinary proceeding.

4. Anonymous Reporting to Law Enforcement

UTPD currently is in the process of developing an anonymous reporting system. Persons may report a crime anonymously to the Knoxville Police Department by calling (865) 215-7212. Persons may report a crime anonymously to the Knox County Sheriff by visiting www.knoxsheriff.org/tip/index.php or by texting the word Knox to Crimes 274637.

Texting is not an alternative to calling 911; in an emergency, call 911.

C. CONFIDENTIAL RESOURCES

Section IV.A describes options to communicate confidentially with someone regarding an incident of Prohibited Conduct.

D. THE UNIVERSITY'S DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS UNDER FEDERAL AND TENNESSEE LAW RELATING TO REPORTS OF PROHIBITED CONDUCT

1. Clery Act

Certain University employees, called Campus Security Authorities, have a duty to report certain incidents of Prohibited Conduct to UTPD to comply with the Clery Act. Campus Security Authorities are <u>not</u> required to report personally identifiable information to UTPD for Clery Act purposes, but statistical information must be sent to UTPD regarding the type of incident that occurred and its general location (e.g., on or off-campus) for publication in an annual report of crime statistics, called the Annual Security Report. Statistics published in the Annual Security Report help to provide the campus community with a clearer picture of the extent and nature of campus crime, **but the statistics do not personally identify Complainants**.

Complainants of Prohibited Conduct also should be aware that the Clery Act requires the University to issue timely warnings for crimes reported to UTPD or Campus Security Authorities that pose a substantial threat of bodily harm or danger to members of the campus community. The University will undertake reasonable efforts to avoid disclosing a Complainant's name and other identifying information, while still providing enough information for community members to make safety decisions in light of the potential danger.

2. FERPA

In accordance with FERPA, personally identifiable information about a Complainant, Respondent, or Reporter who is a student that has been communicated to a Mandatory Reporter regarding Prohibited Conduct will be shared within the University only with the Title IX Coordinator and those University employees who "need to know" in order to assist with the University's response to the Prohibited Conduct. Personally identifiable information concerning a Complainant, Respondent, or Reporter who is a student will not be disclosed by the University to third parties unaffiliated with the University without the consent of the student except in response to a lawfully issued subpoena, court order, or as otherwise required or allowed by law (see, e.g., Section III.E.3 relating to the Tennessee Public Records Act) If, during a University's investigation or resolution of Prohibited Conduct, a Respondent who is a student makes a request to review documents concerning the investigation, the University will be required by FERPA to grant the Respondent's request to inspect and review records that relate specifically to the Respondent, but the University will redact the Complainant's name and any other identifying information to the maximum extent allowed by law.

3. Tennessee Public Records Act

Incident reports prepared by UTPD for law enforcement purposes are generally considered public records under the Tennessee Public Records Act (Tennessee Code Annotated § 10-7-503 *et seq.*) and are not protected by FERPA, which means the University is obligated by law to make them available to any Tennessee citizen upon request unless the report is part of an ongoing criminal investigation. Local law enforcement agencies may also be required to make their records available under similar circumstances. In addition, investigative reports prepared by other University officials (e.g., the Office of Equity & Diversity) that do not contain personally identifiable student information also are generally considered public records under the Tennessee Public Records Act.

4. Robert (Robbie) Nottingham Campus Crime Scene Investigation Act

The Robert (Robbie) Nottingham Campus Crime Scene Investigation Act (Nottingham Act), Tennessee Code Annotated § 49-7-129, requires UTPD to notify the Knoxville Police Department upon UTPD's receipt of a report from a victim alleging that any degree of rape has occurred on University property. The Nottingham Act requires UTPD and the Knoxville Police Department to participate in a joint investigation of the rape, with UTPD leading the investigation.

The Nottingham Act also requires sexual assault programs and services on campus to report annually to UTPD the number of requests for assistance received from persons who were raped on or in the vicinity of campus during the preceding calendar year. Personally identifiable information is not provided to UTPD in connection with that report.

5. <u>Due Process</u>

After the University has formally accused a Respondent of violating this policy, the Respondent may have a constitutionally-protected due process right to be informed of the nature of the allegations, including the identity of the Complainant.

E. TAKE BACK THE NIGHT AND OTHER PUBLIC AWARENESS EVENTS; RESEARCH-BASED DISCLOSURES

Public awareness events such as "Take Back the Night," candlelight vigils, protests, "survivor speak outs" or other forums in which students or employees disclose incidents of Prohibited Conduct, are not considered notice to the University of Prohibited Conduct for purposes of triggering its obligation to investigate any particular incident(s). Such events may, however, inform the need for campus-wide education and prevention efforts, and the University may provide information about Title IX rights at these events.

Disclosures of incidents of alleged Prohibited Conduct made by a University student during such student's participation as a subject in an Institutional Review Board-approved human subjects research protocol are not considered notice to the University of Prohibited Conduct for purposes of triggering its obligation to investigate any particular incident(s).

F. FALSE REPORTING

An accusation of Prohibited Conduct may have severe consequences for a Respondent. A Reporter who makes a report that is later found to have been intentionally false or made maliciously without regard for truth may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment or dismissal from the University. This provision does not apply to reports made in Good Faith (as defined in Section II.B.4), even if the facts alleged in the report are not substantiated by an investigation. Similarly, a Respondent or other person who is later proven to have intentionally given false information during the course of a University investigation or disciplinary proceeding action may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment or dismissal from the University.

IV. CARE AND SUPPORT

This section of the policy outlines a variety of University and external resources and measures relating to Prohibited Conduct. In addition to the information provided in this section, information concerning options for Complainants following a Sexual Assault can be found at: https://rainn.org/get-information/sexual-assault-recovery.

A. CONFIDENTIAL RESOURCES

The persons identified below are able to keep information communicated to them by a Complainant completely confidential and will not communicate such information to the University, law enforcement, or any other third party, unless required by law in the limited circumstances described in **Appendix D**.

Information communicated to a person identified as a confidential resource in this Section IV.A does not constitute notice or a report to the University of an incident of Prohibited Conduct. In other words, a disclosure of Prohibited Conduct to a person identified in this Section IV.A (including a person supervised by them (e.g., assistants, and front-desk staff)) will not trigger a University response to an incident because the people identified in this Section IV.A are not Mandatory Reporters and do not report any information about an incident to the Title IX Coordinator, a Deputy Title IX Coordinator, the S.A.R.T., a Mandatory Reporter, or UTPD without the Complainant's permission. As a result, the University will be unable to investigate the incident or pursue disciplinary action against the Respondent. If Prohibited Conduct is disclosed only to a University Confidential Employee, the University may be limited in its ability to provide Interim Measures to the Complainant depending on how much information the Complainant is willing to share with the University.

The persons identified in **Section IV.A.1** can, however, help a Complainant explore options, provide information, including information on Interim Measures, and provide emotional support. A Complainant who at first requests confidentiality may later decide to report the incident to the University and/or to law enforcement and have the incident fully investigated. The persons identified in **Section IV.A.1** can provide the Complainant with assistance in making such reports if the Complainant asks them to do so.

Complainants may pursue the communication options outlined in this Section IV.A regardless of whether or not they choose to report the incident to the University or law enforcement. In other words, the resources described in this policy are not mutually exclusive.

1. University "Confidential Employees"

If a Complainant does not desire action by the University and would like the details of the incident to be kept confidential, but desires to confide in someone, the Complainant may speak with one of the following persons, who are called "Confidential Employees" for purposes of this policy:

- A licensed psychologist, registered nurse, or nurse practitioner in the Student Counseling Center (865-974-2196, from 8:00 a.m. 5:00 p.m., Mondays-Fridays, except on University holidays, breaks, or closures) (resource option for students only);
- A licensed psychiatrist, registered nurse, or nurse practitioner in the Student Health Center (865-974-2251, from 8:00 a.m. 4:30 p.m., Mondays, Tuesdays, Thursdays, and Fridays, and from 9:00 a.m. 4:30 p.m. on Wednesdays, except on University holidays, breaks, or closures) (resource option for students only);
- A licensed physician, registered nurse, or nurse practitioner in the Student Health Center (865-974-3648, from 8:00 a.m. 4:30 p.m., Mondays, Tuesdays, Thursdays, and Fridays, and from 9:00 a.m. 4:30 p.m. on Wednesdays, except on University holidays, breaks, or closures) (resource option for students only);
- A licensed psychologist in the Psychological Clinic (865-974-2161, from 8:00 a.m. 5:00 p.m., Monday-Thursday, and 8:00 a.m. 5:00 p.m. on Fridays, except on University holidays, breaks, or closures);
- A counselor with the Employee Assistance Program managed by Magellan Health Services (855-Here4TN (855-437-3486)) (resource option for employees only); and
- The following persons associated with the Department of Intercollegiate Athletics (resource options for intercollegiate student-athletes only):

- the Team ENHANCE/EXCEL Coordinator (865-974-9754);
- a Team Physician (Team Physicians are University contractors, not employees); and
- a **Team Psychiatrist or Team Psychologist** (Team Psychiatrists and Team Psychologists are University contractors, not employees).

A physician, psychologist, psychiatrist, or social worker identified in this section is a Confidential Employee only if the student or employee is communicating with that person as a patient or client.

Confidential Employees may periodically report non-personally identifiable information about Prohibited Conduct to the Title IX Coordinator to keep the Title IX Coordinator informed about the general extent and nature of Prohibited Conduct on and off campus.

2. Confidential Resources Outside the University

Complainants of Prohibited Conduct also have options to communicate confidentially with someone who is <u>not</u> affiliated with the University or law enforcement. Complainants who desire to speak confidentially with someone not affiliated with the University or law enforcement may contact one of the following:

Knoxville-area resources available 24 hour/7 days a week

Sexual Assault Center of East Tennessee
 6215 Kingston Pike, Suite A, Knoxville
 http://www.mcnabbcenter.org/sacet

865-522-7273 (24 hour crisis line)

In order to better serve its students, the University has entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with the Sexual Assault Center of East Tennessee (SACETN). The primary mission of the SACETN is to provide excellent and compassionate services for survivors of sexual assault and to empower communities through education and social change. The SACETN is a service of the Helen Ross McNabb Center. A Complainant does not have to report a sexual assault to law enforcement in order to receive services from the SACETN.

SACETN has four program areas: Sexual Assault Nurse Examinations; Advocacy; Therapy; and Education and Outreach. Three of those program areas are described in more detail below.

- Sexual Assault Nurse Examinations. A Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE) is available 24/7, 365 days a year to provide forensic nursing to sexual assault crime victims ages 13 and older. SANE exams can be performed at a local hospital or at SACETN. All services provided by the SACETN are free, including no-cost SANE exams, pregnancy prevention, and testing and preventative treatment for sexually transmitted infections.
- Advocacy. The advocacy program of the SACETN provides victims of sexual assault with the support, information, and resources needed throughout the recovery process. Advocates work to ensure that Complainants' legal rights are protected, while also empowering Complainants to make their own decisions. Advocacy assistance includes: accompaniment during SANE exams, police interviews, legal appointments, and University and court proceedings; and assistance filing victim's compensation applications and petitions for orders of protection.
- Therapy. Therapy services are available to Complainants in crisis, Complainants who are victims of a recent sexual assault, and Complainants who were victims of a sexual assault or sexual abuse that happened months or years ago. The goal of the SACETN is to work collaboratively to address the many concerns and issues associated with sexual violence in order to promote healing. Therapists at the SACETN specialize in treating female, male, and LGBTQ Complainants and offer services to individuals of all ages.

University of Tennessee Medical Center

865-305-9000

1924 Alcoa Highway

http://www.utmedicalcenter.org/

NOTE: The University of Tennessee Medical Center is a separate legal entity from the University of Tennessee. As a result, a report to the University of Tennessee Medical Center does not put the University of Tennessee on notice of Prohibited Conduct.

National and state crisis lines available 24 hour/7 days a week

Tennessee Coalition Against Domestic & Sexual Violence

1-800-356-6767

http://tncoalition.org/

The Tennessee Coalition to End Domestic and Sexual Violence (TCEDS) is a private nonprofit organization composed of diverse community leaders and program members who share a common vision of ending violence in the lives of Tennesseans through public policy, advocacy, education and activities that increase the capacity of programs and communities to address violence. The TCEDS is a stateside organization that serves: domestic violence and sexual assault programs; community groups and organizations; criminal justice agencies; allied professionals (e.g., medical, legal, mental health professionals); individuals seeking information and resources; and immigrant victims of domestic or sexual violence, stalking or trafficking.

RAINN National Sexual Assault Crisis Hotline (4672)

800-656-HOPE

http://www.rainn.org/get-help/national-sexual-assault-hotline

National Domestic Violence Hotline (7233)

800-799-SAFE

www.thehotline.org

 Love is Respect – National Dating Abuse Hotline www.loveisrespect.org/ 866-331-9474

Other confidential, non-University resources

- A personal attorney
- A clergy member
- A physician or Qualified Mental Health Professional who is not an employee or contractor of the University
- A licensed marital or family therapist, licensed professional counselor, or certified clinical pastoral therapist who is not an employee or contractor of the University

Non-University counselors, advocates, and health care providers will generally maintain confidentiality unless state law otherwise requires (Appendix D) or the Complainant requests the disclosure and signs a consent or waiver form.

B. NON-CONFIDENTIAL UNIVERSITY RESOURCES

The University employees/units identified below are trained to support Complainants. While not bound by confidentiality (i.e., they are Mandatory Reporters who are required to report knowledge of incidents of Prohibited Conduct to the University and/or take other responsive action), these University employees/units will maintain the privacy of information shared by Complainants within the limited circle of those University employees involved in the University's response to an incident of Prohibited Conduct. When speaking with one of the resources below, Complainants are free to limit the details they share while they decide whether to report an incident to the University.

The following University employees/units are generally available Monday-Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on University business days unless otherwise specified below:

Title IX Coordinator
 865-974-2498

Sexual Assault Response Team
 865-974-HELP (4357)

Deputy Title IX Coordinator for Students 865-974-5725 or 865-974-HELP

Deputy Title IX Coordinator for Athletics 865-974-9190

University of Tennessee Police Department
 865-974-3111
 (24 hours/day, seven days/week)

Please contact UTPD if you would like a UTPD police officer to take you either to a local hospital or the Sexual Assault Center of East Tennessee for medical treatment, including a sexual assault nurse examination.

 Office of Student Conduct and Community Standards
 409 Student Services Building

Office of the Dean of Students
 413 Student Services Building
 http://dos.utk.edu

C. MEDICAL CARE

A Complainant may seek medical care at any time following Prohibited Conduct. The resources described in this Section V.C are confidential resources, as described in **Section IV.A**.

Medical care may be obtained from the following:

http://studentconduct.utk.edu/

- University of Tennessee Student Health Center (865-974-3648, from 8:00 a.m. 4:30 p.m., Mondays, Tuesdays, Thursdays, and Fridays, and from 9:00 a.m. 4:30 p.m. on Wednesdays, except on University holidays, breaks, or closures) (option for students only)
- Sexual Assault Center of East Tennessee (865-522-7273, 24 hours, seven days a week)
- UT Medical Center or another local hospital (24 hours, seven days a week)

In cases of Sexual Assault or Relationship Violence, it is important for a Complainant to seek immediate medical attention to determine the presence of physical injury, address pregnancy concerns, determine the possibility of exposure to sexually transmitted diseases, and, if the Complainant later decides to pursue legal options, to obtain evidence to assist in criminal prosecution, a civil action, or in obtaining a civil protection order. According to the Sexual Assault Center of East Tennessee, the key to success in collecting physical evidence of a Sexual Assault is to collect the evidence as soon as possible after a Sexual Assault (ideally within 24 hours of a Sexual Assault but no later than 72 hours after a Sexual Assault). Prior to seeking medical care, Complainants of Sexual Assault should not change their clothing, bathe, shower, douche, use the bathroom, brush their teeth, drink liquids, wash their hands or face, or comb their hair. If Complainants change clothes, they should place all of their clothing that was worn at the time of the incident in a paper (not plastic) bag.

The collection of evidence for use in a criminal prosecution or an order of protection hearing relating to Sexual Assault can only be performed by trained personnel at a hospital emergency room (e.g., UT Medical Center) or at the Sexual Assault Center of East Tennessee; physical examinations by other healthcare providers are likely to impede potential future legal remedies. In cases of Sexual Assault, a medical professional usually will: examine the Complainant; provide appropriate medical treatment; collect evidence of the assault, such as hairs, fluids, and fibers; and, if applicable, talk with the

Complainant about the prevention of venereal disease and pregnancy. A medical examination preserves evidence for forensic analysis in the event that a Complainant wishes to pursue a criminal prosecution or an order of protection. The medical examination likely will be performed by a sexual assault nurse examiner, a nurse who is specially trained to collect evidence in cases of Sexual Assault.

If the Complainant chooses not to report the incident to law enforcement at the time of the medical examination, the medical provider will provide the examination materials to local law enforcement with a unique identifying number that will also be provided to the Complainant. The law enforcement agency with jurisdiction will store the examination materials for up to three (3) years. If in that time the Complainant decides to make a police report, the Complainant may report to the law enforcement agency with jurisdiction and refer to the unique identifying number so that the Complainant's examination materials may be matched up with the Complainant's law enforcement report for evidentiary purposes.

D. INTERIM MEASURES

After a Mandatory Reporter receives a report of Prohibited Conduct, the University will implement Interim Measures designed to eliminate the reported Prohibited Conduct and protect the persons involved in the matter (e.g., Complainant, Reporter, Respondent potential witnesses).

1. Availability of Interim Measures

Interim Measures are available:

- even if the Complainant does not want to report the incident to law enforcement;
- even if the Complainant has requested confidentiality or that the University not pursue an investigation or discipline and the University has determined that it can respect a Complainant's request for confidentiality (Section III.A.5). (The University may be able to take measures to protect the Complainant while keeping the identity of the Complainant confidential, such as: providing support services to the Complainant; changing living arrangements or course schedules, assignments, or tests; and providing increased monitoring, supervision, or security at locations or activities where the Prohibited Conduct occurred):
- prior to or during an investigation of Prohibited Conduct; and
- prior to a final determination that Prohibited Conduct occurred.

2. Examples of Interim Measures

The following are examples of Interim Measures:

- informing the Complainant of the Complainant's rights under the University's procedures for complaints against students or procedures for complaints against employees or other non-students;
- informing the Complainant of the Complainant's right to report the incident to law enforcement for criminal investigation and prosecution and assisting the Complainant in reporting an incident to law enforcement, if the Complainant wants to report the incident;
- issuing a no-contact directive to the Respondent, which prohibits the Respondent from having verbal, physical, or written contact with the Complainant for a definite or indefinite period of time (the Complainant may also receive a directive to not contact the Respondent);
- issuing an interim suspension to the Respondent (if a student) prior to the conclusion of the investigation and resolution of a complaint of Prohibited Conduct (an interim suspension may be issued when the Vice Chancellor for Student Life (or designee) has reasonable cause to believe that a student's or student organization's continued presence on University-controlled property or at University-affiliated activities poses a significant risk of substantial harm to the health or safety of others or to property or poses an ongoing threat to the disruption of, or interference with, the normal operations of the University);
- putting a Respondent (if an employee) on leave, in accordance with other applicable University policies, prior to the conclusion of the investigation and resolution of a report of Prohibited Conduct;
- providing medical and counseling services to a Complainant who is a student;
- exploring changes in living, transportation, dining, and working arrangements for the Complainant and the Respondent;

- providing an escort to ensure that a Complainant who is a student can move safely between classes and activities:
- arranging appointments for a Complainant with follow-up on-campus support services (if a student) or off-campus support services, such as those identified in this **Section IV** (e.g., arranging an appointment with the Knoxville Family Justice Center to discuss options for pursuing an order of protection in Knox County Fourth Circuit Court);
- exploring changes in class and extracurricular schedules, including adjustments so that the Complainant and the Respondent do not share the same classes (if both the Complainant and the Respondent are students);
- assisting the Complainant in communicating with faculty (for Complainants who are students);
- reviewing any disciplinary action(s) taken against the Complainant to see if there is a causal connection between the Respondent's misconduct and the misconduct that may have resulted in the Complainant being disciplined;
- providing academic support for the Complainant, including tutoring (for Complainants who are students); and
- exploring the options of re-taking a course, dropping a course, or withdrawing for a semester without financial or academic penalty (for students).

3. <u>Determination of Interim Measures</u>

The specific Interim Measures implemented and the process for implementing those measures will vary depending on the facts of each case and the student or employee status of the Complainant and the Respondent. The Title IX Coordinator or a Deputy Title IX Coordinator, in consultation as needed with the S.A.R.T. or other appropriate University employees (e.g., an employee who would be involved in implementing the Interim Measure being considered), will consider a number of factors in determining what Interim Measures the University will take, including, for example: the specific desire(s) expressed by the person who will benefit from the Interim Measures (e.g., the Complainant); whether the Complainant has requested confidentiality (Section III.A.5); the age of the persons involved; the severity or pervasiveness of the allegations; any continuing effects on the Complainant; whether the Complainant and Respondent share the same residence hall, dining hall, classes, extracurricular activities, transportation, or job location; and whether judicial measures have been taken to protect the Complainant (e.g., civil protection orders). In implementing Interim Measures, the University attempts to minimize the burden on the Complainant while balancing the due process rights, if any, of the Respondent.

4. Subsequent Communications with the University Concerning Interim Measures

The University will strive to maintain consistent contact with the Complainant and the Respondent to ensure that all safety, emotional, and physical well-being concerns are being addressed. Persons are encouraged to report to the Title IX Coordinator concerns about the failure of another person to abide by the terms of an Interim Measure. The University will take immediate and responsive action to enforce a previously implemented Interim Measure.

E. ORDERS OF PROTECTION AND OTHER LEGAL REMEDIES

For assistance in pursuing orders of protection in Knox County Fourth Circuit Court and other legal remedies, a Complainant may contact:

Knoxville Family Justice Center
400 Harriet Tubman Street
Knoxville, TN 37915
865-521-6336 (24/7 crisis line)
http://fjcknoxville.com/

The Title IX Coordinator/Deputy Title IX Coordinators, a member of the S.A.R.T., or UTPD can assist a Complainant with arranging an appointment with the Knoxville Family Justice Center to discuss options for pursuing an order of protection and other legal remedies.

Additional information on orders of protection can be found here:

- The Tennessee District Attorneys General Conference provides information for victims of Sexual Assault and Relationship Violence on multiple pages of its website:

 http://www.tndagc.org/dv.htm (FAQ on orders of protection)

 http://www.tndagc.org/vwh.htm (resource describing the criminal justice system written specifically for those who need to understand how the system relates to them as victims/survivors and how perpetrators interact with the system)

 http://www.tndagc.com/vr.htm (description of victims' rights under Article I, Section 35 of the Tennessee Constitution relating to criminal cases)
- The Knoxville Police Department provides a list of community resources for victims of domestic violence here: http://www.cityofknoxville.org/kpd/dvu_gethelp.asp.
- The Knox County Fourth Circuit Court provides information on domestic violence and orders of protection here: http://www.knoxcounty.org/fourthcircuitcourt/domestic violence.php.

V. <u>UNIVERSITY PROCEDURES FOR INVESTIGATING AND RESOLVING</u> REPORTS OF PROHIBITED CONDUCT

A. SUMMARY OF STUDENT AND EMPLOYEE PROCEDURES

The University has specific procedures for investigating and resolving reports of Prohibited Conduct based on the relationship of the Respondent to the University and the type of Prohibited Conduct that was reported.

- The procedures used to investigate and resolve Prohibited Conduct involving a Respondent who is a student a described in **Section V.B** and **Section V.D**.
- The procedures used to investigate and resolve Prohibited Conduct involving a Respondent who is an <u>employee or other non-student</u> generally depends on whether the incident allegedly involved non-Consensual physical contact with the Complainant.
 - A report involving Sexual Assault, a Sex Offense Crime, a Relationship Violence Crime, Dating Violence, Domestic Violence, or Stalking generally will be resolved in accordance with the procedures described in **Section V.B** and **Section V.C**.
 - A report of Sex Discrimination (e.g., Sexual Harassment) that does **not** involve Sexual Assault, a Sex Offense Crime, a Relationship Violence Crime, Dating Violence, Domestic Violence, or Stalking generally will be resolved by the Office of Equity & Diversity in accordance with the University's **Discrimination Complaint Procedure** (http://oed.utk.edu/complaints/).

Appendix E contains a chart that summarizes which complaint procedures will be used to resolve reports of Prohibited Conduct.

B. STANDARDS APPLICABLE TO ALL PROCEDURES

The standards in this Section V.B apply to all procedures under this policy (i.e., **Section V.C** and **Section V.D**) for investigating and resolving reports of Prohibited Conduct, regardless of whether the Complainant or Respondent is a University student, University employee, or a person who is neither a student nor an employee.

1. Determining the Appropriate Procedure

The appropriate University procedure for investigating and resolving reports of Prohibited Conduct generally is determined by whether the Respondent is a student, employee, or a person who is neither a student nor an employee. In all of the procedures described below, the University is committed to providing a prompt, thorough, and equitable investigation and resolution. A University investigation may occur alongside, rather than in lieu of, a law enforcement investigation. The University does not use mediation to resolve incidents of Sexual Misconduct. The Title IX Coordinator will resolve issues regarding the appropriate investigatory and resolution procedure.

2. Selecting an Investigator

For each report of Prohibited Conduct to be investigated, the University may select an investigator(s) of its choosing, provided that the investigator has specific training and experience investigating allegations of Prohibited Conduct. Any investigator(s) chosen to conduct the investigation must be impartial and free of any conflict of interest. The investigator(s) may be a University employee, a team of University employees, an external investigator(s) engaged to assist the University, or a team of investigators that pairs an external investigator(s) with a University employee. Investigations of reports of Prohibited Conduct are usually performed by the Office of Equity and Diversity (if the Respondent is an employee or other non-student) or the Office of Student Conduct (if the Respondent is a student). A separate law enforcement investigation may be conducted by UTPD.

3. Preponderance of the Evidence Standard

All investigations and proceedings, including disciplinary hearings, relating to Prohibited Conduct must be conducted using a "Preponderance of the Evidence" standard.

4. Advisors and Support Persons

Both the Complainant and the Respondent are entitled to bring a person of their choice to University meetings and hearings, but the person's role is limited to providing advice, guidance, and/or support for the Complainant or the Respondent, not acting as an advocate or participant (except in a TUAPA Hearing, in which a Complainant and a Respondent are entitled to have an attorney advocate on their behalf).

5. Training

University employees and students participating in University investigations and disciplinary hearings involving Prohibited Conduct receive annual training on issues related to Prohibited Conduct and how to conduct an investigation and/or hearing in a way that protects the safety of Complainants and promotes accountability.

6. Complainants' Rights

In addition to rights for Complainants described in other parts of this Section V and other sections of this policy, Complainants have the following rights in cases involving Prohibited Conduct:

- notice concerning the procedure by which the University will handle the Complainant's report and an opportunity to ask questions about University policies and procedures;
- a prompt, thorough, and equitable investigation of the Complainant's report;
- the same opportunity as the Respondent to present an explanation of the facts during the University's investigation;
- notice of the outcome of the University's investigation;
- notice of the date, time, and location of a disciplinary hearing; the right to have a disciplinary hearing closed to the public if a hearing involves a student Complainant or Respondent; and the right to request rescheduling of a disciplinary hearing for good cause;
- the same access as the Respondent to any information or documents that will be used by the University during a disciplinary hearing, unless prohibited by law;
- to challenge the seating of any TUAPA administrative judge or hearing officer for good cause (determined at the discretion of the Chancellor/Agency Head); any member of a hearing board, panel, or committee for good cause (determined at the discretion of the chairperson of the hearing board, or, if the seating of the chairperson is challenged, then at the discretion of the majority of the hearing board; or any other hearing decision maker for good cause (determined at the discretion of the University employee responsible for supervising the hearing board);
- the same opportunity as the Respondent to be present during a disciplinary hearing, present witnesses and other evidence, challenge the admissibility of evidence, and cross-examine adverse witnesses during the disciplinary hearing;
- to testify or remain silent in an investigation or disciplinary hearing;
- not to be questioned directly by the Respondent during a disciplinary hearing or at any other time during the University's investigation or resolution;
- to submit a written impact statement to a hearing board, panel, or committee, or other hearing decision maker, for consideration during the sanctioning phase of a disciplinary hearing, if the Respondent is found responsible for the charges, or to the Office of Student Conduct or other

administrator for consideration during the sanctioning phase of an administrative hearing, if the Respondent admits responsibility for the charges;

• to be provided with the same or equivalent rights as the Respondent to challenge or appeal the decision of a University investigation or disciplinary hearing panel, board, or other decision maker.

7. Notice to Complainants and Respondents

Unless prohibited by federal law, with respect to any University disciplinary hearing that arises from an allegation of Prohibited Conduct, the University will provide simultaneous written notification to the Complainant and the Respondent of:

- the results of the hearing;
- the University's procedures for the Complainant and the Respondent to appeal the results of the University disciplinary hearing, if such procedures are available (any such procedures shall be available to both the Complainant and the Respondent);
- any change to the results of the hearing before the results are final; and
- when the results of the hearing become final.

For the purposes of this Section V.A.7, "results" means any initial, interim, and final decision by any official or entity authorized to resolve disciplinary matters within the University. The results include any sanctions imposed by the University and include the rationale for the results.

Notice to the Complainant and the Respondent concerning other matters (e.g., appeals) shall be provided in writing simultaneously to the Complainant and Respondent.

8. Time Frames

The University will strive to meet the time frames described in this Section V. In each case, however, the University will balance the need to complete a prompt investigation and resolution with the need to conduct a thorough investigation and a resolution that complies with due process. Thus, the actual time to complete an investigation and resolution may require a reasonable adjustment of the time frames in this policy depending on many factors, including, without limitation: the complexity of the allegations; the complexity of the investigation and resolution; the severity and extent of the alleged misconduct; the number of parties, witnesses, and the types of other evidence (e.g., forensic evidence) involved; the availability of the parties, witnesses, and evidence (e.g., forensic evidence); a request by a Complainant to conduct an investigation or resolution at a slower pace; the effect of a concurrent criminal investigation; any intervening University holidays, breaks, or other closures; and/or other unforeseen circumstances. In the event that the need arises to significantly adjust the time frames in this policy or those previously communicated to the Complainant and the Respondent for good cause, the University will notify the Complainant and the Respondent in writing of the reason for the delay and the expected adjustment in time frames.

9. Prior Conduct, Including Sexual History

In general, neither the Complainant's nor the Respondent's prior sexual history is relevant to the issue of whether Prohibited Conduct occurred and will not be considered as evidence during an investigation or hearing. However, when the Respondent contends that the Complainant gave Consent for a particular sexual act, the prior sexual history between the Complainant and the Respondent may be relevant to assess the manner and nature of communications between the parties. As noted in **Section II.B.1**, however, the mere existence of a current or previous dating, romantic, intimate, or sexual relationship with the other person does not allow a Respondent to imply or infer Consent. The Complainant's and the Respondent's prior sexual history may also be relevant in other limited circumstances, such as to show intent, motive, absence of mistake, or to explain an injury or physical finding.

10. Prompt, Fair, and Impartial Proceedings

All activities related to a non-criminal resolution of a University disciplinary complaint, including, but not limited to, fact-finding investigations, formal or informal meetings, and hearings conducted by the University under this policy shall be prompt, fair, and impartial. Those activities shall be conducted in a manner that: (1) is consistent with the University's policies and transparent to the Complainant and the Respondent; (2) includes timely notice of meetings at which the Complainant or the Respondent, or both, may be present; and (3) provides timely access to the Complainant, the Respondent, and appropriate officials to any information that will be used after the fact-finding investigation but during informal and formal disciplinary meetings and hearings. Decision makers concerning appeals shall not have a conflict of interest or bias for or against the Complainant or the Respondent.

C. PROCEDURE FOR INVESTIGATING AND RESOLVING A REPORT INVOLVING A RESPONDENT WHO IS A UNIVERSITY EMPLOYEE OR OTHER NON-STUDENT

This Section V.C describes procedures for investigating and resolving a report of Sexual Assault, Sex Offense Crimes, Relationship Violence, Stalking, or Retaliation involving a Respondent who is an employee or other non-student.

1. Meeting (Communication) with the Complainant

After receiving a report of Prohibited Conduct from a Reporter or a Mandatory Reporter, the Title IX Coordinator will initiate immediate and appropriate steps by the University to: inform the Complainant about this policy, including the Complainant's rights, and give the Complainant an opportunity to ask questions; implement Interim Measures; and, subject to a Complainant's request for confidentiality (Section III.A.5), investigate and resolve the matter promptly, thoroughly, and equitably in accordance with the procedures outlined in this section if, based on an initial assessment, the alleged conduct meets the definition of Prohibited Conduct. Subject to the University's legal disclosure obligations, information about the report will be shared only as reasonably necessary with investigators, witnesses and the Respondent. The Title IX Coordinator will designate one or more persons to investigate the report, which most often will be an employee in the Office of Equity and Diversity.

2. Investigation and Resolution

Unless the University determines that it will not investigate a report of Prohibited Conduct following a Complainant's request for confidentiality (Section III.A.5), the investigator selected by the University will conduct the investigation in a manner appropriate in light of the circumstances of the case, which will typically include interviews with the Complainant, the Respondent, and any witnesses. As part of the investigation, the University will provide an equal opportunity for the Complainant and the Respondent to be heard, to submit information, and to identify witnesses and other evidence. The interviews will be supplemented by the gathering of any physical, documentary, or other evidence, as appropriate and available. The investigation is designed to provide a fair and reliable gathering of the facts. The investigation will be thorough and equitable, and all persons will be treated with appropriate sensitivity and respect. The investigation will be conducted in a manner that is respectful of individual privacy concerns.

The University's investigator will make written findings and recommendations (including a statement outlining the basis for them) and transmit the findings and recommendations to the appropriate University administrator. The findings and recommendations will be made available simultaneously to the Complainant and the Respondent. The appropriate administrator will review the investigator's findings and recommendations, make a determination whether this policy was violated (and, if so, what disciplinary and/or other corrective actions should be imposed), and will provide simultaneous written notification of the determination to the Complainant and the Respondent.

The University strives to complete the procedures in this Section V.B.2 within 60 calendar days of the receipt of a report of Prohibited Conduct.

3. Appeals

A Respondent who is an employee who is not satisfied with the administrator's determination may appeal in accordance with applicable University policies and procedures, including, without limitation, University of Tennessee System Human Resources Policy 0525 (Disciplinary Action), University of Tennessee System Human Resources Policy 0640 (Grievances), and the University of Tennessee, Knoxville Faculty Handbook. A Complainant shall be provided the same opportunity as a Respondent to submit information to the decision maker on appeal.

Within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of the administrator's determination, a Complainant who is not satisfied with the determination may appeal in writing to the next higher administrative level. The University will inform the Complainant in writing of the person to whom an appeal may be made. Any administrator who receives a Complainant's appeal shall make a decision on the appeal within ten (10) calendar days of the administrator's receipt of the appeal.

Decision makers concerning appeals must be impartial and free of any conflict of interest.

Decisions on appeals shall be provided in writing simultaneously to the Complainant and Respondent.

4. <u>Disciplinary or Other Corrective Actions</u>

Disciplinary actions with respect to an employee found to have committed Prohibited Conduct can include, without limitation: termination, demotion, suspension without pay, and/or oral or written corrective action. When the person found to have committed Prohibited Conduct is neither a student nor an employee, the University's corrective action(s) will vary based on the University's ability to implement corrective action(s).

D. PROCEDURE FOR INVESTIGATING AND RESOLVING A REPORT INVOLVING A RESPONDENT WHO IS A UNIVERSITY STUDENT

This Section V.D describes procedures for investigating and resolving reports of Prohibited Conduct involving a Respondent who is a student.

1. Meeting (Communication) with the Complainant

After receiving a report of Prohibited Conduct from a Reporter or a Mandatory Reporter, the Title IX Coordinator, a Deputy Title IX Coordinator, and/or a member of the S.A.R.T. will initiate immediate and appropriate steps by the University to: have an appropriate University employee meet with or otherwise communicate with the Complainant; in cases of Sexual Assault, Relationship Violence, or Stalking, provide a Complainant with a copy of this policy and/or another written publication approved by the Title IX Coordinator to inform the Complainant of the Complainant's rights under this policy (if that has not already been done by a Mandatory Reporter); evaluate whether Interim Measures need to be implemented and assist with the implementation of Interim Measures; and, subject to a Complainant's request for confidentiality (Section III.A.5), initiate the investigation and resolution procedures outlined in this section if, based on an initial assessment, the alleged conduct meets the definition of Prohibited Conduct. The Title IX Coordinator, a Deputy Title IX Coordinator, and/or a member of the S.A.R.T. also can assist a Complainant in reporting the incident to law enforcement.

2. Investigation

Unless the University determines that it will not investigate a report of Prohibited Conduct following a Complainant's request for confidentiality (Section III.A.5), the investigator(s) selected by the University will conduct the investigation in a manner appropriate in light of the circumstances of the case, which will typically include interviews with the Complainant, the Respondent, and any witnesses. As part of the investigation, the University will provide an equal opportunity for the Complainant and the Respondent to be heard, to submit information, and to identify witnesses and other evidence. The interviews will be supplemented by the gathering of any physical, documentary, or other evidence, as appropriate and available. The investigation is designed to provide a fair and reliable gathering of the facts. The investigation will be thorough and equitable, and all persons will be treated with appropriate sensitivity and respect. The investigation will be conducted in a manner that is respectful of individual privacy concerns. Investigations usually will be conducted by the Office of Student Conduct.

The investigator will prepare a written report at the conclusion of the investigation and submit the report to the Director of Student Conduct and Community Standards for further action, as necessary. The Director will provide simultaneous written notice of the investigative finding and disciplinary penalty/remedy (if any) to the Complainant and the Respondent. The University strives to complete the procedures in this Section V.D.2 within 60 calendar days of the receipt of a report of Prohibited Conduct.

3. Resolution

If the University determines after an investigation that a student has engaged in Prohibited Conduct, then the University will take prompt and effective steps reasonably calculated to end the misconduct, prevent the misconduct from recurring, and address its effects. One of those steps likely will involve the Office of Student Conduct charging the Respondent with a violation of the Standards of Conduct and resolving the matter in accordance with Section V.B, Section V.B.4, and the University's student disciplinary regulations and procedures described in *Hilltopics*.

4. Appeals

Appeal by the Complainant of a Decision of the Office of Student Conduct to Not Charge a Respondent with Violating the Standards of Conduct. A Complainant may appeal a decision of the Office of Student Conduct to not charge a Respondent with violating the University's Standards of Conduct to the Vice Chancellor for Student Life by filing a written request for appeal within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of the decision of the Office of Student Conduct. The Vice Chancellor for Student Life may affirm the decision of the Office of Student Conduct, reverse the decision and direct the Office of Student Conduct to charge the Respondent with violating the Standards of Conduct, or remand the matter for additional investigation or consideration. The Vice Chancellor for Student Life will issue a decision in writing, sent to the Complainant and the Respondent simultaneously, within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of the appeal. The decision of the Vice Chancellor for Student Life is final.

Appeal by the Complainant of a Proposed Disciplinary Penalty. In a case in which the Respondent has indicated a willingness to accept responsibility for violating a Standard of Conduct, but the Complainant does not agree with the disciplinary penalty proposed by the Office of Student Conduct for the Respondent's violation of the Standard of Conduct, the Complainant may appeal to the Vice Chancellor for Student Life by filing a written request for appeal within ten (10) calendar days after notification of the proposed disciplinary penalty by the Office of Student Conduct. The Vice Chancellor for Student Life may affirm the disciplinary penalty proposed by the Office of Student Conduct, or remand the matter for additional consideration by the Office of Student Conduct. The Vice Chancellor for Student Life will issue a decision in writing, sent to the Complainant and the Respondent simultaneously, within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of the request for review. The decision of the Vice Chancellor for Student Life is final.

Appeal of a Decision of the Student Disciplinary Board or the Student Tribunal

- (a) <u>Appellate Boards</u>. A decision of the Student Disciplinary Board (SDB) may be appealed to the Student Tribunal (ST). A decision of the ST may be appealed to the Student Life Council (SLC). The decision of the Student Life Council is final and may not be appealed. For purposes of this section, the term "Appellate Board" means the ST or the SLC.
- (b) <u>Appealable Decisions</u>. The University, the Complainant and/or the Respondent may appeal a decision of the SDB or the ST that is contained in the notice of the SDB's or ST's decision, but the grounds for appeal are limited to those described below in subsection (d).
- (c) <u>Notice of Appeal</u>. An appeal of a decision of the SDB or ST is procedurally valid only if all of the following requirements are met:
 - 1. An appeal shall be submitted in writing by fully completing a form approved by Student Conduct called a "Notice of Appeal."
 - 2. For an appeal of a decision of the SDB to the ST, the Notice of Appeal shall be received by Student Conduct within five (5) business days of the date that Student Conduct transmitted the notice of the SDB's decision. For an appeal of a decision of the ST to the

SLC, the Notice of Appeal shall be received by Student Conduct within five (5) business days of the date that the Director of Student Conduct transmitted the notice of the ST's decision.

- 3. The Notice of Appeal shall not include information that is not included in the record of the hearing before the SDB or, if applicable, the appeal to the ST.
- (d) <u>Grounds for Appeal</u>. The Notice of Appeal shall explain the grounds for the appeal, which shall be limited to one or more of the following grounds:
 - 1. *Clearly Unreasonable Sanction*. The sanction(s) imposed by the SDB or ST is clearly unreasonable (i.e., has no sound basis or justification in reason).
 - 2. Substantial Procedural Error. A procedural error occurred prior to or during the SDB hearing, and the procedural error reasonably could have had a substantial impact on the SDB in reaching its decision. Neither the failure of the Respondent or the Complainant to secure the attendance of an advisor or witness nor the failure of an advisor or witness to attend or otherwise participate in any phase of the student conduct process constitutes a procedural error. The failure of the Respondent or the Complainant to attend the SDB hearing does not constitute a procedural error.
 - 3. *New Information*. New information has been discovered, the information reasonably could have had a substantial impact on the SDB in reaching its decision, and the person submitting the Notice of Appeal did not know and reasonably could not have known about the information at the time of the SDB Hearing.
- (e) <u>Effective Date of Sanction</u>. The sanction(s) imposed by the SDB shall not be effective during the period in which a Notice of Appeal may be submitted, or, if a procedurally valid Notice of Appeal has been submitted, until a Notice of Final Decision is issued by the SDB or ST, whichever is later.
- (f) Notice of Final Decision.
 - 1. An Appellate Board shall reach one (1) of the following decisions:
 - (i) Affirm both the SDB's finding that the Respondent violated the Standards of Conduct and the sanctions imposed by the SDB;
 - (ii) In a case involving a clearly unreasonable sanction, affirm the SDB's finding that the Respondent violated the Standards of Conduct and modify the sanctions imposed by the SDB by imposing a greater or lesser sanction(s);
 - (iii) In cases of a substantial procedural error, remand the case for a new hearing to be conducted by the same SDB. The Appellate Board should recommend to the Chairperson how to correct the procedural error. The Director of Student Conduct may appoint a substitute member for any member of the SDB who is unavailable to participate in the new hearing; or
 - (iv) In cases of new information that fits the criteria described above in subsection (d)(3), remand the case to the same SDB for the limited purpose of hearing the new information and reconsidering its decision based on the new information. The Director of Student Conduct may appoint a substitute member for any member of the SDB who is unavailable to participate in hearing the new information or the reconsideration of the decision.
 - 2. The Appellate Board shall communicate its decision through a written notice called a Notice of Final Decision. The Notice of Final Decision should be issued within five (5) business days of the hearing of the appeal by the Appellate Board. The Notice of Final Decision shall be sent to the Director of Student Conduct, who will send the Notice of

Final Decision to the Respondent, the Chairperson of the SDB, and, if permitted or required by law, the Complainant.

3. The decision of the SLC is final and is not subject to appeal.

Appeal by the University, the Complainant, or the Respondent of an Initial Order in a TUAPA Hearing. An appeal of an initial order of in a TUAPA Hearing shall be filed with the Chancellor/Agency Head within fifteen (15) calendar days after entry of the initial order. In cases involving Prohibited Conduct, the Chancellor/Agency Head will strive to issue a final order or an order remanding the matter for further proceedings within ten (10) calendar days after the filing of an appeal.

<u>Decisions on Any Type of Appeal.</u> Decisions on appeals shall be provided in writing simultaneously to the Complainant and Respondent.

5. Disciplinary Sanctions and Other Remedial and Protective Measures

Following a final determination under University procedures that a student committed Prohibited Conduct (e.g., after appeals have been exhausted), the University will take prompt and effective steps reasonably calculated to end the misconduct, prevent the misconduct from recurring, and address its effects. Such steps likely will include imposing one or more of the following disciplinary sanctions: permanent dismissal, suspension, deferred suspension, disciplinary probation, disciplinary reprimand, restitution, education, loss of privilege, and/or warning. In addition to imposing disciplinary sanctions, the University may implement other remedial and protective actions, including: issuing a no-contact directive to the Respondent; providing medical and counseling services to the Complainant (for a student Complainant); exploring changes in living, transportation, dining, and working arrangements for the Complainant and the Respondent; providing an escort to ensure that the Complainant can move safely between classes and activities (for a student Complainant); exploring changes in class and extracurricular schedules, including adjustments so that the Complainant and the Respondent do not share the same classes (for a student Complainant); assisting the Complainant in communicating with faculty (for a student Complainant); providing academic support for the Complainant, including tutoring (for a student Complainant); and exploring options for re-taking a course, dropping a course, or withdrawing for a semester without financial or academic penalty (for a student Complainant). The University will take prompt and effective steps reasonably calculated to end the misconduct, prevent the misconduct from recurring, and address its effects.

VI. REQUIREMENTS AND GUIDELINES FOR MANDATORY REPORTERS

A. REQUIRED ACTIONS

A Mandatory Reporter who receives information concerning an incident of Prohibited Conduct shall:7

- assist the Complainant with obtaining medical assistance (if needed or requested) or accessing other on- or off-campus resources (if requested);
- encourage the Complainant to report the incident to law enforcement and assist the Complainant in contacting law enforcement if requested by the Complainant; and
- **3.** report the incident to the University:
 - evaluate whether University Safety Policy 0575 applies because the incident involves suspected child abuse or child sexual abuse (if so, comply with the reporting requirements of that policy); or
 - If University Safety Policy 0575 does not apply, report the incident to the Title IX Coordinator, a Deputy Title IX Coordinator, or a member of the S.A.R.T. promptly after receiving notice of the incident (no later than 48 hours after receiving the report⁸). The Mandatory Reporter shall communicate: (1) details known about the alleged incident that the University will need to determine what happened including the names of the Complainant, Reporter, and Respondent(s), any witnesses, and any other relevant facts, including the date, time and specific location of the alleged incident; and (2) if applicable, communicate to the Title IX Coordinator, a Deputy Title IX Coordinator, or a member of the S.A.R.T. that a Complainant has requested that the University maintain confidentiality.

Deputy Title IX Coordinators and members of the S.A.R.T. must inform the Title IX Coordinator of all reports of Prohibited Conduct. In cases involving Sexual Assault, Relationship Violence, or Stalking, the Title IX Coordinator must ensure that a copy of this policy or another written publication approved by the Title IX Coordinator has been provided to the Complainant to inform the Complainant of their rights under this policy.

Complainants who are Mandatory Reporters are not required to report or take any other action identified in this section with respect to Prohibited Conduct to which they personally have been subjected.

B. RECOMMENDED ACTIONS

Before a person reveals information to the Mandatory Reporter that the person may wish to keep confidential, use his/her best efforts to ensure that the person understands:

⁷ In addition to the responsibilities of a Mandatory Reporter described in this Section VI, the Title IX Coordinator, Deputy Title IX Coordinators, the S.A.R.T., and UTPD also are responsible for carrying out responsibilities described in other sections of this policy. The Title IX Coordinator, Deputy Title IX Coordinators, the S.A.R.T., and/or UTPD may develop internal procedures for the purposes of implementing this policy, as long as the procedures do not conflict with this policy.

⁸ If the end of the 48 hour reporting window falls on a weekend or a University holiday, then the Mandatory Reporter should report the incident as soon as possible on the next University business day.

⁹ A Mandatory Reporter may also inform his/her supervisor of the incident. With the prior approval of the Title IX Coordinator, a University unit may adopt a policy that requires a Mandatory Reporter in the unit to report an incident of Prohibited Conduct to his/her supervisor or other designee within the unit, who, in lieu of the Mandatory Reporter who received notice of the incident, shall promptly report the incident to the Title IX Coordinator, a Deputy Title IX Coordinator, or a member of the S.A.R.T.

- the Mandatory Reporter's obligation to report the names of a Respondent and a Complainant involved in the alleged Prohibited Conduct, as well as other relevant facts regarding the alleged incident, to the University;
- a Complainant's ability to share the information confidentially with certain on- and off-campus resources (Section IV.A);
- a Complainant's option under this policy to request that the University maintain confidentiality (Section III.A.5), if the person indicates that he/she wants to disclose information to the Mandatory Reporter but wishes to maintain confidentiality;
- 4. if the person indicates hesitancy to report an incident to the University, inform the person that the University prohibits Retaliation and will not only take steps to prevent Retaliation but also take strong responsive action if Retaliation occurs; and

A Mandatory Reporter who receives information from a Complainant concerning an incident of Prohibited Conduct **should**:

- provide emotional support to the Complainant;
- encourage the Complainant to preserve any physical evidence (e.g., if possible, the Complainant should not shower, bathe, douche, change clothes, brush his/her teeth, or comb his/her hair);
- 3. inform the Complainant that the Mandatory Reporter will be reporting the incident to the Title IX Coordinator, a Deputy Title IX Coordinator, or a member of the S.A.R.T., one of whom will be contacting the Complainant to provide further guidance and assistance; and
- 4. provide a Complainant with a copy of this policy or another written publication approved by the Title IX Coordinator, if available, to inform the Complainant of the Complainant's rights under this policy.

C. PROHIBITED ACTIONS

A Mandatory Reporter who receives notice of an incident of Prohibited Conduct shall not:

- 1. guarantee a Complainant that the Mandatory Reporter will keep information confidential:
- 2. share information about the incident with a person who does not have a University-related need to know;
- 3. share personally identifiable information about the incident with law enforcement (including UTPD) without the Complainant's consent; and/or
- 4. investigate or otherwise attempt to resolve reports of Prohibited Conduct without the approval of the Title IX Coordinator (this provision does not apply to UTPD), other than taking an action required or recommended in Section VI.A-B.

D. UTPD

UTPD shall provide the Title IX Coordinator with access to its investigation notes and findings as necessary for the University's non-law enforcement investigation, as long as providing the notes and findings would not compromise UTPD's law enforcement investigation.

When the University's non-law enforcement investigation of a report of Prohibited Conduct occurs concurrently with a law enforcement investigation of the same incident, UTPD shall not cause the University's non-law enforcement investigation to be delayed pending the outcome of UTPD's law enforcement investigation, except for the collection of evidence.

VII. OTHER UNIVERSITY POLICIES/PROCEDURES; DUE PROCESS; ACADEMIC FREEDOM AND FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHTS

A. CHILD ABUSE AND CHILD SEXUAL ABUSE

University of Tennessee System Safety Policy 0575 ("Programs for Minors") (http://policy.tennessee.edu/safety_policy/sa0575/) takes precedence over this policy with respect to reporting suspected child abuse and child sexual abuse. Except for Safety Policy 0575 and as otherwise provided in this policy, this policy takes precedence over other University policies and procedures concerning Prohibited Conduct in the event of a conflict.

B. STUDENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The Standards of Conduct for students can be found in *Hilltopics*, the University's student handbook (http://hilltopics.utk.edu/). Standard of Conduct Number 7 for students prohibits students from engaging in Sexual Misconduct, Relationship Violence, or Stalking. Standard of Conduct Number 31 for students prohibits students from engaging in Retaliation. In the event of a conflict between this policy and *Hilltopics*, this policy shall control. If this policy does not supply a substantive or procedural rule relating to an issue, then *Hilltopics* shall supply the rule.

C. EMPLOYEE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

In the event of a conflict between this policy and another University employee policy or procedure, this policy shall control. If this policy does not supply a substantive or procedural rule relating to an issue, then another employee policy or procedure, if applicable, may supply the rule. The following is a non-exclusive list of other policies and procedures that in some cases may apply to the investigation and/or resolution of a report of Prohibited Conduct involving a University employee:

- University of Tennessee Board of Trustees Policy 0006 (Policies Governing Academic Freedom, Responsibility, and Tenure)
- University of Tennessee, Knoxville Faculty Handbook
- University of Tennessee System Human Resources Policy 0160 (Termination of Employment)
- University of Tennessee System Human Resources Policy 0220 (Equal Employment Opportunity and Affirmative Action)
- University of Tennessee System Human Resources Policy 0355 (Leave of Absence)
- University of Tennessee System Human Resources Policy 0525 (Disciplinary Action)
- University of Tennessee System Human Resources Policy o580 (Code of Conduct)
- University of Tennessee System Human Resources Policy 0640 (Grievances)

D. TENNESSEE UNIFORM ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT

Chapter 1720-1-5 of the Rules of the University of Tennessee (http://www.tn.gov/sos/rules/1720/1720-01/1720-01-05.pdf) sets forth the University's procedures for conducting a contested case hearing pursuant to the Tennessee Uniform Administrative Procedures Act, Tennessee Code Annotated, § 4-5-301 *et seq*. In a case involving alleged Sexual Misconduct, Relationship Violence, Stalking, or Retaliation, the administrative judge or hearing officer shall modify those procedures when required to comply with federal law, including without limitation, Title IX and the Clery Act.

E. CONSENSUAL RELATIONSHIPS

Consensual romantic or sexual relationships between members of the University community also are subject to other University policies. For example, the University's policy on amorous or sexual relationships between faculty found Section the and students can be in 2.2.6 of **UTK Faculty** (http://provost.utk.edu/faculty/manuals/faculty-handbook/). Even if an amorous or sexual relationship between members of the University community begins as consensual, it can evolve into situations that lead to allegations of Prohibited Conduct. In addition, depending on the circumstances, a consensual sexual relationship may also violate other University policies, including, without limitation, University of Tennessee System Human Resources Policies **0220** ("Equal Employment Opportunity Affirmative Action and Diversity"), **0280** ("Sexual Harassment"), and **0580** ("Code of Conduct").

F. DUE PROCESS

This policy is designed to comply with Title IX while also ensuring that due process (if constitutionally required) is provided to Respondents who are accused of violating this policy.

G. ACADEMIC FREEDOM AND FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHTS

This policy is not intended to, and will not be used to, infringe on academic freedom or to censor or punish students, faculty, or staff who exercise their First Amendment rights, even though such expression may be offensive or unpleasant.

VIII. PREVENTION AND AWARENESS PROGRAMS

The University implements comprehensive, intentional, and integrated programming, initiatives, strategies, and campaigns intended to prevent Prohibited Conduct by and against members of the University community. The University intends that its Prevention Programs: (1) be culturally relevant, inclusive of diverse communities and identities, sustainable, responsive to community needs, and informed by research or assessed for value, effectiveness, or outcome; and (2) consider environmental risk and protective factors as they occur on the individual, relationship, University, community, and societal levels. Prevention Programs include both Primary Prevention Programs, Primary Awareness Programs, and Ongoing Prevention and Awareness Campaigns.

A. PRIMARY PREVENTION PROGRAMS

The University implements programming, initiatives, and strategies informed by research or assessed for value, effectiveness, or outcome that are intended to stop Prohibited Conduct before they occur through the promotion of positive and healthy behaviors that foster healthy, mutually respectful relationships and sexuality, encourage safe Bystander Intervention, and seek to change behavior and social norms in healthy and safe directions.

The University implements programs for incoming students and new employees that inform them about:

- this policy, including: the University's prohibition against Prohibited Conduct; the definitions of Tennessee Sex Offense Crimes and Tennessee Relationship Violence Crimes; the definition of consent with respect to crimes relating to sexual activity in the State of Tennessee; and the information that is included in this policy in accordance with 34 C.F.R. § 668.46(b)(11) and 34 C.F.R. § 668.46(k)(2);
- Bystander Intervention; and
- Risk Reduction.

Questions about the University's current Primary Prevention Programs should be directed to the Title IX Coordinator or the Deputy Title IX Coordinator for Students.

B. PRIMARY AWARENESS PROGRAMS

The University implements comprehensive, intentional, and integrated community-wide or audience-specific programming, initiatives, and strategies that increase audience knowledge and share information and resources to prevent Prohibited Conduct, promote safety, and reduce the perpetration of Prohibited Conduct.

Questions about the University's Primary Awareness Programs should be directed to the Title IX Coordinator or the Deputy Title IX Coordinator for Students.

C. ONGOING PREVENTION AND AWARENESS CAMPAIGNS

The University implements programming, initiatives, and strategies for students and employees that are sustained over time and focus on increasing understanding of topics relevant to and skills for addressing Prohibited Conduct using a range of strategies with audiences throughout the University and including information about:

- this policy, including: the University's prohibition against Prohibited Conduct; the definitions of Tennessee Sex Offense Crimes and Tennessee Relationship Violence Crimes; the definition of consent with respect to crimes relating to sexual activity in the State of Tennessee; and the information that is included in this policy in accordance with 34 C.F.R. § 668.46(b)(11) and 34 C.F.R. § 668.46(k)(2);
- Bystander Intervention; and
- Risk Reduction.

Questions about the University's ongoing prevention and awareness campaigns should be directed to the Title IX Coordinator or the Deputy Title IX Coordinator for Students.

APPENDIX A: ADDITIONAL POLICY DEFINITIONS

In addition to the terms defined in **Section II**, the following definitions apply for the purposes of this policy:

- **A.** Bystander Intervention: Safe and positive options that may be carried out by an individual(s) to prevent harm or intervene when there is a risk of Prohibited Conduct. Bystander Intervention includes: recognizing situations of potential harm; understanding institutional structures and cultural conditions that facilitate violence; overcoming barriers to intervening; identifying safe and effective intervention options; and taking action to intervene. More information about Bystander Intervention can be found at: http://wellness.utk.edu.
- **B.** <u>Campus Security Authorities:</u> Individuals from whom the University collects certain crime statistics for purposes of the Clery Act, as defined in 34 C.F.R. § 668.46. A list of the job titles of the University's Campus Security Authorities can be found at: http://utpolice.utk.edu/clery-act/.
- C. <u>CLERY ACT:</u> The Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security and Campus Crime Statistics Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1092(f), as amended by the Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act of 2013. More information about the Clery Act, including the University's Annual Security Report, can be found at: http://utpolice.utk.edu/clery-act/.
- **D.** CLERY GEOGRAPHY: Clery Geography means property for which the University is required to report crime statistics pursuant to the Clery Act, as described in 34 C.F.R. § 668.46(c)(4).
- **E.** COMPLAINANT: A person who may have been subjected to Prohibited Conduct regardless of whether that person makes a report or seeks action under this policy. This term does not imply pre-judgment concerning whether the person was subjected to Prohibited Conduct.
- F. DEPUTY TITLE IX COORDINATOR(S): The person(s) identified as Deputy Title IX Coordinators in Section I.C.
- G. FERPA: The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974, 20 U.S.C. § 1232g.
- **H.** INTERIM MEASURES: Reasonable and appropriate measures, as determined by the University, which are designed to eliminate reported Prohibited Conduct and protect the persons involved in the matter (e.g., Complainant, Reporter, potential witnesses).
- I. Mandatory Reporter: A University employee identified in Section III.A (non-law enforcement), Section III.B.1 (UTPD), and/or Appendices B-C as an option for reporting Prohibited Conduct to the University. Notwithstanding anything in this policy to the contrary, Mandatory Reporters do not include persons who are prohibited in the situation from reporting an incident by a law or mandatory ethical standard imposed by their profession (e.g., a Qualified Mental Health Professional who learns of the information in the course of a privileged provider-patient relationship).
- J. OFFICE OF STUDENT CONDUCT: The University's Office of Student Conduct and Community Standards.
- **K.** PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE: The amount of evidence that causes one to conclude that an allegation is probably true (i.e., more likely true than not true). If the evidence on a particular allegation is equally balanced, then that allegation has not been proven by a preponderance of the evidence. (*The source of this definition is Tennessee Pattern Jury Instruction 2.40.*)
- L. PROHIBITED CONDUCT: Sexual Misconduct, Relationship Violence, Stalking, and/or Retaliation.
- M. QUALIFIED MENTAL HEALTH PROFESSIONAL: A person who is licensed in the state of Tennessee, if required for the profession, and who is: a psychiatrist; physician with expertise in psychiatry as determined by training, education, or experience; psychologist with health service provider designation; psychological examiner or senior psychological examiner; licensed master's social worker with two years of mental health experience or licensed clinical social worker; marital and family therapist; nurse with a

master's degree in nursing who functions as a psychiatric nurse; professional counselor; or if the person is providing service to children, any of the above educational credentials plus mental health experience with children. (*The source of this definition is Tennessee Code Annotated §* 33-1-101.)

- **N.** REGISTERED STUDENT ORGANIZATION: A student organization registered with the University in accordance with University rules.
- O. <u>RELATIONSHIP VIOLENCE CRIME(S):</u> A term that encompasses both Clery Act Relationship Violence Crimes and Tennessee Relationship Violence Crimes, which are defined below:
 - 1. <u>CLERY ACT RELATIONSHIP VIOLENCE CRIMES:</u> The Clery Act requires the University to report certain statistics for the following crimes of relationship violence that occur on Clery Geography in the University's Annual Security Report:
 - **a. DATING VIOLENCE:** This term is defined in **Section II.A**.
 - **b. DOMESTIC VIOLENCE:** This term is defined in **Section II.A.**
 - c. STALKING (CLERY ACT CRIME): This term is defined in Section II.A.
 - **TENNESSEE RELATIONSHIP VIOLENCE CRIMES:** The crimes below are crimes in the State of Tennessee that are the closest equivalents to Clery Act Relationship Violence Crimes:
 - **a.** ASSAULT: The crime of assault in Tennessee is defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-101.
 - **DOMESTIC ASSAULT:** The crime of Domestic Assault in Tennessee is defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-111.
 - **C. STALKING (TENNESSEE CRIME):** The crime of in Tennessee is defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-17-315.
 - d. VIOLATING AN ORDER OF PROTECTION RELATING TO DOMESTIC ABUSE OR STALKING: In Tennessee, a domestic abuse victim or stalking victim who has been subjected to, threatened with, or placed in fear of, domestic abuse or stalking may seek relief by filing a sworn petition alleging domestic abuse or stalking by the Respondent. Such a petition must be filed in the county where the Respondent resides or the county in which the domestic abuse, stalking, or sexual assault occurred. If the Respondent is not a resident of Tennessee, the petition may be filed in the county where the Complainant resides. Tennessee law provides criminal penalties for violations of certain orders of protection. More information on Tennessee's law on orders of protection can be found in Tennessee Code Annotated § 36-3-601 et seq.
- **P.** REPORTER: A person who communicates a concern to a Mandatory Reporter regarding the occurrence of Prohibited Conduct. A Reporter need not be a Complainant.
- Q. RESPONDENT: A person or registered student organization who has been accused of committing Prohibited Conduct. This term does not imply pre-judgment concerning whether the person or registered student organization committed Prohibited Conduct.
- R. <u>RISK REDUCTION:</u> Options designed to decrease perpetration and bystander inaction, and to increase empowerment for Complainants in order to promote safety and to help individuals and communities address conditions that facilitate violence. More information about Risk Reduction can be found at: http://utpolice.utk.edu.
- S. SEX DISCRIMINATION: Conduct directed at a specific person or a group of identifiable persons that subjects the person or group to treatment that adversely affects their employment, education, or ability to participate in or benefit equally in any University program or activity, on account of sex. Sex Discrimination may include acts of verbal, nonverbal, or physical aggression, intimidation, or hostility

based on sex or sex-stereotyping, even if those acts do not involve conduct of a sexual nature. A complaint of Prohibited Conduct will be treated as a complaint of Sex Discrimination in violation of Title IX if it was based on the sex of the Complainant.

- T. <u>SEX OFFENSE(S):</u> Any sexual act directed against another person, without the consent of the victim, including instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent.
- U. SEXUAL ASSAULT RESPONSE TEAM (S.A.R.T.): The group of University employees identified in Section I.D.
- V. <u>Sex Offense Crime(s):</u> A term that encompasses both Clery Act Sex Offenses and Tennessee Sex Offenses, which are defined below:
 - 1. <u>CLERY ACT SEX OFFENSES:</u> The Clery Act requires the University to report certain statistics for the following Sex Offenses that occur on Clery Geography in the University's Annual Security Report:
 - **a. FONDLING:** The touching of a private body part of another person for the purpose of sexual gratification, without the Consent of the victim, including instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent because of his/her age or because of his/her temporary or permanent mental incapacity.
 - **INCEST:** Sexual Intercourse between persons who are related to each other within the degrees wherein marriage is prohibited by Tennessee law.
 - **C.** RAPE (CLERY ACT): The penetration, no matter how slight, of the vagina or anus with any body part or object, or oral penetration by a sex organ of another person, without the Consent of the victim.
 - **d. SEXUAL ASSAULT (CLERY ACT):** An act that meets the definition of Rape (Clery Act), Fondling, Incest, or Statutory Rape (Clery Act).
 - **e. STATUTORY RAPE (CLERY ACT):** Sexual Intercourse with a person who is under the statutory age of Consent.
 - **TENNESSEE SEX OFFENSES:** The crimes below are crimes in the State of Tennessee that are the closest equivalents to Clery Act Sex Offenses:
 - **a.** AGGRAVATED RAPE: The crime of Aggravated Rape is defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-502.
 - **RAPE (TENNESSEE):** The crime of Rape (Tennessee) is defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-503.
 - **c.** AGGRAVATED SEXUAL BATTERY: The crime of Aggravated Sexual Battery is defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-504.
 - **d. SEXUAL BATTERY:** The crime of Sexual Battery is defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-505.
 - **e. STATUTORY RAPE (TENNESSEE):** The crime of Statutory Rape is defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-506.
 - **SEXUAL CONTACT WITH A MINOR BY AN AUTHORITY FIGURE:** The crime of Sexual Contact with a Minor by an Authority Figure is defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-509.
 - **RAPE OF A CHILD:** The crime of Rape of a Child is defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-522.

- h. SEXUAL BATTERY BY AN AUTHORITY FIGURE: The crime of Sexual Battery by an Authority Figure is defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-527.
- i. AGGRAVATED RAPE OF A CHILD: The crime of Aggravated Rape of a Child is defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-531.
- **STATUTORY RAPE BY AN AUTHORITY FIGURE:** The crime of Statutory Rape by an Authority Figure is defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-532.
- k. VIOLATING AN ORDER OF PROTECTION RELATING TO SEXUAL ASSAULT: In Tennessee, a person who has been subjected to, threatened with, or placed in fear of Aggravated Rape, Rape, Statutory Rape, Rape of a Child, Aggravated Sexual Battery, Sexual Battery, or Sexual Battery by an Authority Figure may seek relief by filing a sworn petition alleging domestic abuse or stalking by the Respondent. Such a petition must be filed in the county where the respondent resides or the county in which the domestic abuse, stalking, or sexual assault occurred. If the Respondent is not a resident of Tennessee, the petition may be filed in the county where the Complainant resides. Tennessee law provides criminal penalties for violations of certain orders of protection. More information on Tennessee's law on orders of protection can be found in Tennessee Code Annotated § 36-3-601 et seq.
- W. TITLE IX: Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.
- X. <u>TITLE IX COORDINATOR:</u> The person identified as the Title IX Coordinator in **Section I.C** or a designee of the Title IX Coordinator employed in the Office of Equity & Diversity.
- Y. <u>TUAPA HEARING:</u> A hearing conducted by a University administrative judge or hearing officer in accordance with the University's procedures for conducting a contested case hearing pursuant to the Tennessee Uniform Administrative Procedures Act, Tennessee Code Annotated, § 4-5-301 *et seq*.
- Z. <u>University</u>: The University of Tennessee, Knoxville and/or the University of Tennessee Institute of Agriculture.
- **AA.** <u>UTPD:</u> The campus police department at the University of Tennessee, Knoxville.

APPENDIX B: MANDATORY REPORTERS WHEN THE COMPLAINANT IS A UNIVERSITY STUDENT¹⁰

EMPLOYEE	IS THE EMPLOYEE A MANDATORY REPORTER WHEN THE COMPLAINANT IS A UNIVERSITY STUDENT?	
Title IX Coordinator/Office of Equity & Diversity	Yes	
Deputy Title IX Coordinators	Yes	
Faculty members	Yes	
Exempt, non-student staff members	Yes (except for Confidential Employees identified in Article IV.A.1, who are not Mandatory Reporters if they receive the information from a Complainant who is a patient or a client)	
Academic advisors, but not including student tutors	Yes	
Faculty and staff advisors to registered student organizations	Yes	
Resident Assistants and Graduate Assistants (e.g., Graduate Teaching Assistants, Academic Advisors, Graduate Assistants in Athletics)	Yes, if the report is received in the assistant's University employment capacity (except for a graduate assistant who receives the information while working for a Confidential Employee identified in Article IV.A.1)	
A University employee whom the University has designated as a "Campus Security Authority" for purposes of Clery Act compliance (http://utpolice.utk.edu/clery-act/)	Yes, if the report concerns a Clery Act crime that occurred on Clery Act Geography (the report shall be sent to UTPD)	
Employees who are not identified in this Appendix B	No	

-

¹⁰ If an employee has multiple roles, the employee is a Mandatory Reporter if the answer is "Yes" on this chart with respect to any of the employee's roles in a particular situation. Also, as described in Article III.B.1, employees of UTPD are Mandatory Reporters for reports received in a law enforcement capacity.

APPENDIX C: MANDATORY REPORTERS WHEN THE COMPLAINANT IS A UNIVERSITY EMPLOYEE¹¹

EMPLOYEE	IS THE EMPLOYEE A MANDATORY REPORTER WHEN THE COMPLAINANT IS A UNIVERSITY EMPLOYEE?
Title IX Coordinator/Office of Equity & Diversity and Deputy Title IX Coordinators	Yes
The Executive Director or the Director of Human Resources Employee Relations	Yes
Employees who are supervisors	Yes, if the report is made to: (1) the immediate supervisor of either the Complainant or the Respondent; or (2) other employee who has the authority to redress the prohibited conduct. However, Confidential Employees identified in Article IV.A.1 are not Mandatory Reporters if they receive the information from a person who is a patient or a client.
A University employee whom the University has designated as a "Campus Security Authority" for purposes of Clery Act compliance (http://utpolice.utk.edu/clery-act/)	Yes, if the report concerns a Clery Act crime that occurred on Clery Act Geography (the report shall be sent to UTPD)
Employees who are not identified in this Appendix C	No

-

¹¹ If an employee has multiple roles, the employee is a Mandatory Reporter if the answer is "Yes" on this chart with respect to any of the employee's roles in a particular situation. Also, as described in Article III.B.1, employees of UTPD are Mandatory Reporters for reports received in a law enforcement capacity.

APPENDIX D: CONFIDENTIALITY EXCEPTIONS UNDER TENNESSEE LAW

- A. Child abuse or child sexual abuse (Tennessee Code Annotated §§ 37-1-401 et seq.; 37-1-601 et seq.; 37-1-614). Tennessee law mandates reporting by any person, including a psychiatrist, psychologist, physician, or social worker, who has knowledge of physical or mental harm to a child if: (1) the nature of the harm reasonably indicates it was caused by brutality, abuse, or neglect; or (2) on the basis of available information, the harm reasonably appears to have been caused by brutality, abuse, or neglect. Tennessee law also mandates reporting by any person who knows or has reasonable cause to suspect that a child has been sexually abused, regardless of whether the child has sustained any apparent injury as a result of the abuse. State law requires a report of child abuse or child sexual abuse to be made immediately to one of the following authorities outside the University: (1) 911, in the case of an emergency; (2) the Tennessee Department of Children's Services; (3) the sheriff of the county where the child resides; (4) the chief law enforcement official of the city where the child resides; or (5) a judge having juvenile jurisdiction over the child. The Tennessee mandatory reporting laws apply to all University employees, contractors, and volunteers, even if the child abuse or child sexual abuse does not occur in connection with a University educational program or activity. For purposes of the Tennessee mandatory reporting law, University students who are under the age of eighteen (18) are not excluded from the definition of a child.
- Persons called upon to tender aid to certain victims (Tennessee Code Annotated § 38-1-В. Tennessee law requires all physicians, surgeons, nurses, pharmacists, or other persons to immediately report an incident in which they were called upon to tender aid to a victim suffering from any wound or other injury inflicted by means of a knife, pistol, gun, or other deadly weapon, or by other means of violence, or suffering from the effects of poison, or suffocation, or where a wound or injury is reasonably believed to have resulted from exposure to a methamphetamine laboratory or a methamphetamine related fire, explosion, or chemical release, or appears to be suffering from or to have been the victim of female genital mutilation in violation of Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-110. The report is required to be made to certain law enforcement officials. Generally, such report must state the name, residence, and employer of the victim, if known, the victim's whereabouts at the time the report is made, the place the injury occurred, and the character and extent of the victim's injuries. However, the reporting obligations do not apply if: (1) the victim is at least 18 years of age; (2) the victim objects to the release of any identifying information to law enforcement officials; (3) the victim is a victim of a sexual assault offense or domestic abuse as defined in Tennessee Code Annotated § 36-3-601; and (4) the victim's injuries are not considered by the treating healthcare professional to be life threatening, or the victim is not being treated for injuries inflicted by strangulation, a knife, pistol, gun, or other deadly weapon.
- **C.** <u>Subpoenas or court orders physicians.</u> A physician can be required to testify concerning confidential information by a subpoena or court order.
- D. <u>Court orders Qualified Mental Health Professionals (Tennessee Code Ann. § 33-3-114).</u> A court can order a Qualified Mental Health Professional to disclose confidential information if, after a hearing, the court determines that disclosure is necessary for the conduct of proceedings before it.
- E. Duty to warn third parties (Tennessee Code Annotated §§ 33-3-206; 33-3-210). A Qualified Mental Health Professional (e.g., a licensed psychiatrist or psychologist) is required by state law to take reasonable care to predict, warn of, or take precautions to protect an identified victim from a patient/client's violent behavior if: (1) a patient/client has communicated to a Qualified Mental Health Professional an actual threat of bodily harm against a clearly identified victim; and (2) the Qualified Mental Health Professional, using the reasonable skill, knowledge, and care ordinarily possessed and exercised by the professional's specialty under similar circumstances, has determined that the patient/client has the apparent ability to commit such an act and is likely to carry out the threat unless prevented from doing so. If the threat communicated by a patient/client to a Qualified Mental Health Professional is an actual threat of serious bodily harm or death against a reasonably identifiable victim or victims, then the Qualified Mental Health Professional is required to report the patient/client to local law enforcement.

F. Sexually transmitted diseases (Tennessee Code Annotated §§ 68-10-102; 68-10-115).

- A person who has a reasonable belief that a person has knowingly exposed another to HIV may inform the potential victim without incurring any liability. Please note that Tennessee law is not clear whether this obligation applies to a physician or a Qualified Mental Health Professional.
- If any attending physician or other person knows or has good reason to suspect that a person having a STD is behaving so as to expose other persons to infection, or is about to so behave, the attending physician or other person shall notify the municipal or county health officer of the name and address of the diseased person and the essential facts in the case. Please note that Tennessee law is not clear whether this obligation applies to a Qualified Mental Health Professional.
- G. Tennessee Adult Protection Act (protection of the elderly and other vulnerable persons) (Tennessee Code Annotated § 71-6-101 et seq.). Generally, Tennessee law requires any person who has reasonable cause to suspect that a person age 60 or older, or a person with certain physical and mental disabilities, has been subject abuse, neglect, or exploitation to report the situation to the Tennessee Department of Human Services, which will notify the appropriate law enforcement agency.

APPENDIX E: COMPLAINT PROCEDURES

NATURE OF THE REPORT	STATUS OF THE RESPONDENT	University Complaint Procedure
Sexual Assault or a Sex Offense Crime	Student	Section V.B and Section V.D of this policy
Dating Violence, Domestic Violence, Stalking, or a Relationship Violence Crime	Student	Section V.B and Section V.D of this policy
Sex Discrimination (e.g., Sexual Harassment, Sexual Exploitation) that does not involve Sexual Assault, a Sex Offense Crime, a Relationship Violence Crime, Dating Violence, Domestic Violence, or Stalking	Student	Section V.B and Section V.D of this policy
Retaliation	Student	Section V.B and Section V.D of this policy
Sexual Assault or a Sex Offense Crime	Employee or Other Non- Student	Section V.B and Section V.C of this policy
Dating Violence, Domestic Violence, Stalking, or a Relationship Violence Crime	Employee or Other Non- Student	Section V.B and Section V.C of this policy
Sex Discrimination (e.g., Sexual Harassment, Sexual Exploitation) that does not involve Sexual Assault, a Sex Offense Crime, a Relationship Violence Crime, Dating Violence, Domestic Violence, or Stalking	Employee or Other Non- Student	Discrimination Complaint Procedure (http://oed.utk.edu/complaints/)
Retaliation	Employee or Other Non- Student	Discrimination Complaint Procedure (http://oed.utk.edu/complaints/)

APPENDIX F: CONSENT UNDER TENNESSEE CRIMINAL LAW

In Tennessee, with respect to most criminal offenses relating to sexual activity, sexual activity is criminal if: (1) the activity was accomplished without the consent of the victim and the defendant knows or has reason to know at the time of the activity that the victim did not consent; (2) force or coercion is used to accomplish the activity; (3) the defendant knows or has reason to know that the victim is mentally defective, mentally incapacitated, or physically helpless; or (4) the sexual activity is accomplished by fraud.

"Consent" is not explicitly defined in Tennessee statutory law, for purposes of criminal offenses relating to sexual activity.

"Coercion" means a threat of kidnapping, extortion, force, or violence to be performed immediately or in the future. (Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-501(1))

"Mentally defective" means that a person suffers from a mental disease or defect which renders that person temporarily or permanently incapable of appraising the nature of the person's conduct. (Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-501(3))

"Mentally incapacitated" means that a person is rendered temporarily incapable of appraising or controlling the person's conduct due to the influence of a narcotic, anesthetic or other substance administered to that person without the person's consent, or due to any other act committed upon that person without the person's consent. (Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-501(4))

"Physically helpless" means that a person is unconscious, asleep or for any other reason physically or verbally unable to communicate unwillingness to do an act. (Tennessee Code Annotated § 39-13-501(5))

With respect to criminal offenses relating to sexual activity with a person under the age of eighteen (18) years of age, consent is irrelevant because Tennessee law deems a minor as incapable of consenting to sexual activity. However, Tennessee law provides a close-in-age exception to that general rule that allows minors who are at least the age of thirteen (13) and less than the age of eighteen (18) to give Consent to sexual acts with another person who is less than four (4) years older than the minor.